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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

B 75 48 22

2025 2024 2023
“ETHE “ETe 2T =HF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#ET FHET FET
OPERATING RESULTS RERE
For the year ended 31 March BE=-RA=1+T—HLFE
Revenue Wz 1,388,007 1,400,293 1,443,482
Gross profit el 192,725 203,267 202,878
Gross profit margin ERE 13.9% 14.5% 14.1%
Operating profit Syl 36,932 44,956 84,291
Profit attributable to owners of the EN/NETEZ P DNl
Company 34,397 32,059 59,810
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) SRERZF GE) 12.08 11.26 21.00
Interim dividend, paid, per ordinary SREERENTHRE
share (HK cents) (B 4.0 4.0 5.0
Final dividend, proposed, per ordinary EREERBERAPRE
share (HK cents) (W) 4.0 4.0 4.0
Special dividend, proposed, per ordinary &R EEREIKITHIIE S
share (HK cents) (W) - = 3.0
EBITDA EBITDA 78,692 87,632 119,864
EBITDA Margin EBITDAR B = 5.7% 6.3% 8.3%
FINANCIAL POSITION BA IR
As at 31 March R=B=+—H
Cash and cash equivalents HERREEEY 280,317 161,874 138,225
Total bank borrowings IRITIERAEER 2,225 40,795 137,261
Total equity 48R 788,005 783,036 804,400
Net current assets REBEFE 473,814 465,245 462,233
Net cash REF5E
Cash and cash equivalents less total RERBEEZEEMRE
bank borrowing IRITETRARLE 278,092 121,079 964
Capital expenditure NGRS 15,266 13,927 20,884
Net assets value per share SREERE 2.77 2.75 2.83
FINANCIAL RATIOS Mt
Current ratio TnEn = 2.62 2.61 2.13
Gearing ratio BEEAEBLXE 0.3% 5.2% 17.1%
Net gearing ratio FEEABLEE net cash net cash net cash
REFEE REPEE RE P
Interest coverage ratio MNEBEXR 44.23 13.73 18.76
Inventory turnover days FERBEY 76 107 129
Debtors turnover days FEUER T A B B & 65 68 65
Return on average equity TR A O] 3R X 4.4% 4.1% 7.5%
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REVENUE BY PRODUCT TYPE

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MEBHEE

Wiy 2ok #3272 o 48 51 93 A

For the year ended 31 March
BE=HA=+—HLEE

2025 2024 2023

—E"REF —ETmE =
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHTT FETT FET
Electronic products EFER 1,195,637 1,160,198 1,243,928
Pet related products BRYIERE S 192,370 240,095 199,554
Total 4ast 1,388,007 1,400,293 1,443,482

REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENT

Yoo 25 Fa 3t 3B & 45 43 $R 3 4

For the year ended 31 March
BE=H=+—HLEE

2025 2024 2023

—E_RE —E_NE Bz =
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FET
The United States of America (the “USA") EFBAETE (TZE)) 547,504 617,211 654,433
The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC*") FRZE A R HFIE (THhED* ) 525,804 497,281 411,843
Japan =F:N 104,605 111,523 177,171
Singapore Hns 75,020 19,730 70
France 5 52,884 51,387 48,817
Australia BN 38,882 39,463 53,363
United Kingdom HE 19,500 19,604 58,349
Germany =E - 5,883 7,458
Others Hih 23,808 38,211 32,408
Total 45t 1,388,007 1,400,293 1,443,482

Revenue by Product Type
Wi iR EmBER DR

13.9%

Electronic Pet related

products products
BFfEmM BEYIAERIE
* The PRC, including Hong Kong and Taiwan

* FE BESERAE

Revenue by Geographical Segment

Wi 12t 12 & 5 3 S 2 AR

1.7%
Others Eth 37.9%
PRC* HRE*
United Kingdom
L
. =E 7.5%
rance ;&
2.8% Japan B s
Australia &
5.4%

USA 2 Singapore FH N
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SELF OWNED PROPERTIES
BEMFE

Location 3th 2% Area (sq.ft.) HFE(FE 5 R)

Hong Kong &# 13,000
Dong Guan 3 775,000
Vietnam #& g 397,000

EEERamARLy
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, | hereby present the annual
results of SUGA International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (“SUGA" or the “Group”) for the financial year ended
31 March 2025.

During the year, the global landscape remained turbulent, putting
sustained pressure on the business environment. The combination of
persistent high inflation, rising geopolitical risks following the U.S.
election, an escalating the Sino-US tariff war, intensifying global trade
frictions, and the slower-than-expected pace of interest rate cuts in
the U.S. Federal Reserve significantly increased operational pressure
on companies. Against this backdrop, companies generally adopted a
cautious strategy, postponing large-scale orders while monitoring the
evolving situation in order to flexibly adjust their strategies.

In the face of a complex and ever-changing external environment, the
Group dynamically allocated resources and took proactive measures
such as accelerating destocking and enforcing strict cost controls
to improve operational efficiency. Concurrently, it seized market
opportunities, continued to optimize the structure of its diversified
product portfolio, and explored innovative business models to
maintain overall stable operating performance. Turnover for the year
was HK$1,388.0 million (FY2023/24: HK$1,400.3 million), remaining
largely unchanged from the previous year.

During the year, the Group continued to optimize its operations and
consistently reduced its inventory levels, with stock decreasing by
18.9%, thereby further strengthening its ability to handle greater
orders. The Group actively controlled costs and successfully achieved
a more robust cash flow. As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s net cash
was HK$278.1 million, representing a significant increase of 129.6%
from the end of March 2024. This solid financial foundation provides
the Group with further flexibility to explore future development
opportunities. The Group is actively monitoring new market
opportunities, with the intent to prudently take advantage of growth
possibilities when the global situation becomes more transparent.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFREERS

AANERREZTS RECEEREERERA
8 (TRA7) RMEBAR (GRBIMEEIRTAE
B)EHEE_ZS_AFE=ZB=+t—HLEBE
ENEFEEERS -

FR E2HRBIETR  ERREFEXK
B-SBRkARER ZERERMEE LA
RETT P EEREA R IRKE ZERM
Bl MzEBEBARERES XTI RTHRA
H ZERZEMSEXLEERNEB-FIE
AR EETZBRINEBERE  BEANHER
TENRZERZEC EmBDHEERS -

EHEMZENIIPRE - ZERBEETARE
FoREmEN BRANEEAEEREEMEE
EMIRFAEENE , AREEHMSEE T8
BLEZRERGEE TRREAMEBER #
HREEBERBTIRE -GN AEEEXEEE
1,388,000,000 Tt (ZE —_ =/ “ NP KE
£ :1,400,300,000/87) » BAERBAEF
Fo

FRN-AEBREEBLEE THABER
K IFERI18.9% » 1548 2 [E 55 % & &
EZTBENEH AR AEBRBRBES K
Ao BERBEMENREMRBAKFE R
“E_AFEZA=+—B FEEFHRESH
278,100,000t BN _EMWF=AK K
BIZNN129.6% - FBENMBERAXEEK
REMEREKEEAEEE  AEEEREBRN
M LHEFKE DRERKESERHAZ
BRREREF BEERLK.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFRERS

Following the inauguration of the new U.S. administration this
January, global trade tensions, particularly between China and
the U.S., escalated rapidly. At the beginning of this year, Trump
administration announced a reciprocal tariff policy on a global scale,
sending shockwaves through the market. Despite the temporary
trade agreement reached between China and the U.S. in early May
to postpone tariff hikes, the future of the global market is still full
of uncertainties. In this context, the significance of the “China Plus
One” strategy, which the Group rolled out during the first term of the
Trump administration, has been further underscored. At that time, the
Group’s management took proactive measures by setting up a plant in
Vietnam in 2019 and further expanding its production capacity there
in 2020. Today, the plant's production efficiency is comparable to
that of the production facilities in Mainland China, serving as a solid
foundation for the Group's order growth.

Going forward, SUGA maintains a cautiously optimistic view of
its business prospects. It will continue to adhere to its business
diversification strategy and adopt a steady approach to navigate
changes. The Group believes that the evolving global tariff situation
will affect customers’ ordering patterns to some extent, and
customers may take advantage of the tariff suspension to place large
orders. In view of this, the Group will proactively capitalize on the
advantages of its “China Plus One” production layout and supply
chain, and take the opportunity to improve the production efficiency
of its Vietnam plant more aggressively, with the aim of meeting new
customer needs with ease.

Meanwhile, the Group will continue to strengthen its research
and development capabilities and explore new opportunities while
maintaining the steady development of its overall business. Orders
for asset trackers and other Internet of Things (“loT") products will
continue to contribute significant revenue to the Group. The Group
is also actively communicating with other relevant customers to
explore more loT application scenarios, aiming to cooperate in new
ways, such as providing solutions and software licensing to achieve
a more flexible, mutually beneficial outcome in the face of trade
challenges such as tariffs. In addition, SUGA will continue to explore
the vast business opportunities brought about by 5G technology and
investigate diversified loT application areas such as smart homes,
smart cities, and mobile asset management, seizing the development
opportunities arising from industrial upgrading.

10 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25
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In the pet business segment, SUGA will consolidate its existing market
footprint in various regions, while continuously optimising the Group’s
resource allocation, strengthening the operational efficiency of the
team, keeping up with dynamic market changes, and fully expanding
in emerging channels such as e-commerce sales so as to embrace
market opportunities and address challenges with agility.

With strong liquidity and financial strength, the Group is well
positioned to efficiently mobilize resources, capture high-quality
investment opportunities, and continue to deliver stable returns and
sustainable growth for shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Group, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to our business partners and shareholders for their support, and to
all employees for their continued dedication and hard work. We will
continue to work closely with all stakeholders to promote the Group’s
sustainable development and generate more favorable returns for our
shareholders.

NG Chi Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong
26 June 2025
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, | hereby present the annual
results report of SUGA International Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) together with its subsidiaries ("SUGA" or the “Group”)
for the financial year ended 31 March 2025.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

During the year under review, global economy confronted a
myriad of challenges as it navigated persistent pressures within
an evolving macro-environmental landscape. Geopolitical tension
drove up transportation costs, policy uncertainties under the Trump
administration increased, and the Sino-US strategic rivalry deepened
further. At the beginning of 2025, the U.S. announced increase in
import tariffs on commodities from different places, shaking up the
trade partnership mechanism and global supply chain, and businesses
generally adopted the wait-and-see approach in investment and
production, to resolve current difficulties requires international
coordination over the long-term structural challenges. In an economy
with pressures and opportunities, the Group maintained stable
operations and actively responded to the challenges from market
fluctuation. Through sustained cost-control efforts, streamlined
management practices, improved production efficiency — supported
by its diversified product mix strategy and strong R&D capability, the
Group operating results achieved steady performance during the year.

Revenue for the year was HK$1,388.0 million (FY2023/24: HK$1,400.3
million), which was approximately 0.9% less against last year, basically
flat. The Group’s annual gross profit was HK$192.7 million and gross
profit margin narrowed slightly to 13.9% (FY2023/24: HK$203.3
million and 14.5%). Profit attributable to shareholders increased
by 7.3% to HK$34.4 million (FY2023/24: HK$32.1 million), mainly
attributable to the substantial decline in interest expenses and
increase in interest income. Net profit margin was 2.5% (FY2023/24:
2.3%). Basic earnings per share were HK12.08 cents (FY2023/24:
HK11.26 cents).

12 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25
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DIVIDEND

The Board has proposed the payment of a final dividend of HK4.0
cents per ordinary share (FY2023/24: Final dividend of HK4.0 cents
per ordinary share) to shareholders whose names appear on the
Register of Shareholders of the Company on 14 August 2025.
Together with the interim dividend of HK4.0 cents per ordinary share
already paid, the total dividend for the year would be HK8.0 cents per
ordinary share (FY2023/24: HK8.0 cents per ordinary share). Subject
to the approval of shareholders at the 2025 Annual General Meeting,
the proposed final dividend will be paid on or before 22 August
2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Electronic Products

As the core business of the Group, electronic products remained
the main revenue source during the year under review. Sales for
the year amounted to HK$1,195.6 million (FY2023/24: HK$1,160.2
million), remaining largely consistent with the previous year's figures,
representing 86.1% of the Group's total revenue.

SUGA has actively expanded Internet of Things (“loT"”) business over
recent years, driven by continuous development of relevant products
and growing market demand. This success is also attributed to
the Group’s enhanced one-stop solutions to fully address business
partners’ requirements, leading to significant revenue contributions
from loT products. In particular, with demand for security tracking
of trucks and large retail facilities increasing in the U.S. market, the
Group made significant income from asset tracker orders. Electronic
paper displays, which became one of the Group’s key products in the
previous fiscal year, achieved stable sales performance and maintained
their revenue contribution. To address expanding loT application
scenarios, the Group has been offering customers an increasingly
diversified product portfolio.

CEO MESSAGE
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During the year, other customers adopted a cautious and conservative
approach to order placements. Revenue from professional audio
equipment declined. Orders for hearing-impaired telephones
rebounded following inventory adjustments. Leveraging its diversified
product portfolio, the Group demonstrated resilience amid market
volatility. It maintained stable relationships with long-standing
customers and successfully acquired new clients. Notably, orders from
new customers in Mainland China increased significantly, accounting
for a growing share of total revenue.

Pet Business

Pet business achieved sales of HK$192.4 million for the year (FY
2023/24: HK$240.1 million), representing a decrease of 19.9% year-
on-year and accounting for 13.9% of the Group’s total sales.

The slight decline in sales of pet electronic products stemmed
primarily from customers revising purchasing strategies and
implementing stricter inventory controls, resulting in fewer orders.
Amid an economic downturn, consumer behavior shifted toward
prioritizing essential products, indicating that spending sentiment
remains subdued.

Sales in the pet food and accessories business remained stable. In
the Hong Kong market, the Group’s healthy pet products remained
attractive to consumers. Having entered the Japanese market for
seven years since 2018, the Group now runs a stable and mature
operation there. Its proprietary pet food brand “Brabanconne” boasts
satisfactory sales performance on e-commerce platforms. In Mainland
China, sales declined during the year mainly due to the consumption
downgrade trend. Overall, the pet business segment is powered by
two key drivers: strong overseas performance and a solid foundation
in the mainland market. This demonstrates the effectiveness of the
Group's “multi-regional development” strategy.

Adhering to its principle of building a pet health ecosystem, the
Group continues to focus on product R&D and has consistently
strived to enhance the quality of its pet food. It is actively integrating
resources, optimizing management, and improving efficiency,
while also strengthening related business systems to support the
development of its pet food business across different regions.

14 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25
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OUTLOOK

In the macroeconomic landscape of the second half of 2025,
evolving tariff barriers between economies and highly uncertain
trade policies have disrupted production and operations. Against
the backdrop of a volatile global economic landscape, the Group is
responding to the multiple challenges posed by these shifting trade
dynamics with strategic resilience. Adopting a prudent approach of
“watching developments closely and acting when appropriate”, the
management is carefully monitoring the situation and seeking new
growth opportunities. Its global business portfolio is expected to
mitigate regional risks, while the “China Plus One” production layout
provides a flexible mechanism to hedge against tariffs and reduce
reliance on single policies. Additionally, synergies from continuous
R&D advancements and refined cost controls will enhance operational
efficiency, positioning the Group to deliver sustainable shareholder
returns as market uncertainties subside.

The Group's core electronic product business is expected to continue
to grow steadily. Driven by macroeconomic uncertainties, key
customers have shifted toward centralized purchasing in larger
volumes, placing larger single orders to secure bulk discounts. This
shift has allowed the Group to strengthen economies of scale within
its supply chain and implement tighter inventory management. SUGA
will proactively engage with customers to resolve issues and secure
substantial orders, ensuring sustained revenue growth. Additionally,
offering materials with high cost-effectiveness presents new growth
opportunities for Mainland China orders. Coupled with Chinese
companies expanding globally and deepening their commitment to
the "going global and attracting foreign investment” strategy, the
Group is poised to leverage its “China Plus One” advantage and
seize relevant opportunities, capitalizing on its competitive edge in
production capacity, efficiency, and experience.
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With continuous technological iterations and the emergence of new
application scenarios, the IoT business holds significant potential to
drive economic and social development. The Group's loT business has
grown rapidly in recent years, as its business coverage expands. It will
continue to adapt to market trends and expand its diversified business
portfolio. In April 2025, to strengthen R&D capabilities and provide
one-stop services spanning design, R&D, production, and sales, SUGA
acquired the Irish 1oT company TxWireless. Boasting an R&D team of
professional engineers capable of delivering comprehensive design,
manufacturing, and back-end services, the acquisition enables the
Group to reduce costs, risks, and production lead times for new loT
products. The Group believes this move will enhance R&D capabilities
and facilitate its expansion into broader customer bases across
European and American markets. Beyond hardware production and
sales, SUGA anticipates opportunities to generate licensing fees
from proprietary intellectual property, creating a more flexible and
diversified revenue stream.

The Group expects its pet business to maintain growth momentum in
the second half of the year. Backed by a seasoned pet product R&D
and production team, it will continue to focus on market demand
trends to build a complete pet health ecosystem. The Group also
anticipates expansion in Japan, driven by the strengthening Japanese
yen. In other consumer markets, it will analyze preferences and
sentiment to ensure stable growth across regions.

With rigorous cost management, the Group has maintained a stable
financial structure. Currently, it holds robust liquidity reserves,
supported by strong cash flow, providing a foundation for strategic
capital allocation. Additionally, its well-established manufacturing
facilities in Mainland China and Vietnam position it to efficiently
manage new orders. Moving forward, SUGA will make precise, timely
decisions to drive breakthroughs during industrial upgrades, thereby
gaining even stronger momentum to unlock shareholder value.

Ng Man Cheuk
Executive Director, Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
26 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREwRD

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE A FERIR
For the year ended 31 March
BEZRA=1+—HL=EE
2025 2024 Change
k- - 2 =11 S e
HK$'000 HK$'000 %
F#ET FET %
Revenue & 1,388,007 1,400,293 (0.9)
Gross profit EH 192,725 203,267 (5.2)
Gross profit margin FEF=E 13.9% 14.5% (0.6)
Other income H A 8,414 6,239 34.9
Other (losses)/gains — net Hfh (B548) Wam— F 58 (3,942) 810 (586.7)
Distribution and selling expenses DIE R IHE & A (54,118) (57,599) (6.0)
General and administrative expenses —f8 R {THEIRE R (104,510) (106,712) (2.1)
Net impairment losses on a MBEERBEREETE

financial asset (1,637) (1,049) 56.1
Operating profit S =drapll 36,932 44,956 (17.8)
Finance income ME WA 6,291 2,894 117.4
Finance costs B A (1,779) (6,384) (72.1)
Finance income/(costs) — net BMEUWA (BA) —F%8 4,512 (3,490) 229.3
Profit before income tax FRETSRR AR R 41,444 41,466 (0.05)
Income tax expense Frigin s (7,140) (9,139) (21.9)
Profit for the year F R 34,304 32,327 6.1
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recorded revenue of
HK$1,388.0 million (FY2023/24: HK$1,400.3 million),
a decrease of 0.9% as compared with the previous financial year.

representing

During the year under review, customers adopted a cautious and
conservative approach in order placement. Orders for pet electronics
equipment and professional audio equipment decreased sharply.
Fortunately, in recent years, the Group has built up a more diversified
product portfolio and outstanding product development capabilities,
especially in the IoT business, which allow the Group to remain
tough during the year. During the year, revenue from the loT business
recorded a year-to-year increase. Together, with the recovery of
telephone for hearing-impaired, most of the decline in revenue was
absorbed.

Geographically, for the year ended 31 March 2025, revenue
generated from the top 3 countries of destination, the United States
of America, the PRC and Japan accounted for 84.9% of the Group’s
total sales (FY2023/24: 87.6%).

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2025 was
HK$192.7 million, representing a decrease of HK$10.6 million
or 5.2% compared to the HK$203.3 million recorded in the
corresponding period in the previous financial year. Gross profit
margin for the year was 13.9% (FY2023/24: 14.5%), a decrease of
0.6%.

The decrease in the gross profit margin was mainly contributed by
the increase in sales of IoT business with higher material costs and a
relatively lower profit margin.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Otherincome

The Group’s other income during the year ended 31 March 2025
was HK$8.4 million (FY2023/24: HK$6.2 million).
mainly represented various discretionary incentives from the local

Other income

PRC governments in relation to technology development and
other incentive programs, and imputed interest income from other
receivables.

Other (losses)/gains - net

The Group recorded other net losses of HK$3.9 million for the
year ended 31 March 2025 (FY2023/24: other net gains of HK$0.8
million). Other net losses mainly represented the fair value loss on
investment properties and net foreign currency exchange loss, net off
by the gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment.

Distribution and selling expenses

The Group's distribution and selling expenses decreased by HK$3.5
million or 6.0% to HK$54.1 million for the year ended 31 March
2025. Selling and distribution expenses decreased mainly due
to the decrease in staff costs, commission and carriage outward
during the year, off-set by the increase in advertising and promotion
expenses and consultation fee paid. Selling and distribution expenses
to revenue ratio was 3.9% for the year ended 31 March 2025
(FY2023/24: 4.1%).

General and administrative expenses

The Group’s general and administrative expenses decreased by
HK$2.2 million, or 2.1% to HK$104.5 million for the year ended
31 March 2025, as compared to HK$106.7 million of the previous
financial year. Depreciation and employee benefits expenses were
decreased during the year, whereas computer expense and property
and stamp duty expense increased.

Finance income/(costs) - net

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group has recorded net
finance income of HK$4.5 million (FY2023/24: net finance costs of
HK$3.5 million). This was mainly due to the increase in the average
bank balance during the year. Interest coverage, expressed as a
multiple of EBITDA to total interest was 44.2 times (FY2023/24: 13.7
times).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Profit for the year

Profit for the year was HK$34.3 million (FY2023/24: HK$32.3 million),
representing an increase of HK$2.0 million or 6.1% compared to the
previous financial year. Basic earnings per share for the year ended 31
March 2025 were HK12.08 cents as compared to HK11.26 cents in
the last year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The chief operation decision-maker has been identified as the
Executive Directors (collectively referred to as the "CODM") that
make strategic decisions. The CODM reviews the internal reporting
of the Group in order to assess performance and allocate resources
and makes relevant decisions based on the entity-wide financial
information.

There are two reportable segments of the Group:

Electronic products — Develop, manufacture and sales of electronic
products (other than pet-related electronic products)

Pet-related products — Manufacture and distribution of pet-related
products

Electronic products

Revenue from electronic products segment recorded approximately
HK$1,195.6 million (FY2023/24: HK$1,160.2 million), representing
86.1% of the Group’s total revenue and an increase of HK$35.4
million or 3.1% as compared to last financial year. During the year,
orders for professional audio equipment decreased sharply. However,
all this drop was absorbed by the significant increase in orders from
the loT business and recovery of sales of telephones for hearing-
impaired.

Major products of this segment are: i) professional audio equipment;
i) products with loT technology; iii) telephones for the hearing-
impaired; iv) telecommunication products; v) general household
consumer appliances, and vi) smart payment products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Pet related products

Revenue from pet related products segment recorded approximately
HK$192.4 million (FY2023/24: HK$240.1 million),
13.9% of the Group's total revenue and a decrease of HK$47.7

representing

million or 19.9% as compared to previous financial year. The decrease
was mainly due to the decrease in sales of pet training equipment
during the year. This decline in sales was mainly due to customer
revising their purchasing strategy, adopting a more cautious and
conservative approach on order placement and to implement a
tighter inventory control under the current unstable global economic
situation.

Regarding pet food business, which has recorded a stable
performance. In the Hong Kong market, the Group’s healthy pet
products remained attractive to consumers. Having entered the
Japanese market for seven years since 2018, the Group now runs
a stable and mature operation there. Its proprietary pet food brand
“Brabanconne” boasts satisfactory sales performance on e-commerce

platforms.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2025, the current assets and current liabilities of
the Group were approximately HK$766.5 million (31 March 2024:
HK$754.2 million) and approximately HK$292.7 million (31 March
2024: HK$289.0 million) respectively. The liquidity ratio, which is
calculated as current assets over current liabilities, was 2.62 times as
at 31 March 2025, as compared to that of 2.61 times as at 31 March
2024.

The Group generally finances its operations by internally generated
resources and banking facilities provided by its principal bankers in
Hong Kong. Banking facilities used by the Group include revolving
loans, overdrafts and term loans, which are primarily on floating
interest rates basis. As at 31 March 2025, the Group maintained cash
and bank balances at approximately HK$280.3 million (31 March
2024: HK$161.9 million) and total bank borrowings were HK$2.2
million (31 March 2024: HK$40.8 million). Net cash position (total
bank borrowings less cash and cash equivalents) was HK$278.1
million (31 March 2024: HK$121.1 million). Gearing ratio, expressed
as a percentage of total bank borrowings over total equity, was 0.3%
(31 March 2024: 5.2%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group’s total assets and total liabilities as at 31 March 2025
amounted to approximately HK$1,083.3 million (31 March 2024:
HK$1,079.1 million) and HK$295.3 million (31 March 2024:
HK$296.1 million) respectively. The debt ratio, which is calculated
based on total liabilities over total assets, was approximately 0.27
times as at 31 March 2025, as compared to that of approximately
0.27 times as at 31 March 2024.

The net asset value of the Group increase from HK$783.0 million as
at 31 March 2024 to HK$788.0 million as at 31 March 2025, the
increase is mainly attributable by the net effect of comprehensive
profit for the year and final dividends paid for the financial year
2023/24 as well as interim dividend paid for financial year 2024/25.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had aggregate banking facilities of
approximately HK$768.3 million (31 March 2024: HK$792.8 million)
from its principal bankers for overdrafts, loans and trade financing,
with unused facilities of HK$760.9 million (31 March 2024: HK$735.8
million).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

The Group's total capital expenditures for the period under review
were HK$15.3 million. The capital expenditures were mainly for
the additions of machineries and equipment for PRC and Vietnam
production plants.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily respect to Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars,
United States dollars and Vietnamese Dong. As Hong Kong dollars is
pegged against United States dollars, the Group mainly exposed to
foreign currency risk with respect to Renminbi and Vietnamese Dong.
The Group monitors foreign currency exchange exposure and will
use forward foreign exchange contracts as appropriate to hedge the
foreign exchange risk in the ordinary course of business.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group has not used any financial
instruments to hedge against foreign currency risk. It is the Group’s
policy not to enter into derivative transactions for speculative
purposes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group did not pledge any assets as securities for the banking
facilities granted to the Group as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a capital commitment of
HK$0.2 million for property, plant and equipment (31 March 2024:
HK$3.8 million).

Corporate guarantees given to banks to secure the borrowings
granted to subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 amounted to HK$2.2
million (31 March 2024: HK$40.8 million). As at 31 March 2025, the
Group did not provide any financial guarantees except for corporate
guarantees given to banks to secure the borrowings granted to
subsidiaries (31 March 2024: Same).

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2025 the Group has approximately 2,137 employees,
of which 48 were based in Hong Kong, while the rest were mainly in
Mainland and Vietnam. Remuneration policy was reviewed regularly,
making reference to current legislation, market condition and both
the individual and company performance. In addition to salaries and
other usual benefits like annual leave, medical insurance and various
mandatory pension schemes, the Group also provides educational
sponsorship subsidies, discretionary performance bonus and share
options.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

EFREREEAERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. NG Chi Ho, aged 75, was appointed as an Executive Director on
1 September 2002, he is the Founder, Chairman, and Chairman of
the Corporate Governance Committee of the Group. He relinquished
his role as the Managing Director (equivalent to CEO) on 1 July
2023. He is responsible for the formulation of corporate strategy,
strategic planning and development of the Group. Dr. NG has over
47 years of management experience in the electronics industry
and had been teaching electronic engineering at the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University for 4 years. Dr. NG holds a Bachelor's Degree
in science from the Chinese University of Hong Kong, a Master of
Philosophy Degree in Computer Engineering from the University of
Hong Kong, and an Honorary Doctor of Engineering Degree from
Lincoln University, USA. Dr. NG is a Chartered Engineer, a Fellow of
the Institution of Engineering and Technology, UK. He is also a Fellow
of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors, an University Fellow of the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University, the Honorary Life President of the
Development Foundation of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University,
and the Trustee of United College, Chinese University of Hong Kong.

In addition, Dr. NG is a Founding Partner of Hong Kong-Shenzhen
United Investment Fund and Hong Kong Inno Angel Fund, the
Honorary Chairman of Hong Kong Electronic Industries Association
and Honorary Chairman of Hong Kong Electronics Industries Council.
He is also a Member of the Election Committee of the Technology
and Innovation Subsector, an Academy Advisor of CityU Academy of
Innovation and a Member of the Steering Committee of Industrial and
Business Leaders Circle, City University of Hong Kong.

In terms of community services, Dr. NG is Chairman of Sir Cecil
Clementi Scholarship Foundation under Education Bureau, HKSAR
Government, and a Director of Hok Hoi Library.

Dr. NG is the recipient of the Outstanding Entrepreneurship Award
by Enterprise Asia in 2013, and the Hong Kong Electronic Industry
Outstanding Achievement Award by Hong Kong Electronics Industries
Council in 2018.

Dr. NG is the father of Dr. NG Man Cheuk, Alfred, the Executive
Director and CEO of the Group, and Mr. NG Man Chun, Anthony, the
CEO of WePet Group.
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Dr. NG Man Cheuk, Alfred, aged 44, was appointed as an Executive
Director on 1 May 2015, and was appointed as Chief Executive
Officer of the Group on 1 July 2023. He is responsible for managing
NG holds
Bachelor of Engineering (1st Hon.) Degree in Computing from

the Company’s overall businesses and operations. Dr.

Imperial College London, Master of Science and Doctor of Philosophy
Degrees in Electrical Engineering and Computer Science from
Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Prior to joining Suga Group,
Dr. NG had worked at IBM, Nokia and Qualcomm on various chip
design research projects.

Dr. NG is keen to promote innovations and technological advancements
in the Hong Kong electronics industry. He is the Chairman of
Hong Kong Electronics Industry Council (Group 5 of Federation of
Hong Kong Industries) and a Member of its Medical Engineering
& Innovation Council, a Member of Hong Kong Applied Science
and Technology Research Institute Company Limited’s Board of
Directors, an Expert Review Panel Member and Steering Committee
Member of Logistics and Supply Chain MultiTech R&D Centre, and a
Member of the Enterprise Support Scheme Assessment Panel under
the Innovation and Technology Fund. Dr. NG is also an Executive
Committee Member of Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council and
a Member of its Design and Technology Committee, and a Member
of Regional Comprehensive Economic Partnership Task Force on Trade
and Investment under the HKTDC Belt and Road & Greater Bay Area
Committee.

To support nurturing local talents, Dr. NG is an Adjunct Professor of
City University of Hong Kong and Adjunct Associate Professor of The
Chinese University of Hong Kong. Dr. NG also serves as a Member
of Departmental Advisory Committees at several universities such as
The Chinese University of Hong Kong (Electronic Engineering), The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology (Electronic and
Computer Engineering), and The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
(Applied Physics). He is also the Chairman of the Electronics and
Telecommunications Training Board of Vocational Training Council.

Dr. NG has won the
2020"
Kong's industrial sector and the society. Dr. NG also has received

“Young Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong
in recognition of his outstanding contribution to Hong

the “Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area Outstanding
Young Entrepreneur 2023" award from the Guangdong-Hong
KongMacao Greater Bay Area Entrepreneurs Union, in recognition
of his outstanding achievements and significant contributions to the

Greater Bay Area.
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He is the son of Dr. NG Chi Ho, the Executive Director and Chairman
of the Group, and the brother of Mr. NG Man Chun, Anthony, the
CEO of WePet Group.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. MA Fung On, aged 67, was appointed as an Executive Director
on 1 September 2002, and was redesignated from Executive Director
to Non-Executive Director on 1 July 2023. He was the Deputy
Chairman and a Member of the Corporate Governance Committee
of the Group. He is the legal representative of the Company's
subsidiaries in the Mainland China. He graduated from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University with a Higher Diploma in Electronic
Engineering and was conferred as a Fellowship of Social Enterprise
Research Academy. Mr. Ma is Vice Chairman of The Hong Kong
Enterprise Association of Dongguan Qingxi, and Vice Chairman of
Dongguan Photoelectric Communication Industry Association.

Mr. LEE Kam Hung, Arthur, aged 67, was appointed as a Non-
Executive Director of the Company on 1 September 2009. He holds
a Master degree of Science in Engineering Business Management
(Co-organized by The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and The
University of Warwick in the United Kingdom).

Mr. LEE is the Founder, CEO of Kolinker Group of companies since
its inception in 1983. Besides, he is a Member of the University
Court of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, and a Member of
Entrepreneurship Investment Fund Sub-Committee of The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University Council, a Vice Chairman of the Director of
Board of ITC Nano and Advanced Materials Institute Limited. Mr. LEE
also serves as a Member of Board of Directors of Hong Kong Applied
Science and Technology Research Institute Company Limited.

In addition, Mr. LEE is the Forty-Third General Committee Member
of The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong, a Fellow
Member of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, the Vice
President (2003 Awardee) of Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council
Foundation Limited and an Industrial Fellow of The University of
Warwick.
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He is also a Chairman of Departmental Advisory Committee of
Applied Physics Department of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University,
an Advisory Member of Departmental Advisory Committee of
Electrical and Electronic Engineering Department of The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University, a Member of The Governing Committee of
the PolyU Foundation and Life Member (The Outstanding PolyU
Alumni Award 2019) of Outstanding PolyU Alumni Association, and
a Member of International Advisory Committee of PolyU Photonics
Research Institute.

Furthermore, he is an Honorary Advisor and Founder Chairman of the
Kowloon City District Senior Police Call Honorary Presidents Council,
the tenth Honorary President of Fire Safety Ambassador Honorary
Presidents’ Association, Member of Advisory Committee of Kowloon
City Youth Development Network and the Fourth Honorary Chairman
of Kowloon City District Association for Celebration of Re-Unification
of Hong Kong with China Limited.

Mr. LEE is also an Honorary President of Kowloon City Senior Citizens
Welfare Association Ltd., and the Honorary Assistant Commissioner of
Executive Committee of Fire & Ambulance Services Teen Connect.

Prof. LUK Wing Ching, Wayne, aged 63, was appointed as a
Non-Executive Director of the Company on 1 September 2018. He
is professor of Computer Engineering at Imperial College London.
He was a visiting professor at Stanford University and the founding
editor-in-chief of the Association for Computing Machinery
Transactions on Reconfigurable Technology and Systems. Prof. LUK's
research covers custom computing, field programmable technology
and design automation. He has received awards from various
conferences such as those covering application specific systems and
field-programmable technology, and a Research Excellence Award
from Imperial College London. Prof. LUK is a Fellow of the Royal
Academy of Engineering, a Fellow of the Institute of Electrical and
Electronics Engineers and a Fellow of the British Computer Society.
He holds Master of Arts, Master of Science and Doctor of Philosophy
degrees from the University of Oxford.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LEUNG Yu Ming, Steven, aged 66, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 27 September
2004, he is the Chairman of Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. LEUNG
holds a Master Degree in Accounting from Charles Sturt University
in Australia and a Bachelor Degree in Social Science from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. LEUNG is a Practising Certified
Accountant of CPA Australia and a Fellow Member of The Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and The Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong respectively. Mr. LEUNG is also a Practising Certified Public
Accountant in Hong Kong. Mr. LEUNG previously worked in Nomura
International (Hong Kong) Limited as an Assistant Vice President in
the International Finance and Corporate Finance Department. He
commenced public practice in auditing and taxation since 1990. He
is now the senior Partner of a Certified Public Accountants firm. Mr.
LEUNG has over 40 years of experience in assurance, accounting,
taxation, financial management and corporate finance. Mr. LEUNG
is also an Independent Non-Executive Director of C C Land Holdings
Limited, The Cross Harbour (Holdings) Limited and Y.T. Realty Group
Limited, all of which are companies listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

Mr. CHAN Kit Wang, Edmond, aged 72, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director on 1 April 2009, he is a Member
of Audit committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. CHAN graduated from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in 1977 with a Higher Diploma in
Accountancy. Mr. CHAN is a Fellow Member of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, Associate Member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He is now a senior
Partner of a Certified Public Accountants firm. Mr. CHAN has over 48
years of working experience in accounting, auditing and taxation.
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Dr. LAW Sui Chun, aged 53, was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director on 1 October 2023, She is an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Group and a Member of Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the Group.
Dr. LAW is holding a PhD in Chemistry specializing in Nano &
Advanced Materials synthesis and an MPhil in Chemistry focusing on
Polymer and Materials Science for Micro-Electronics Fabrication from
the HKUST.

Dr. LAW is the Founder of air purification and environmental
assessment companies in Hong Kong. Besides, she is a Board
Director and Technology Expert at the Nano and Advanced Materials
Institute Ltd. She also serves as a Panel Member for Technology
Expertise at the Logistics and Supply Chain MultiTech R&D Centre,
and was a Committee Member on Innovation, Technology, and
Reindustrialization for the Innovation, Technology, and Industry

Bureau from 2021 to 2023.

Dr. LAW was the Executive Committee Member of The Hong Kong
Electronic and Technologies Associations from 2008 to 2023,
culminating in her appointment as Deputy Chairman from 2018
to 2023, and serves as an Honorary Advisor of the association for
the term 2024 to 2025. She also served as an Executive Member of
the Training and Education Panel at The Hong Kong Medical and
Healthcare Device Industries Association from 2018 to 2020 and
contributed to the Appeal Board Panel for Town Planning under the
government of HKSAR from 2012 to 2018. Her active engagement
in pivotal governmental initiatives and innovation schemes is
evident through her participation in vetting committees and panel
assessments, notably for SERAP from 2009 to 2015, Enterprise
Support Scheme from 2015 to 2021,
Innovation and Technology Fund’s Better Living Fund from 2018 to
2023.

and as an assessor for the

Her leadership formulated the 2003 IAQ certification scheme
embraced by the Environmental Protection Department of HKSAR
and she earned the esteemed Hong Kong Award for Industries —
Technological Award in 2006 and 2019.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHOW Sze Shek, Riley, aged 53, serves as the Chief Financial
Officer of the Group, overseeing all corporate and financial matters.
He joined the Group in 2001. With over 31 years of experience in
corporate finance, accounting, and auditing, he brings extensive
expertise to the role. Mr. CHOW holds a Bachelor of Commerce
Degree in Accounting from the University of Queensland, Australia,
and is a qualified accountant and Fellow Member of CPA Australia,
demonstrating his professional excellence and commitment to
financial management.

Mr. TENG Boon Han, Eric, aged 47, serves as the Chief Operation
Officer of EMS, overseeing the overall operations in both China and
Vietnam. He joined the Group in 2007. With a strong background
in global IT and Telecommunication companies, he brings extensive
international experience from the USA, Malaysia, Indonesia,
and Thailand to his role, Mr. TENG holds a Bachelor of Business
Administration degree in Finance and Economics from the University
of New Brunswick, Canada, providing a solid foundation for his
operational leadership.

Mr. NG Man Chun, Anthony, aged 42, serves as the Chief Executive
Officer of WePet Group, who has been the driving force behind this
group’s success. He joined the Group in 2010. Under his leadership,
the company has expanded its operations in both wholesale and
retail sectors across Hong Kong, China, and Japan. He has played a
pivotal role in developing the pet business and fostering the creation
of a comprehensive Pet-Eco System, allowing pets and their owners
to enjoy extended periods of joy and companionship. A devoted pet
owner himself, Mr. NG brings over 15 years of experience in the
pet industry, complemented by his academic credentials in robotics,
computer science, and business administration from esteemed
universities. His expertise has been instrumental in redefining the
pet ownership experience, making him a cornerstone of the Group's
success. With his passion for pets and business acumen, Mr. NG
continues to lead the Wepet Group towards new heights.

Mr. NG is the son of Dr. NG Chi Ho, the Executive Director and
Chairman of the Group and the brother of Dr. NG Man Cheuk, Alfred,
the Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Group.

Ms. ZENG Zhi, Jenny, aged 47, serves as the Company Secretary
of the Group, overseeing all legal compliance, corporate governance
and investors relations matters. She joined the Group in 2004. Ms.
ZENG has over 21 years of experience in commercial law, company
secretarial compliance and investors relations. Ms. ZENG is an
Associate Member of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United
Kingdom. She holds a Master Degree of Law from The University
of Hertfordshire in the United Kingdom and a Master Degree of
Corporate Governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELERS

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) and the management of Suga
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) are committed to
attain and uphold a high standard of corporate governance that
properly protect and promote the interests of its shareholders and
other stakeholders including customers, suppliers, employees and the
general public.

Throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the Company
had complied with all applicable code provisions as set out in the
Appendix C1 “Corporate Governance Code” to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “CG Code”).

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Company recognises the importance of corporate culture which
is essential to our operations and long term success. The Company's
culture is moulded by our values. The Board has established the
following values that are integrated throughout the Company’s
objective, mission, and policies, to guide employees’ conduct and
behaviors, as well as business operation and strategies:

(1) Sustainability Management
SUGA has established a sustainable development management
structure. The management regularly discusses various
sustainable development issues, makes appropriate
recommendations, and oversees related work.

(2) Understanding of Customers’ Requirements
Drawing on its core strengths in electronics manufacturing
services (EMS) and strong production bases in China and
Vietnam, SUGA maintains close relations with its business
partners, helping global electronics brands and manufacturers
to provide quality products to their customers.
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(3) Good Quality
SUGA remains steadfast in its commitment to quality and
environmentally friendly production. Over the years, the
Group has received many product awards and environmental
certifications. Looking ahead, the Group will continue to keep
abreast of the latest trends and provide high quality products to
meet the fast-changing market demand.

(4) Advanced Technology
As a leading provider of next-generation comprehensive
electronic solutions, SUGA actively develops and adopts

advanced technologies to achieve business innovation.

The Company will conduct regular review of and adjust (if
necessary) our strategies, and diligently monitor the evolving
market conditions to ensure prompt and proactive measures will
be taken in response to the changes and market needs, thereby
fostering the Group’s sustainability.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Group’s overall management is vested in the Board, which now
comprises eight members, coming from diverse gender, businesses
and professional backgrounds. The Board consists of two executive
Directors, Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman) and Dr. Ng Man Cheuk, three
non-executive Directors, Mr. Ma Fung On, Mr. Lee Kam Hung and
Prof. Luk Wing Ching and three independent non-executive Directors
('INED’"), Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven, Mr. Chan Kit Wang and Dr. Law
Sui Chun (collectively the ‘Directors’).

The roles and responsibilities of Dr. Ng Chi Ho and Dr. Ng Man
Cheuk respectively as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company (the “CEO") have been clearly divided and
defined. The clear division of the management of the Board and the
day-to-day management of business ensures a balanced power and
authority such that no concentration of power should vest in any one
individual.
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The principal functions of the Board are to supervise the Group's
business and affairs; to review the Group’s financial performance; to
review the Group's systems of risk management and internal control;
to approve the strategic plans, investment and funding decision. For
the financial reporting accountability, the Board has the ultimate
responsibility for preparing the financial statements. The day-to-day
management is conducted by senior management and employees
of the Group, under the direction and supervision of the Directors.
When the Directors are aware of any events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, such events or conditions will be clearly set out and
discussed in this Corporate Governance Report.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10 (1) and (2) of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs among
whom one has to have appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related finance management expertise. The role of
INED is to bring an independent and objective view to the Board's
deliberations and decisions. The Company has received from each
INED an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs
are independent.

All non-executive Directors (including INEDs) have been appointed for
a term of one year and are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-
laws”) and Listing Rules at each annual general meeting. Save as
disclosed in the biographical details of each Director, there is no other
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship) among members of the Board.

The Board is responsible for the strategic development of the
Company'’s business. Daily operations and execution of strategic plans
are delegated to management. The Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee have specific terms of
reference clearly defining the powers and responsibilities of the
respective committees. All committees are required to report to the
Board in relation to their decisions and recommendations for seeking
the Board’s approval.
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ROLE OF THE BOARD

The Board meets at least four times annually to review business
development and overall strategic policies. The Board is supplied with
relevant information by the senior management pertaining to matters
to be brought before the Board for decision as well as reports relating
to operational and financial performance of the Group before each
regular board meeting. At least 14 days’ notice of a regular board
meeting is given to all Directors to give them the opportunity to
attend. Board papers are dispatched to the Directors at least three
days before the meeting to ensure that they have sufficient time to
review the papers and be adequately prepared for the meeting.

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Company and its subsidiaries, setting appropriate
policies and reviewing the effectiveness of such controls. Risk
management and internal control are defined as a process effected
by the Board, management and other personnel, designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives
and can only provide reasonable, not absolute assurance of the
following:

effectiveness and efficiency of operations

reliability of financial reporting

compliance with applicable laws and regulations

- effectiveness of risk management functions

The Board conducted a review of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 March 2025 including the consideration of the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, as well as those relative
to the Company's ESG performance and reporting and their training
programmes and budget. The Board assessed the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems by considering reviews
performed by the Audit Committee, executive management and the
independent auditors’ management letters, if any, and is satisfied that
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group is
functioning properly.
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Four regular meetings of the Board and one Annual General Meeting
were held during the year. Directors may attend meetings in person,
by conference telephone or electronic means in accordance with the
Bye-laws. The attendance of each Director at the meeting is set out as
follows:—

FROHBTOARTEFEEZR—RKRE
BFRE -EFAREQLTMAMNBES UTRE
ERNBEFAAHREER - REFLFERZ
REHIWT : —

Name of Directors Board meeting AGM
BEENY EEggE REEERE
Executive Directors HiTEE

Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman) SEEEL (FE) 4/4 1/1
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk EREEL 4/4 11
Non-Executive Directors HFHITEE

Mr. Ma Fung On BEZfE 4/4 11
Mr. Lee Kam Hung RS E 4/4 11
Prof. Luk Wing Ching [P E=F €] 4/4 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors BLIFHITEE

Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFHTE 4/4 1/1
Mr. Chan Kit Wang PRANZR Sk 4/4 11
Dr. Law Sui Chun EinEELT 4/4 11

During the year, the Chairman also held a meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
During the year, a training session was arranged for all Directors
on the topic of Impact to Directors on Latest ESG Regulatory
Requirements. An anti-corruption training was also arranged for all
staff, including the Executive Directors.
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Based on the training records provided to the Company by the RIEBEZAXRATIRMENEINCH  EFHNE
Directors, the Directors have participated in the following continuous ZRBHERARAEBNEBEEMN
professional development training by attending seminars/conferences/ st E,/ &% #iB > 2ETNIIFEEZELLE
forums relevant to the Company’s business or their duties during the &3l :

year:

Directors’ participation of continuous professional EEZHKEFERER
development

Attended
training courses,
seminars, workshops,

Directors in-house briefs
HRESEEIERTE T |

55 TEY - -AEBREERE

Executive Directors HiTEE

Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman) REREBLT (FE)

Dr. Ng Man Cheuk SEREEL v

Non-Executive Directors FFHITEE

Mr. Ma Fung On BEZfE

Mr. Lee Kam Hung RIS E

Prof. Luk Wing Ching FEox B B

Independent Non-Executive Directors BLUIFHTEE

Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFEHIE

Mr. Chan Kit Wang RN S

Dr. Law Sui Chun BInEE T

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES ERRERBEZETERERAEE

INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY

To indemnify Directors and officers of the Company against all costs, BB EARALATDEERSRBERNNITRET
charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by them in the HBEXNLBBRFEEZFBEER WKE-
execution of and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto, the 1% X KREH > XA T BRI L ERE(E
Company has arranged insurance cover for this purpose. R P& o
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees and has delegated
various responsibilities to the committees including the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the corporate governance committee
(the "Corporate Governance Committee”). All the Board Committees
perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms
of reference. The Board Committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request,
are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company's expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three INEDs who are Mr. Leung
Yu Ming, Steven, Mr. Chan Kit Wang and Dr. Law Sui Chun. The
composition and members of the Audit Committee complies with the
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Chairman of
the Audit Committee is Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven.

The Audit Committee meetings are held not less than twice a year
to review and discuss the risk management and internal audit of
the Group, to review the Group’s interim and annual financial
statements, and also monitor the appointment and function of the
Group's independent auditors. Additional meetings may also be held
by the Committee from time to time to discuss special projects or
other issues of which the Audit Committee considers necessary. The
Committee's authority and duties are set out in written terms of
reference and are posted on the websites of the Company and the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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During the year, three Audit Committee meetings were held and the
individual attendance of each member is set out below:—

Member of Audit Committee

EXELRERS

FRAHBT=AEZEZTEZTEH
AHEHBEXREEIOT -

P BB Z 8

Meeting attended

BRZEERE HEZERE
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFEHIE 3/3
Mr. Chan Kit Wang RN S 3/3
Dr. Law Sui Chun ‘IGEE L 3/3
During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed the fiscal year FR > BRZEZEGEZRN _T-_= /" _"F_ /M

2023/2024 annual report and fiscal year 2024/2025 interim report,
including the accounting principles and practice adopted by
the Group, reviewed and discussed the financial results and risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, conducted
discussions with the independent auditor on financial reporting,

compliance, and reported all relevant matters to the Board.

The Audit Committee has also reviewed the fiscal year 2024/2025
annual report in a meeting held on 23 June 2025.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises three INEDs and is currently
chaired by Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven. No Director or senior executive
will be involved in any discussion in connection with his/her own
remuneration. The meeting of the Remuneration Committee shall
normally be held not less than once a year.

The Company has adopted a model where the Remuneration
Committee performs an advisory role to the Board, with the Board
retaining the final authority to approve the remuneration of executive
Directors and senior management.
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The Committee’s principal responsibilities are to make recommendation
to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management, make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration structure. It
also reviews and guides the formulation of the Group's performance
related pay schemes. Terms of reference which described the
authorities and duties of the Remuneration Committee are publicly
available on the websites of the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, the contents of which are in compliance with the CG
Code.

During the year, two Remuneration Committee meetings were held
and the individual attendance of each member is set out below:—

Member of the Remuneration Committee

ZEEZIERERMENRTEETFRER
EEANBZFHTEMESSRMEREE 5Lk
HOESFZHNNESTSREZZRNEH
HHRBEOEFETRUEZ -ZETTRAE
EEERRHNZFHM S RLIRMESIFTES] -
MiHMEE RS HMELE IR AL T
REBBMIZAEILEARER  BEANBHET
TEBEATRHZRE-

FREBT -_RFWNEESTH
PIHERBEEHIIWOT : —

BB ZE

Meeting attended

FrINEEENE HEFERK
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFEIE 2/2
Mr. Chan Kit Wang RN ST 2/2
Dr. Law Sui Chun BIHEE LT 2/2

During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and made
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors, non-executive Directors, the INEDs, and
senior management; and reviewed the bonus to senior management.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

For the year ended 31 March, 2025, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management by band is set out below:—

Remuneration bands (HK$)

FRC FMNEECEESRARMENRTES
FRTEF BIUFATESASREEREZ
HWSBRNEFTREER, ICERNSRE
BEZTE4L-

EFRESREERZHM

BE_Z_HAF=-A=+—HLEFEE &4&KE
BASRBEZ D ZHMEIWOT : —

Number of persons

RNz E (Bo) AE
$0 to $2,000,000 07T £2,000,0005 7T 2
$2,000,001 to $2,500,000 2,000,001 75 E 2,500,000 75 1%
$2,500,001 to $4,000,000 2,500,00178 75 E4,000,00078 75 2

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 33 & 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

*  This member of the senior management resigned during the year.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises three INEDs who are Mr. Leung
Yu Ming, Steven, Mr. Chan Kit Wang and Dr. Law Sui Chun. The
Nomination Committee is currently chaired by Mr. Leung Yu Ming,
Steven.

The meeting of the Nomination Committee shall normally be held not
less than once a year. The Committee will identify qualified candidates
to fill the Board membership whenever such vacancy arises. It will
nominate such candidates for the Board to consider, and regularly
review the composition of the Board as well as make suggestions as
to any change that may be required. The Committee’s authority and
duties are set out in written terms of reference and are posted on the
websites of the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the vyear.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out in the

table below:—

Member of the Nomination Committee

EXERRS
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ABEM TRELZEBABHRESTGSE
UhERBNEFTTHRRMEMRAIERFT
BEFHER - ZEEZEROKBEHNER
BEBERN TEHNEARIDREBBMIIMZ
ERA

FRN RELEZEEHET _REZ-BFMEZ
AR HEREEIN TR —

Meeting attended

REZEEHE HEZERK
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFHIE 2/2
Mr. Chan Kit Wang FRANTR S e 2/2
Dr. Law Sui Chun BInHEL 2/2

During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure,
size, diversity, gender and composition of the Board; make
recommendations to the Board on appointment of Directors after
considering their qualifications and experience in relevant industries
and re-election of the Directors subject to retirement by rotation
under the Bye-laws at the 2024 annual general meeting and assess
the independence of the INED according to the independence
requirements set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to code provision B.2.3 of the CG Code, (a) having served
the Company for more than nine years could be relevant to the
determination of an INED’s independence; and (b) if an INED has
served more than nine years, his/her further appointment should be
subject to a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance Committee of the Company was
established on 21 February, 2012. As at the date of this annual
report, the Corporate Governance Committee comprised of two
executive Directors, namely Dr. Ng Chi Ho and Dr. Ng Man Cheuk.

The role and main function of the Corporate Governance Committee
is to assist the Board in developing and reviewing the policies and
practices on corporate governance which are applicable to the Group
and making recommendations to the Board.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee
include the duties set out in Code Provision A.2.1 (a) to (e) for
the time being in force. The terms of reference of the Corporate
Governance Committee are available on the website of the Company.

The Corporate Governance Committee held one meeting during the
year. The attendance at this meeting is as follows:—

Member of the Corporate Governance Committee

tEEREZEY
AABEBEARZEENRN ZZE—Z4"A
ZH+—BRI -RAFHREH CEXEREZE
EHMEATEEZEER I REREE T
4B AR o

XELRLZEEZACKREIERERMPE
EEHERBNBERARAERZEXERN
RERER THEEFTRHES

Fr>

TEEARLTEGZRESERECETIEX
FA21 @FE(E)EFFEZHS - tXBAEE
GHEEE N AATHEER -

T¥EREZET
B HFESBEHINNOT -

Meeting attended

TEEAEEENRE HEZEE
Dr. Ng Chi Ho SRESREL 171
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk EREEL 11

During the year, the Corporate Governance Committee reviewed and
discussed the new requirements of the CG Code and reviewed and
monitored the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted the board diversity policy in August 2013 (the
“Board Diversity Policy”). The policy sets out the approach to
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance the

effectiveness of the Board.

The Company considered diversity of Board members can be achieved
through consideration of a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the

benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Board developed measurable objectives to implement the Board
Diversity Policy, where selection of candidates will be based on the
range of diversity perspectives as set out above, and the ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidate will bring to the Board.

As of 31 March 2025, the Board consists of one female Director
and seven male Directors with different business and professional
backgrounds, which help to maintain the diversity of the Board.

The Nominations Committee will review the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy at least annually and make recommendation
on any proposed changes to the Board for the Board's review and
approval to ensure its continued appropriateness and effectiveness.
The Board and the Nomination Committee had reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and
was of the view that the Board Diversity Policy and its implementation
was sufficient and effective.
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WORKFORCE DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted the workforce diversity policy in June 2025.
The policy sets out the approach and commitment to inclusion and
diversity in the workforce (including senior management).

The Company commits to upholding diversity of gender, background,
skills and experience across our workforce, maintaining an appropriate
level of female staff and ensuring strong female representation at the
management level. The Company will strive to maintain its current
level of female senior management and female employees.

The Nomination Committee shall review the workforce diversity,
discuss and consider the measurable objectives and the process made
in achieving the measurable objectives (in particular, the gender
diversity targets) annually. The Nomination Committee shall also
conduct regular reviews to identify any gender pay gaps and ensure
equal pay for work of equal value.

As of 31 March 2025, female comprises approximately 46.3% of the
Group's workforce (excluding senior management) and 25% of the
Group's senior management respectively.

TERMS OF MECHANISM ON INDEPENDENT
VIEWS TO THE BOARD

The Company recognises to Board independence is critical to
good corporate governance. This mechanism is to ensure a strong
independent element on the Board which is key to an effective
Board. All the members of the Audit, Remuneration, Nomination
Committees are composed of INED. Furthermore, subject to prior
approval by the Chairman of the Board, the Directors may seek
independent legal, financial or other professional advice from
advisors independent of those advising the Company as and when
necessary, in appropriate circumstances to enable them to discharge
their responsibilities effectively, either on the Company’s affairs or in
respect of their fiduciary or other duties, at the Company’s expense.
The Board will review this mechanism on an annual basis to ensure
the implementation and effectiveness of this mechanism.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy in November 2018 (”Dividend
Policy”). Under the Companies Act of Bermuda, dividends may be
paid subject to the solvency test is duly passed and satisfied and
that:-

(@) the Company is not or would not after payment of the said final
dividend be unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; and

(b)  the realizable value of the Company’s assets would not thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share
capital and share premium account.

Declaration and recommendation of payment of dividends of the
Company is subject to the approval of the Directors of the Company,
depending on results of operations, working capital, financial
position, future prospects, and capital requirements, as well as any
other factors which the Directors of the Company may consider
relevant from time to time. Any future declaration, recommendation
and payment of dividends of the Company may or may not reflect the
historical declarations and payments of dividends and will be at the
absolute discretion of the Directors of the Company. The Company
does not have any predetermined dividend payout ratio.

In addition to cash, dividends may be distributed in the form of
Shares. Any distribution of Shares, however, must be approved by a
resolution of the shareholders.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy, as appropriate, to ensure
the effectiveness of the Dividend Policy. The Audit Committee will
discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a nomination policy in November 2018

(“Nomination Policy”), which sets out the criteria and procedures

when considering candidates to be appointed or re-elected as

Directors of the Company.

Nomination Criteria
The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria in

evaluating and selecting candidates for directorship:

1.

48

Character and integrity;

Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
member of the Board;

Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted
for achieving diversity on the Board;

Requirement for the Board to have independent Directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidates
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

Such other perspectives appropriate to the Company's business
or as suggested by the Board.
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Nomination Procedures
Nomination by the Nomination Committee

L

1.1

1.2

1.4

1.5

The Nomination Committee reviews the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board periodically and make
recommendation on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

When it is necessary to fill a casual vacancy or appoint an
additional Director, the Nomination Committee identifies
or selects candidates as recommended to the Committee,
with or without assistance from external agencies or the
Company, pursuant to the nomination criteria;

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee shall rank them by order
of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable);

The Nomination Committee makes recommendation
to the Board including the terms and conditions of the
appointment;

The Board deliberates and decides on the appointment
based upon the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee.

Re-election of Director at Annual General
Meeting

2.1

2.2

2.3

In accordance with the Company's articles of association,
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years and shall be eligible for re-
election at each annual general meeting;

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
Director. The Nomination Committee shall also review the
expertise and professional qualifications of the retiring
Director, who offered himself/herself for re-election at
the annual general meeting, to determine whether such
Director continues to meet the nomination criteria;

Based on the review made by Nomination Committee, the
Board shall make recommendations to shareholders on
candidates standing for re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company, and provide the available
biographical information of the retiring Director in
accordance with the Listing Rules to enable shareholders
to make the informed decision on the re-election of such
candidates at annual general meeting of the Company.
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3. Nomination by shareholders
The shareholders of the Company may propose a person for
election as a Director in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company and applicable law, details of which are set out in the
“Procedures for a shareholder to propose a person for election
as director of the Company” of the Company adopted in
February 2012.

The Board will review this Nomination Policy, as appropriate,
to ensure its effectiveness from time to time. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration
and approval.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Board adopted a remuneration policy in November 2022 (the
“Remuneration Policy”), which sets out the principles and procedures
to be adopted when considering the remuneration of Directors and
senior executives of the Company. Successful implementation of the
Company’s business strategy and the fostering of the Company’s
long-term interests, including its sustainability, require that the
Company is able, through competitive remuneration on market
terms, to recruit, incentivise and retain skilled employees. The total
remuneration package of Director and senior management must
therefore be on market terms and competitive on the executive’s field
of profession, and must be related to the executive's responsibilities,
powers and performance. The remuneration may comprise fixed
salary, variable remuneration, pension and other benefits. The Board
will review the Remuneration Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of the Remuneration Policy.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions for the year under review. The
Company made specific enquiry of all Directors as to whether
they complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code regarding their securities transactions. It was confirmed that
there was full compliance. The relevant employee who, because
of their office in the Group, are likely to be in possession of inside
information, have been requested to comply with the provisions of
the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
PREPARING THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. The finance department
of the Company is taken charge by the Chief Financial Officer of
the Company. With the assistance of the finance department, the
Directors ensure that the consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been properly prepared in accordance with relevant
regulations and applicable accounting principles.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Group’s independent auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC").
The financial reporting responsibilities of the independent auditors are
set out on page 77 to 84 of this annual report.

During the year, remuneration of approximately HK$3.3 million
was payable to PwC for the provision of audit services. In addition,
approximately HK$1.3 million was payable to PwC for other
non-audit services. The non-audit services mainly consist of tax
compliance and other services.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Zeng Zhi is responsible to the Board for ensuring the Board
procedures are followed and the Board activities are efficiently and
effectively conducted. She is also responsible for ensuring that the
Board is briefed on relevant legislative, regulatory and corporate
governance developments. During the year, Ms. Zeng has duly
complied with the relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, there is no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Responsibility

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility in
establishing an appropriate risk management and internal control
systems, and reviewing their effectiveness regularly. The systems
include a defined management structure with limits of authority to
safeguard its assets against unauthorized use or disposition; to ensure
the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for management use or for publication
and to ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations. The
systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss, and to manage
the risks of failure in the Group's operational systems and in the
achievement of the Group’s objectives.

Management is responsible in the design and implementation of the
risk management and internal control systems. A Risk Management
Committee was established to monitor the operations of risk
management and internal control systems and provide confirmation
to the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of the systems regularly.

Risk Management

The purpose of risk management is to ensure that the risks to the
Group are identified, analyzed, and managed at an acceptable
level. In order to provide a sound and effective risk management
system, a Risk Management Manual is established to specify the Risk

Management Framework and Risk Management Processes.
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The Risk Management Framework outlines the responsibilities of the
Board, the senior management, the Audit Committee, the Internal
Audit and the Risk Management Committee. The Board, through its
risk oversight role, ensures that the senior management establishes
risk management policies to identify and evaluate risks (including ESG
risks). Each subsidiary/division implements such policies and processes
in the daily operations and reports significant risks (including ESG
risks) identified to the senior management promptly and regularly.
The senior management and Risk Management Committee will
communicate the risk management findings to the Audit Committee
and the Board for their assessment of the effectiveness of the relevant
risk management and internal control systems of the Group.

The Risk Management Processes including the followings:

1. Risk Identification — each subsidiary or division to identify its
own risks.
2. Risk Analysis — analyze the identified risks for potential impact

and likelihood of occurrence.

3. Risk Register — the likelihood of occurrence and impacts
of identified risks are defined. The top risks are identified
according to the rating obtained from risk assessment and
documented in a risk register. Each operating subsidiary/division
records the risk events occurred in the risk register and the
action taken to reduce the impact of the risk to the Group.

4. Risk Mitigation — identify the existing controls over the relevant
risks to avoid, reduce or transfer the risks, or to accept the
identified risks with low impact or likelihood.

5. Risk Confirmation — the process of confirmation to the Risk
Management Committee, Audit Committee and the Board
by the management of the completion of the risk monitoring
process and report the risks occurred, if any, during the review
period that have significant impact to the Group.
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Internal Control and Internal Audit

The Group has established systems of internal control to ensure the
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliabilities of financial
and management reporting, compliances of laws and regulations
and safeguarding of assets. The system of internal control provides
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material errors, losses

or frauds.

Suga has an Internal Audit function. Internal Audit reviews material
internal control aspects of the Group, including financial, operational
and compliance controls as well as risk management.

Internal Audit carries out audit in accordance with audit plan that is
reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee. In addition to the
approved internal audit schedule, Internal Audit may conduct other
review and investigation for the Group’s business on an ad hoc basis
as and when necessary.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the Group Internal
Audit Department conducted audits and issued internal audit reports
to management covering various operational and finance functions of
the Group. The half-yearly internal audit reports and its findings were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on a half-yearly basis.
Relevant findings and recommendations reported by the Internal
Audit were communicated with the management and actions were
taken to resolve defects as and when identified. There is no material
internal control defects identified during the year.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
effectiveness

The Board has conducted review of the effectiveness and adequacy
of the risk management and internal control systems by reviewing
the work performed by the Audit Committee, Risk Management
Committee and the Internal Audit Department for the financial year
ended 31 March 2025. The review covered all material controls,
including operational, financial and compliance control, and risk
management functions. The scope and the quality of ongoing

monitoring of risks and internal control systems have been assessed.
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Dissemination of inside information

The Company conducts its business affairs according to the
“Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Future Commission. The Company strictly prohibits the
unauthorised use of confidential or inside information by Directors,
employees and other relevant persons (such as external service
providers and project working team members).

The Board is responsible for the handling and dissemination of
inside information. In order to ensure the market, shareholders and
stakeholders are fully and promptly informed about the material
developments in the Company's business, the Board has adopted
continuous disclosure policy and procedures to handle proper
information disclosure. Release of inside information is subject
to the approval of the Board. All staff of the Company shall not
communicate inside information to any external parties unless with
approval from the Board. As such, staff shall not respond to market
speculation and rumours unless authorised. In addition, all external
presentation materials or publications must be pre-vetted before
released.

The Board considered that the risk management and internal control
systems are functioning effectively and adequately.

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLEBLOWING
POLICIES

The Company has adopted an anti-corruption policy to govern
acceptance of advantages by employees and a whistleblowing policy
to provide guidance to employees and external stakeholders to report
concerns about any suspected or actual improprieties relating to the
Group.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining effective

communications with shareholders. In order to develop and maintain

continuing relationship with the shareholders of the Company, the

Company established various channels to facilitate and enhance

communication:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

the annual general meeting provides a useful forum for the
shareholders of the Company to raise comments and exchange
views with the Board;

publication of announcements and circulars on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company;

publication of financial statements containing a summary of the
financial information and affairs of the Group for the interim
and full financial year via the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company;

interim reports, annual reports and circulars that are sent to all
shareholders;

notices of and explanatory notes for general meetings; and

the management of the Group continually conducts meetings
with investors, analysts and the media, and provides them
with up-to-date and comprehensive information regarding the
Company’s development and answers to their queries.

The Company also maintains a website at www.suga.com.hk, where

updates on the Company’'s business developments and operations,

financial information and news can always be found.
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Shareholders and investors may at any time send their enquiries BRERKREETHBREUEEFAAES TR
and concerns to the Board in writing through the contact details as H & &LET  BEBEROT © —

follows:—

Address:

Fax:
Email:

Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong

investorrelations@suga.com.hk

22nd Floor, Tower B, Billion Centre, 1 Wang Kwong Road, — #fiht : EBNBEALEEEAE—RER

HRBEE221E
BEENE ¢ 2953 1523
BEH UL ¢ investorrelations@suga.com.hk

The Board conducted a review of the implementation and BB HREEAREMNE R M 17E
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy. Having Wit - &K EZEEZBREEREER EF g
considered the diverse channels of communication in place, the Board EHNRAEERNFFEHR2EBNBRERNLITZA
is satisfied that an effective shareholders’ communication policy has 2§ °

been properly implemented throughout the year.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

AR Z

Shareholders are entitled to requisition a special general meeting REEEFEREHRBREHFII AT RMRRBREKX
and put forward proposals at general meeting. The procedures are as & LFIREEZ -BREAREFN T !

follows:

(@) PROCEDURES FOR REQUISITIONINGASPECIAL (3) #ARBHRRFTIKEZERF

GENERAL MEETING

In accordance with Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the
shareholders of the Company holding at the date of the
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of such of
the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall have the right to
convene a special general meeting of the Company. If the
Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists representing more than one half of the total
voting rights may themselves convene a meeting.

The written requisition for the special general meeting can be
lodged at the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at 22nd
Floor, Tower B, Billion Centre, 1 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon
Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong.
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REFHIARE - HEEFNEZ2E2KRBH
Bt —+—BARBEAREBERAE 8
BEERRABFBEULZFBERATENT
ARRRFRIAREG -

BRRRFBHIAGZEEHERATRERE
KRB ZBEBIERSTRE MUASER
NBEENREBEAE —SRERTOBE22
1o

EHEEREEERAT 2024/25 F£38 57



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELERS

(b)

58

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETING

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-twentieth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right to vote at general
meetings of the Company or not less than 100 shareholders
may, at their expense, provide a written request to the attention
of the Company Secretary signed and deposited in accordance
with the Bermuda Companies Act 1981.

The procedures for the shareholders to propose a person for
election of a director at an annual general meeting is available
for viewing at the Company’s website at www.suga.com.hk.

The above procedures are subject to the Bye-laws of the
Company and applicable legislation and regulation.

Besides, the updated memorandum of association and Bye-
laws of the Company has been posted on the website of the
Company at www.suga.com.hk and the designated website of
the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk.
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The Directors are pleased to present to the shareholders their
report and the audited financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together,
2025.

“the Group”) for the year ended 31 March

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its principal
subsidiaries are engaged in the research and development,
manufacture and sale of electronic and other products and sale of
pet food and pet related products. Details of the principal activities
of the Group’s subsidiaries are set out in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by reporting
and geographical segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and discussion
on the Group’s prospects, as well as discussion and analysis of the
Group's performance during the year ended 31 March 2025 and the
material factors underlying its financial performance are set out in the
“CEO message” on pages 12 to 16, “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 18 to 24 and a separate Environmental, Social and
Governance Report which will be published on the websites of Hong

Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Company.

A description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the Group
is facing is provided in the section of Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems in“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 34 to
58. Additionally, the financial risk management objectives and policies
of the Company can be found in note 3 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there is no important event
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial
year ended 31 March 2025.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

SUGA's commitment to excellence extends to the Group conducting
its business in a manner that respects the environment. The strive
for cleaner production has led Suga to adopt energy conservation
practices that can reduce environmental risks and liabilities as well
as improve competitiveness. Details of environment policy and
performance are set out in a separate Environmental, Social and
Governance Report, which will be published on the websites of Hong
Kong Exchanges and Cleaning Limited and the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has established procedures to ensure its operations comply
with applicable laws, rules and regulations. The Board of Directors is
responsible for monitoring the Group's policies and practices making
sure they agree with relevant legal and regulatory requirements, and
that those policies and practices are regularly reviewed for adequacy.
Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought
as necessary to the attention of relevant employees and operating
units.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, as far as it is aware, the
Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations of PRC,
Hong Kong and Vietnam that have a significant impact on its business
and operations.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Discussions on the Group's relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers are set out in a separate Environmental,
Social and Governance Report which will be published on the
websites of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the
Company.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 87 of this annual
report.

An interim dividend of HK4.0 cents per ordinary share were paid
during the financial year. The Directors have proposed the payment of
a final dividend of HK4.0 cents per ordinary share for the year ended
31 March 2025. Total dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025
amounted to HK8.0 cents per ordinary share.
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The proposed final dividend, if approved at the forthcoming Annual

General Meeting of the Company to be held on 8 August 2025 is

expected to be paid on or before 22 August 2025 to shareholders of

the Company whose names appear on the Register of Shareholders of
the Company on 14 August 2025.

The Register of Shareholders of the Company will be closed for the

following periods:

(i)

(i)

The Register of Shareholders of the Company will be closed
from 5 August 2025 to 8 August 2025 (both days inclusive),
during which period no transfer of shares in the Company will
be registered, for the purpose of determining the identity of
the shareholders entitled to attend and vote at 2025 Annual
General Meeting. In order to qualify to attend and vote at
the meeting, all transfers of shares accompanied by the
relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged
with the Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on 4 August 2025.

The Register of Shareholders of the Company will be closed on
14 August 2025 during which day no transfer of shares in the
Company will be registered, for the purpose of determining
the entitlement of the shareholders to receive the proposed
final dividend. Subject to approval of the shareholders at the
2025 Annual General Meeting, the proposed final dividend will
be payable to the shareholders whose names appear on the
Register of Shareholders of the Company on 14 August 2025.
In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfers
of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates and
transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 13 August
2025.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year are set out in the note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in share capital and share options of the
Company during the year are set out in notes 22 and 23 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS - SHARE
OPTIONS GRANTED TO DIRECTORS AND
SELECTED EMPLOYEES

Details of the share options granted in prior years and current year
is set out in note 23 of the financial statements and “Share Option
Scheme"”section contained in this Report of the Directors.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 March 2025
calculated under Companies Act of Bermuda amounted to
HK$72,045,000 (2024: HK$93,841,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for the pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
During the year under review, there were no transactions, which need
to be disclosed as connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiries, save as disclosed in this annual
report, none of the related party transactions as disclosed in note
38 to the consolidated financial statements contained in this annual
report is a connected transaction.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Company did not redeem any of its shares during the year.
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s shares during the year.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to HK$268,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particular of bank borrowings as at 31 March 2025 are set out in note
19 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Particulars of retirement schemes are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 208 of
this annual report.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors
Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman)
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ma Fung On

Mr. Lee Kam Hung

Prof. Luk Wing Ching

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven

Mr. Chan Kit Wang

Dr. Law Sui Chun

At the forthcoming annual general meeting, Dr. Ng Chi Ho, Mr. Ma
Fung On and Mr. Chan Kit Wang will retire by rotation in accordance
with Bye-law 111 of the Company’s Bye-laws. All the retiring Directors
are being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Each of Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors is appointed for a term of one year.

Dr. Ng Chi Ho, being Executive Director of the Company has entered
into a service contract with the Company for an initial fixed term
of three years commencing from 1 July 2023 and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either party on the other. Dr. Ng Man Cheuk,
being Executive Director, has entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from
1 July 2023 and will continue thereafter until terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other. Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors proposed for
re-election has a service contract with the Company, which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Directors consider the share option scheme, with its broadened
basis of participation, will enable the Group to reward the employees,
Directors and other selected participants for their contributions to the
Group and will also assist the Group in its recruitment and retention
of high caliber professional’s executives and employees who are
instrumental to the growth of the Group.

The Company’s share option scheme adopted on 6 August 2012 (the
“Old Share Option Scheme”) expired on 5 August 2022 and ceased
to have any further effect except that the Old Share Option Scheme
will remain in force to the extent necessary to give effect to the
exercise of the options granted thereunder prior to expiry thereof
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the
“Shareholders”) on 10 August 2022. A new share
option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) was adopted which

Company (the

will remain in force for a period of 10 years from adoption of the New
Share Option Scheme and will expire on 9 August 2032.

For details of the principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme,
please refer to the circular of the Company dated 12 July 2022. No
share option has been granted under the New Share Option Scheme
during the year.

Principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme are as follows:—

1. Purpose of the New Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Group to grant options to selected participants as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Group. The Directors
consider the New Share Option Scheme will enable the
Group to reward its employees, Directors and other selected
participants for their contributions to the Group and any
associated company of the Company and to attract and retain
individuals with experience and ability.
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Who may join

The Directors (which expression shall include a duly authorised
committee thereof) may, at their absolute discretion subject
to the Listing Rules, invite any person belonging to any of the
following classes of participants (an “Eligible Participant”), to
take up options to subscribe for shares of the Company (the
“Shares”):

(@) any employee (whether full time or part time including
any executive Director but excluding any non-executive
Director) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
associated companies; and

(b) any non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or associated companies.

For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any options by the
Company for the subscription of Shares or other securities
of the Group to any person who fall within any of the above
classes of participants shall not, by itself, unless the Directors
otherwise determined, be construed as a grant of option under
the New Share Option Scheme. The basis of eligibility of any of
the above class of participants to the grant of any options shall
be determined by the Directors from time to time on the basis
of the Directors’ opinion as to his/her potential and/or actual
contribution to the development and growth of the Group and
any associated company of the Company.
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Maximum number of Shares available for
subscription

(a)

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the New Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the
Company in issue from time to time.

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued in respect of all options to be granted under the
New Share Option Scheme and all other options and
awards to be granted under other share option or share
award scheme(s) involving new Shares (excluding, for
this purpose, options and awards which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the New Share Option
Scheme and any other share option or share award
scheme(s) involving new Shares) must not exceed 10% of
the Shares in issue on the day on which the New Share
Option Scheme is approved (“Scheme Mandate Limit”).

Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (d) and
(e) below, the Company may seek approval of the
Shareholders in general meeting to refresh the Scheme
Mandate Limit three years from (i) the date on which the
Shareholders approved the New Share Option Scheme
or (ii) the date of the last refreshment of the Scheme
Mandate Limit, provided that the total number of Shares
which may be allotted and issued under the Scheme
Mandate Limit, as refreshed, must not exceed 10% of the
Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the refreshed
limit and for the purpose of calculating the refreshed
limit, options or awards which have lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the New Share Option Scheme and any
other share option or share award scheme(s) involving
new Shares will not be counted. The circular to be sent by
the Company to the Shareholders shall contain the details
and information required under the Listing Rules.
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(d)  Subject to (a) above, the Company may seek approval
of its independent Shareholders in general meeting to
refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit less than three years
from the (i) the date on which the Shareholders approved
the New Share Option Scheme or (ii) the date of the last
refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit, provided that
the controlling shareholder(s) of the Company and his/
their associates (or if there is no controlling shareholder,
the Directors (excluding independent non-executive
Directors) and the chief executive of the Company and
their respective associates) shall have abstained from
voting in favour of the relevant resolution, and the
requirements under Rules 13.39(6) and (7), 13.40, 13.41
and 13.42 of the Listing Rules have been complied with.

(e)  Subject to (a) above, the Company may seek separate
Shareholders’ approval in general meeting to grant
options beyond the Scheme Mandate Limit provided
that the Eligible Participants to whom the options are to
be granted and the number and terms of grant of such
options are identified and fixed by the Company before
such approval is sought. In such event, the Company must
send a circular to the Shareholders containing the details
and information required under the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of Shares
available for issue under the New Share Option Scheme was
28,479,000 shares, which represented 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company.

As at 31 March 2025, the number of share options available

for grant under the New Share Option Scheme was 28,479,000
(28,479,000 as at 1 April 2024).
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Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued in respect of the options and all options and awards
granted under other share option or share award scheme(s)
involving new Shares (excluding any options and awards which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of New Share Option
Scheme and other share option or share award scheme(s)
involving new Shares) to each participant in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company for the time being (“Individual Limit"). Any
further grant of options in excess of the Individual Limit in any
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
shall be subject to the issue of a circular to the Shareholders
and the Shareholders’ approval in general meeting of the
Company with such participant and his/her close associates (or
associates if the participant is a connected person) abstaining
from voting. The number and terms (including the exercise
price) of the options to be granted to such participant must
be fixed before Shareholders’ approval and the date of Board
meeting for proposing such further grant should be taken as
the date of grant for the purpose of calculating the exercise
price under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Minimum vesting period and performance
targets

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and stated in the
offer of the grant of options to a grantee, a grantee is not
required to achieve any performance targets before any options
granted under the New Share Option Scheme can be exercised.
All options granted under New Share Option Scheme shall be
subject to a vesting schedule as determined by the Directors
in their sole discretion and shall be clearly set out in the offer.
Save with the approval of the remuneration committee of the
Company, the vesting period of an option granted under the
New Share Option Scheme shall not be less than 12 months.
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Subscription price for Shares

The subscription price for Shares under the New Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the Directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations on the date
of the offer of grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the
average closing price of Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of
the Shares. A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on
acceptance of the grant of an Option.

Exercise period of an option

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the New Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to
be determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on a day upon which the offer for
the grant of options is made but shall end in any event not later
than 10 years from the date of grant of the option subject to
the provisions for early termination thereof.

Time of acceptance

An offer of the grant of the option may be accepted by a
participant within 21 days from the date of the offer of grant of
the option and the option in respect of the number of Shares in
respect of which the offer was so accepted will be deemed to
have been granted on the date of grant of the options.

Remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme
Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general
meeting, the New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective till 9 August 2032. After the expiry of such valid
period, no further options will be offered or granted but in all
other respects the provisions of the New Share Option Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect.
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Details of the share option movements during the period from 1 April
2024 to 31 March 2025 under the Old Share Option Scheme are as
follows:—

Number of share options

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFERS

H-Z2_OEFWB—HE_Z_HA%=A~
—+—HEAER EEKRESTEIET 2 ERE
EEEBUWT

EREHE
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
at 1 April  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe at 31 March Exercise
2024 period period period 2025 price Date of grant Exercisable period
RZEZME HARE BT BAXY K-Z-1fE iR RHLAH T
mA—-A =A=1+-H
HARTE WATE
(HKS)
(&7)
Continuous Contract 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 - 1.810 10 July 2019 10 July 2019-9 July 2024
Employees
BEANES ZZ-AFtETH ZZ-NEtA+HE
“ZMELANA
1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 -

There is no share option movement during the period from 1 April
2025 to 26 June 2025 under the Old Share Option Scheme.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and the short positions of the
directors of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO")) which are required to be notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of the Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they have taken
or deemed to have under such positions of the SFO) or which are
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which are required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed issuers
(the “Model Code"”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:—

H_E2_AFMWB—HE_Z_A%F/AH
“tHAHEAER EEKRESEIET I EER
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EEGHRS

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the

T AE 28 R AR R (7 2 xs

Company
Number of
Percentage underlying
of issued Shares held
Number ordinary under equity
Name of Director Capacity of Shares  Total interests shares derivatives
 RAHiEIA
) _ CHERE ETHEEN
ESis 5% LGl EmEE SRR R E
(Note 1)
(k1)
Dr. Ng Chi Ho Beneficial owner 6,930,000(L)  170,528,000(L) 59.88%(L) -
REREL BaEAA
Interests of controlled corporation 53,598,000(L) - -
i (Note 2) (it 5£2)
REEE#R
Founder of a discretionary trust 110,000,000(L) - - -
3 (Note 3) (Hiz£3)
HREETAIME
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk Beneficial owner 1,000,000(L)  111,000,000(L) 38.98%(L) -
ERa#L BHEBA
Beneficiary of a discretionary trust 110,000,000(L) -
2REELZEA (Note 3) (Fif&£3)
Mr. Ma Fung On Beneficial owner 14,223,000(L) 14,223,000(L) 4.99%(L) -
e ggi BEREBAA
Mr. Lee Kam Hung Beneficial owner 1,257,800(L) 1,257,800(L) 0.44%(L) -
FRERE BREAA
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven Beneficial owner 530,000(L) 530,000(L) 0.19%(L) -
RFHEE BEREBAA
Mr. Chan Kit Wang Beneficial owner 200,000(L) 200,000(L) 0.07%(L) -
BARTE BHEBA
Notes: PEEE -
1. These represent the interests in underlying Shares in respect of the share options 1. BRIRMIERR BT HERED R 2 BER G #
granted by the Company, the details of which are set out in the sub-section W BRI RN BB DET -
“Share Option Scheme”.
2. 53,598,000 Shares are held by Billion Linkage Limited, the entire issued shares of 2. 52%53,598,0008% f& 19 A Billion Linkage Limited¥¥7% >

which is held by Dr. Ng Chi Ho and his spouse in equal share.

3. 110,000,000 Shares are held by Superior View Inc., the entire issued shares of 3.
which is ultimately held by Fidelitycorp Limited as the trustee of the C.H. Family

Trust, the beneficiaries of which are the family members of Dr. Ng Chi Ho.

4. (L) — Long Position 4.
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Save as disclosed above and under the “Share Option Scheme”,
none of the Directors of the Company have any interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations as defined in the SFO as at
31 March 2025.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURE

Save as disclosed in above section, at no time during the year was
the Company, its parent company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debenture of, the Company or any body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT AND CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, its parent
company, or its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director of the Company, his connected entities were
materially interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY
PROVISIONS

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, every Director of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and
profits of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office.
The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

In the opinion of the Directors, there is no such competing business as
defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”).
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2025, the following persons (not being a Director or
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short position in the
Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO and which have been recorded in the register kept
by the Company pursuant to the section 336 of the SFO.

FERR

RNZE2ZRAF=—RA=+—8B B#ARARESE
FRBERAEI6HEEFE 2 E LMo
THAL (LIERARBEESTHEETHRAE)
RAEARBZ RN RERKRGD T EERES
REBE RO EXVEFE 2R3N IR EBBD AR
BB R IR A o

Number of Percentage of
Name Capacity Shares issued Shares
W, s 513 Kir &R HmeBTrRG
Bt
Superior View Inc. (Note 1) Beneficial owner 110,000,000(L) 38.62%(L)
Superior View Inc. (#73£1) BHREAA
Billion Linkage Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 53,598,000(L) 18.82%(L)
Billion Linkage Limited (##5£2) BHREAA
Lee Wai Fun (Note 3) Interest of spouse 116,930,000(L) 41.06%(L)
=EBS (WaE3) BoiBHm
Interest of controlled corporation 53,598,000(L) 18.82%(L)
ZEEEER
Notes: lE=:
1. The entire issued share capital of Superior View Inc. is ultimately held by 1. Superior View Inc.2EB & TRABERCHRIEE
Fidelitycorp Limited as trustee of the C.H. Family Trust, the beneficiaries of which st 25 A ZFidelitycorp LimitedfR 4355 > ZELZ R
are the family members of Dr. Ng Chi Ho. HmABRERELIZRE

2. The entire issued share capital of Billion Linkage Limited is held by Dr. Ng Chi
Ho and his spouse in equal shares and, as such, Dr. Ng Chi Ho is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by Billion Linkage Limited under the SFO.

3. Madam Lee Wai Fun is deemed to be interested in 116,930,000 Shares held by
her spouse, Dr. Ng Chi Ho, a Director of the Company.

4. (L) - Long Position

Save as disclosed above, as far as is known to the Directors, there
is no person, other than the Directors and chief executives of the
Company, who has an interest or short position in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provision 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as at
31 March 2025.

74 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25

2. Billion Linkage Limited®2BEHTRAHIEFE LT
HERBESM—F WREESRPERN RER
B WRABEABIllion Linkage LimitedFriFAE 2 30%
R o

3. FESLIHEARARBAATDEERERE L
BM116,930,0008 DR G o

4. L) —%=&

BREXKREEN R_BE-_HE=RA=1—
B EFTTANEREFRERTEEZTEA
B BREAMATREART RN RERRKMHD
ToBABEAREESRPERAFEXVEE2
F3NWREBEMAREIMBEZ M KA °



MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group's largest customer for the year accounted for
approximately 10.8% of the Group’s total revenue and the five largest
customers accounted for approximately 41.3% of the Group’s total
revenue. In addition, the largest supplier of the Group accounted for
approximately 5.4% of the Group’s purchases while the five largest
suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 14.8% of the
Group's total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or customers
noted above.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 March 2025, the Company was not involved in any material
litigation or arbitration and no material litigation or arbitration were
pending or threatened or made against the Company so far the
Company is aware.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the

“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 34 to 58.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company'’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR B e
The financial statements for the year have been audited by HAEEZHHFEREREHEBEIR KEGTENE
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offered FFr&EiZ > ZZHAEBERSE  HEEER
themselves for re-appointment. WREREERE-

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIALAND GOVERNANCE REBE-H#EZREAL (MR- (HtERE
(“ESG”) A1)

The Company has a serious commitment to ESG matters. A separate AATDBELRRE - HEEREANBE R
environmental, social and governance report will be published on E-HERELABREFTNEBRZREEFFA
the websites of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the FRABIRAAB 4L FEHEE M-

Company.

On behalf of the Board RREEE

Suga International Holdings Limited EEEREERBRAE

NG Chi Ho zE

Chairman ZE=

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025 EB “EREANAZ+H
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

=
pwc

To the Shareholders of Suga International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Suga International Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which
are set out on pages 85 to 207, comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2025;

. the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended;
and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BABRHBMES

£k Ak 8
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(REREZAMELHERAE])

BER

EAEFANAT
EEEREMERAR U THEEAT) &
HIfEAR U THBIEEE) 5 RN ESS
E207ENREHBRE 0F

e RIZTHFEZAZ=+—HHK/EE

BEx;
s HBEZHLEFENKFAKEE,
s HEZALFEMNRSEEHWRAX,

- BEZOLEENGARMEDE;

° HEZALEFENGAREERER , &

s KEVBRERWE BEERTHHER
ERRAMMNEERER

BFINER

HPRD ZFEEVBRRERESFEG
fAg (EAESMAE)) BEHH(EEME
BREXGHER)EEMT sMRMRT &
EER_E_AF=-—RB=1+T—HMNRSHH
RAREBEZHLEFENGEMBTRER
RERERE TEBREB (ARG IR
BREZSEME-

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
B AL G FHA 0 BB VTRERFRAH =

T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com

Hf% : +852 2289 8888 » fHE : +852 2810 9888 » www.pwchk.com
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter identified in our audit is summarised as follows:

Key Audit Matter
Bt ER

BABRHBMES

Eﬁﬁg Fl+ $IE (II‘E)
RMAEESPERNARS T SEMMANT ¢

How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter
RMOMNB N EIEREEtEE

Impairment of inventories

77 B BF

Refer to note 15 “Inventories” and note 4 “Critical accounting
estimates and judgements” to the consolidated financial statements

B 2RGREMBRERMEES FE I T4 TEE S sHh et R A

As at 31 March 2025, the Group held net inventories amounting to
HK$222,005,000. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value (“NRV") in the consolidated financial statements. The
cost of inventories may not be fully recoverable if they are aged and
damaged, or become obsolete, or if their selling prices are below
cost.

f%@ﬁ\_v_fﬁﬁ B=+—H#HFEFE222,00500087T° 5\
REMBRERT FENDEEAEIERFECREEIR HEE
EEME-BR ARNEERNMKE AR EZ28KEIFS E}Z
K o

Management determined the lower of cost and NRV of inventories by
considering the ageing profile, status and estimated selling price of
individual inventory items.

EB’JJ* #/R$DTED+‘%E°

Management calculated the NRV at period end based on the
estimated selling price less selling expenses, taking into account
historical experience of selling products of similar nature and
expectation of future sales based on current market condition.

BEEBUHBAEBREHERS A ERRNIERFE 81
ZRUTHEBRMUMEERNERUKRBRA T RE R REEFH
Z @A e

We understood and evaluated management's
key internal controls over purchase and inventory
cycle.

KM THRAOMTGHEEBHRERFEERR
ERNFEREEEZE-

We observed management’s inventory counts
to identify whether there is any damaged or
obsolete inventories.

RPBRREEBNFEETHER UHH T
ERREMBRRNEREFES-

We tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of
the ageing profile of individual inventory item
by checking to supporting documents including
the underlying procurement correspondences,
goods receipt notes and inter-warehouse transfer
documents.

FEBREIREXHM OEFERANERERRZ
XH BB REERER X TP HER
A ERFEIRE Ehe 2 RN

We tested, on a sample basis, the subsequent
usage or sales of selected inventory items,
specified in the usage or sales reports subsequent
to the year end and reviewed management's
assessment on adequacy and the reasonableness
of the provision for impairment of inventories by
comparing against management’s forecasts of
estimated future utilisation.

BN FLENERANEERS  MEEAX
ARBEEFENFRB 2 EANEERR I
FRREEEHRRTEABRZARETL
BN EEBNTEREEEZRENERS
BT o

EERRERERAT 2024/25F% 79



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIARHBENES

KEY AUDIT MATTER (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter
RRESEE

RIS E st =H (4B)

How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter
RO ET N RIERRETEE

Management reviewed slow moving inventories based on inventory
ageing and made specific provision for long-aged inventories. It also
conducted periodic review on inventory obsolescence, including
performance of periodic inventory counts and review of holding
period for individual inventory items.
EEREERFEFHERFHEFE INEREFG RS EEE-
EEETENFEEOBRNETEHRES OETHETEERA
RERERNFEHEENTER-

We focused on this area due to the relative significance of gross
inventory balance as at year end, and the determination of the
provision for impairment of inventories is subject to high degree of
estimation uncertainty.

P ILESEBERENFARAFERRBREEN BBEFERE
BHEEBORN B E A N EEN

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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We tested, on a sample basis, the NRV of
selected inventory items by comparing the selling
price subsequent to the year end against the
carrying values of individual inventory item.

FALUEE A AN AABEEFEEEZ 2R E
B FASRTRENFERENERENEE
HEHIREEFLR

Based on the work performed, we considered
that the provision for impairment of inventories
as at 31 March 2025 were supportable by
available evidence.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
WYRES S E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

82

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters

that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and

where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
WYRES S E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yuen Shin Fong (practising certificate number:

P07067).

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

HEEEARSR

As at 31 March 2025 R ZZE_ZAFE=F=+—H

2025 2024
—E-HEF —ZEmg
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Viorza FHET FAET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- BB MRE 6 191,608 210,559
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 7 75,047 80,079
Investment properties wEY= 8 16,768 19,462
Intangible assets mEEE 9 - =
Goodwill Bk 10 3,949 3,949
Interests in associates REERB 2R 2 - =
Financial assets at fair value through  #/AFEZZ A EMEEIA
other comprehensive income ZUHHEE 14 5,098 6,651
Deferred income tax assets FRIEPRISINE E 20 1,327 997
Non-current prepayments and other  JERBNTE B K
receivables Hth FAUTRIE 16 23,019 3,170
316,816 324,867
Current assets MENEE
Inventories 78 15 222,005 273,739
Trade receivables = RZE N 16 231,999 263,540
Prepayments, deposits and other FENRIE e &
receivables Hfth IR IR 16 31,588 54,441
Financial assets at fair value through B AFERLABRZ
profit or loss HBEE 17 3 52
Amounts due from associates g = NEIE S 12 585 585
Cash and cash equivalents BENEEEEY 18 280,317 161,874
766,497 754,231
Total assets BEHE 1,083,313 1,079,098
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities ERBAEE
Bank borrowings RITEE 19 = 2,225
Lease liabilities HEad 7 1,891 3,582
Deferred income tax liabilities RILFRISI AR 20 734 1,269
2,625 7,076
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

HEEEARSR

As at 31 March 2025 R ZZE - Aa&FE=H=+—H

2025 2024
—E-HEF —ZTmg
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 FHET FAT
Current liabilities mENEE
Trade and other payables FET B 2R
HAth & {78 21 266,298 227,909
Contract liabilities aHEaR 21 6,364 8,479
Income tax payable FE{T PRS2 15,937 12,251
Lease liabilities HEad 7 1,859 1,777
Bank borrowings RITEE 19 2,225 38,570
292,683 288,986
Total liabilities BfREEHE 295,308 296,062
EQUITY HE
Equity attributable to owners of  AFEE AEGEZ
the Company
Share capital [N 22 28,479 28,479
Other reserves HinfaE 24 59,141 65,500
Retained earnings RE B 24 698,427 687,006
786,047 780,985
Non-controlling interests Bl ey 1,958 2,051
Total equity HEmARER 788,005 783,036
Total equity and liabilities EmkaEEEE 1,083,313 1,079,098

The consolidated financial statements on pages 85 to 207 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2025 and were signed

on its behalf.

Dr. Ng Chi Ho

REEEL
Director

EFE

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction

with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
AR S W R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #F — L _AF=H=+—HILFEZ

2025 2024
—E-HE “EUE
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
k=3 F#ET FET
Revenue &= 25 1,388,007 1,400,293
Cost of sales HE A 26 (1,195,282) (1,197,026)
Gross profit EH 192,725 203,267
Other income H A 27 8,414 6,239
Other (losses)/gains — net Hih (5518) /W= — 358 28 (3,942) 810
Distribution and selling expenses DIERIEEE R 26 (54,118) (57,599)
General and administrative expenses — MR RTEEEER 26 (104,510) (106,712)
Net impairment losses on financial assets B4 ¥ & E R B8P 58 (1,637) (1,049)
Operating profit EET 36,932 44,956
Finance income G ON 29 6,291 2,894
Finance costs RAE A A 29 (1,779) (6,384)
Finance income/(costs) — net FREWA (BRA) — %8 29 4,512 (3,490)
Profit before income tax BRETIEMRATET] 41,444 41,466
Income tax expense Frigii 30 (7,140) (9,139)
Profit for the year FERiEF 34,304 32,327
Profit attributable to: wmAEEER
Owners of the Company KABEE A 34,397 32,059
Non-controlling interests JEEEHI MR R (93) 268
34,304 32,327
Earnings per share for profit FRNBBEREAREEEA
attributable to owners of the E{af i ER B
Company during the year
— Basic (HK cents) —E K B 31 12.08 11.26
- Diluted (HK cents) —#5E (B 37 12.08 11.26
The above consolidated income statement should be read in _Eii4z & U SR EBATEM M s —HEIE o

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SEEREBRAR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &t E L - A F=F=+—HILFEZE

2025 2024
ZEZREF —EBME
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Vg3 FET FAET
Profit for the year FREH 34,304 32,327
Other comprehensive loss: HtZ2mEEE :
Iltems that may be reclassified BB EENHEE
subsequently to profit or loss: EamzEEH
Exchange differences arising on MEBINEBREE Y
translation of foreign operations PE R ZERB (6,234) (21,990)
Item that will not be reclassified HERTEENT
subsequently to profit or loss: EmzHE .
Fair value losses on equity investments at AT EFZAEMEE
fair value through other comprehensive IR A ZIRHERE >
income RTERE 14 (317) (374)
Other comprehensive loss for the year FREMEEEE (6,551) (22,364)
Total comprehensive income for the F£ARZMEUIALEZE
year 27,753 9,963
Total comprehensive income EEUARERBEN -
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ¥ N/NETEZZ N 27,846 9,695
Non-controlling interests JEEEHI MR S (93) 268
27,753 9,963

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should 47 & 2 U A 35 FE EA BB B PS5 — HFEI A8 o
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
HAEHmEHR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #F —E _AF=H=+—HILFEZ

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRFEEAES
Non-
Share Other Retained controlling
capital reserves earnings interests Total
R Hithfst RERA  FFEHIMER B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET AT FET FET
Balance as at 1 April 2023 RIZZZFENA—HZH&H 28,479 88,607 685,531 1,783 804,400
Profit for the year FRER - - 32,059 268 32,327
Exchange differences arising on translation of BERNEBEL ZERES
foreign operations - (21,990) - - (21,990)
Fair value losses on equity investments at fair value  RATEZAEMZERA 2 RE
through other comprehensive income REZ ATEEE - (374) = = (374)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2 (58 /WALE - (22,364) 32,059 268 9,963
Transfer of reserve upon expiry of options EREIREEEEE - (743) 743 = =
Transaction with owners: HEEAZENRS
Dividends paid BRARE = = (31,327) = (31,327)
Balance as at 31 March 2024 RIB_ME=A=+—-AZHKHR 28,479 65,500 687,006 2,051 783,036
Balance as at 1 April 2024 RZEZMEMNB—B 2z & 28,479 65,500 687,006 2,051 783,036
Profit for the year FREF - - 34,397 (93) 34,304
Exchange differences arising on translation of BEBIEBMELZERED
foreign operations - (6,234) - - (6,234)
Fair value losses on equity investments at fair value RATETAHMZERAZ
through other comprehensive income REREZ AFERBE - (317) - - (317)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2m (1) WALBE - (6,551) 34,397 (93) 27,753
Transfer of reserve upon expiry of options BREIREEEGE - (97) 97 - -
Transfer of loss on disposal of equity investments at  3%/A T EBBE M2 EUE HERE
fair value through other comprehensive income to R EMNGEEAEREET
retained earnings - 289 (289) - -
Transaction with owners: HBEFAZENRS
Dividends paid BRRE - - (22,784) - (22,784)
Balance as at 31 March 2025 RIE_RE=ZA=+—-AZ&H 28,479 59,141 698,427 1,958 788,005

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be 3t 4% & 18 25 88 B 35 & BA[E Y Y s — HFEIAE o
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
GMEHERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #F _— L _AF=H=+—HILFEZ

2025 2024
“EZRE ZEIME
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
i3 THET FRT
Cash flows from operating activities REXEBZINERE
Cash generated from operations REEREFX RS 35(a) 193,866 179,269
Interest paid 2T E (1,554) (6,327)
Income tax paid, net BAFIER - BEE (2,863) (10,515)
Net cash generated from operating activities &&= 2 FEEL RSB 189,449 162,427
Cash flows from investing activities BREEHZRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment EEE¥¥ HERRHE (14,630) (7,882)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME - BERREBZ
plant and equipment Frig™IA 35(b) 3,269 150
Interest received SUF B 6,291 2,894
Purchase of equity investments BERAFELAHEMEZE
measured at fair value through WASTENRERE
other comprehensive income (3,900) (1,546)
Proceeds from disposal of equity investments &% A FER A E M2 EUk
measured at fair value through other AStENREREMENIEA
comprehensive income 5,136 -
Repayment received from an associate H—REBE A WENER 525 =
Net cash used in investing activities REZHMAZIRE $5E (3,309) (6,384)
Cash flows from financing activities MEFHFAFRERE
Proceeds from bank borrowings IRITIEEPMSRIE 35,424 159,490
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITEE (73,994) (255,956)
Principal elements of lease payments HENRZzZEEH D (1,774) (2,540)
Dividends paid BENKRE (22,784) (31,327)
Net cash used in financing activities REEHFTAZIRE FEE 35(c) (63,128) (130,333)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  IRE&EKRIFEZEBYIENNFEE 123,012 25,710
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates ) FE =R &4 8h 57 £ (4,569) (2,061)
Cash and cash equivalents, ReERREEEY F4)
beginning of the year 161,874 138,225
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year & KRIBSHEY) K 18 280,317 161,874

The above consolidated cash flow statement should be read in  EFii4EEIRERERMEEFEMM T —HEEE-
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Suga International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together “the Group”) are principally engaged
in the research and development, manufacturing and sales of
electronic products, pet food and other pet-related products.
As at 31 March 2025, the Group has operations mainly in Hong
Kong, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and Vietnam.

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in Bermuda on 28 September 2001. The address
of the Company’s registered office is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 18 September 2002.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(@) Compliance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards (“HKFRSs") and the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (“HKCO")
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and requirements of the
HKCO Cap. 622.

(b) Historical cost convention
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
investment properties which are carried at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R 3R B 5

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

92

(c) Amendments to existing standards and

interpretation adopted by the Group

The following amendments to existing standards and

interpretation are mandatory for the first time for the

financial year beginning 1 April 2024 and have been

adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial

statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Hong Kong Interpretation 5

(Revised)

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current and
Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Lease Liability in Sale and

Leaseback

Presentation of Financial

Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a

Term Loan that Contains

a Repayment on Demand
Clause

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The adoption of these amendments to existing standards

and interpretation does not have significant impacts on

the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 2 REEE (4B)

(d) New standards, amendments to existing (d) EEREMBEEBRLKRIZERE
standards and interpretation that are not Fip 2z IhEE R IRB ERELT
yet effective and have not been early ER2E
adopted by the Group
The following new standards, amendments to existing THFERNIRBEAN Z BT AR
standards and interpretation have been issued but are not REERZZETNFNOB —HHA
effective for the financial year beginning 1 April 2024 and MM BFEBEGEREREN BR
have not been early adopted by the Group: EETKRIZERM .

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on or after

S TI=R -G A
Rz FERBEN
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 1 April 2025
EEGEERHE2158 (1BFTA) TRZ A R “EZhFMA—H
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Classification and Measurement of Financial 1 April 2026
HKFRS 7 Instruments
BEMBRSENFINRREBMT RMIAENDERTS “ETREMA—H
H|EZEAFTI (1BFIA)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Contracts Referencing Nature — Dependent 1 April 2026
HKFRS 7 Electricity
BEMBRSENFINRREBHMT FSTREABEBARABERNENESYN “ETREMA—H
H|EZEAFTI (1BFIA)
Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting 1 April 2026
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10, and HKAS 7 Standards — Volume 11
BEMBRSENE 1R -EBME SEYBRSEASHELFELE “ETREMA—H
WEER|FTR - BEMBFIRS 2L —E11%E
FOR - BBMFREERIE1058
KBEEGEAETR (B5T4)
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 1 April 2027
Statement
BEMBIRSERH185 BRI 2 RIRE “ETtHFMA—H
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: 1 April 2027
Disclosures
BEMBIRSERE19957 FRAHZEEERBERE | KE “ETtHFMA—H
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an To be determined
HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
BEMBRSENFI0RNREEGst RETHHEHMEATNGEREZHN e
R 552858 (1B5I40) BEHEIEA
The directors of the Group are in the process of REBEBEFENGERA LR AE
assessing the financial impact of the adoption of the B -REEREBITARZEZH
above new standards, amendments to existing standards ?%%Z%E BETaEHRE W ERN VIRA
and interpretation, and do not expect them to have a ZERBITIAKRZETEHARS
significant impact in the current reporting periods and HERIBERARIBELEEK
on foreseeable future transactions. The directors of the HEB AEBEEERNWEN ]
Group will adopt the new standards, amendments to BRANEBITIARZEEUFHED
existing standards and interpretation when they become ERWEN -RBEENBITIAR
effective. 55 % o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R 3R B 5

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

9L

(e) HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2027)

HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of financial
statements, introducing new requirements that will help
to achieve comparability of the financial performance of
similar entities and provide more relevant information
and transparency to users. Even though HKFRS 18 will
not impact the recognition or measurement of items in
the financial statements, its impacts on presentation and
disclosure are expected to be pervasive, in particular those
related to the statement of financial performance and
providing management-defined performance measures
within the financial statements.

Management is currently assessing the detailed implications
of applying the new standard on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements. From the high-level preliminary
assessment performed, the following potential impacts
have been identified:

(i) Although the adoption of HKFRS 18 will have no
impact on the Group’s net profit, the Group expects
that grouping items of income and expenses in the
statement of profit or loss into the new categories
will impact how operating profit is calculated and
reported. From the high-level impact assessment
that the Group has performed, the following items
might potentially impact operating profit:

o Foreign exchange differences currently aggregated
in the line item “other (losses)/gains — net” in
operating profit might need to be disaggregated,
with some foreign exchange gains or losses
presented below operating profit.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
(e) HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2027)
(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(Continued)

o HKFRS 18 has specific requirements on the
category in which derivative gains or losses
are recognised — which is the same category
as the income and expenses affected by the
risk that the derivative is used to manage.
Although the Group currently recognises
some gains or losses in operating profit
and others in finance costs, there might be
a change to where these gains or losses
are recognised, and the Group is currently
evaluating the need for change.

The line items presented on the primary financial
statements might change as a result of the application
of the concept of “useful structured summary” and the
enhanced principles on aggregation and disaggregation.
In addition, since goodwill will be required to be
separately presented in the statement of financial
position, the Group will disaggregate goodwill and other
intangible assets and present them separately in the
statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R 3R B 5

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(e) HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2027)
(Continued)

96

(iii)

(iv)

The Group does not expect there to be a significant
change in the information that is currently disclosed
in the notes because the requirement to disclose
material information remains unchanged; however,
the way in which the information is grouped
might change as a result of the aggregation/
disaggregation principles. In addition, there will be
significant new disclosures required for:

o management-defined performance measures;

o a break-down of the nature of expenses
for line items presented by function in the
operating category of the statement of profit
or loss — this break-down is only required for
certain nature expenses; and

o for the first annual period of application of
HKFRS 18, a reconciliation for each line item
in the statement of profit or loss between the
restated amounts presented by applying HKFRS
18 and the amounts previously presented
applying HKAS 1.

From a cash flow statement perspective, there will
be changes to how interest received and interest
paid are presented. Interest paid will be presented
as financing cash flows and interest received as
investing cash flows, which is a change from current
presentation as part of operating cash flows.

The Group will apply the new standard from its mandatory
effective date of 1 April 2027. Retrospective application
is required, and so the comparative information for the
financial year ending 31 March 2027 will be restated in
accordance with HKFRS 18.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial

risks: foreign exchange risk, cash flow and fair value

interest rate risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. The

Group's overall risk management programme focuses

on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks

to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s

performance.

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC
and Vietnam and its business transactions, assets
and liabilities are principally denominated in HKS$,
United States dollars (“US$”), Renminbi (“RMB"),
and Vietnamese Dong (“VND"). Foreign exchange
risk arises when future commercial transactions or
recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in
a currency that is not an entity's functional currency.
Management monitors foreign currency exchange
exposure and will take measures to minimise the
currency translation risk. As at 31 March 2025
and 2024, the Group has not used any financial
instruments to hedge against foreign exchange risk.

Management considers the foreign exchange risk
with respect to US$ is not significant as HK$ is
pegged against US$. The Group manages its foreign
exchange risk by closely monitoring the movement
of the foreign currency rates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R 3R B 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(@)
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Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, if both HK$ and
US$ had strengthened/weakened by 5% against
RMB with all other variables held constant, the
post-tax profit for each year would have changed
mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains
on translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies of the relevant
group companies, as follows:
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2025 2024
—ThHEF —ZTTNE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TFET

Post-tax profit increase/(decrease) BRI EIRFIIE I, CRiL)
— Strengthen 5% —FH1E5% 2,761 2,348
- Weakened 5% —BE5% (2,761) (2,348)

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, if both HK$ and
US$ had strengthened/weakened by 5% against
VND with all other variables held constant, the
post-tax profit for each year would have changed
mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains
on translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies of the relevant
group companies, as follows:
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ZEZHE “ETUE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET

Post-tax profit (decrease)/increase BrfREEF CRlzl) /18
- Strengthen 5% —F1E5% (2,117) (3,240)
— Weakened 5% — 82 E5% 2,117 3,240




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3
(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate

MBEREER (8§)

3.1 MBRKBEE (&)
(i) BEFERFEFE

risk

The Group's income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates as the Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets except for cash and cash
equivalents, details of which are disclosed in Note
18.

The Group's interest rate risk primarily relates to
its bank borrowings. Bank borrowings obtained
at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk. The Group currently does not
hedge its interest rate risk. However, management
monitors the related interest rate risk exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant
interest rate risk exposure should the need arise.
The interest rates and terms of repayment of bank
borrowings are disclosed in Note 19.

The Group has no fixed interest rate bank borrowings.
Therefore, it does not have any fair value interest rate
risk.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, if the interest rates
on bank borrowings had been 150 (2024: 150)
basis points higher/lower than the prevailing interest
rate, with all other variables held constant, post-tax
profit for the year would have been approximately
HK$28,000 (2024: HK$511,000) lower/higher,
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expense
on floating rate bank borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R 3R B 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk

100

(a)

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25

Risk management

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation
to its cash and cash equivalents, amounts
due from associates, trade receivables and
deposits and other receivables (except
for prepayments). The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk is the carrying amounts
of these financial assets.

The Group's credit risk is concentrated on
a number of major and long-established
customers. Trade receivables from the top
five customers accounted for approximately
43% (2024: 55%) of the Group’s total trade
receivables. The Group has policies in place to
ensure that sales are made to customers with
appropriate credit histories and to limit the
amount of credit exposure to any individual
customer.

The Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade receivable at each
balance sheet date to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. The Group’s past experience in
collection of trade receivables falls within the
recorded allowances. In order to minimise
credit risk to the Group, the Group has certain
non-recourse factoring arrangements with

banks to cover the credit risk.

3

MBEREERE (8§)

3.1 MBRKBEE (&)
(iii) 155 /EAE

(a)

5 B

rEEREREERES
EEY BERBEQF
HIEREEUREMAE
B (FEEERMR
]) AREERR K&
BAZzREEERR
HREVBEERBE
ZiEERR-

AEBZEERREE
EPRZEETERER
BEE - RBEATRZ
FEUW B 5 RG4S &
EREKEZSRANARE
#43% (ZE N4 .
55%) - REEBFE
BE -mAEEEEDR
RFZz2EFHE MR
FIHETAENERZE
Bxo

FEBRKEGE B
5 & IR {E B FE IR B 5 BR
Tz P) W [o] & 28 0 DB
R LA BJ IR [B] & 28 1F
EHREBE ~EE
BEWEZEKE SR
TEEREERREE
RMeRnBERELAEHR
ZEERR ~EEA
RITFITIETEERE
RERH REERAR
RHRE-



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Risk management (Continued)

The credit risk for cash at banks are limited
because the counterparties are banks with
high credit-ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies. Transactions in relation
to equity fund investments are only carried out
with financial institutions of high reputation.
The Group has policies that limit the amount of
credit exposure to any one financial institution.

Other financial assets at amortised cost include
deposits and other receivables and amounts
due from associates. Management assesses
the credit quality of the counterparties, taking
into account the historical risk of default and
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has four types of financial assets
that are subject to the expected credit loss
model:

Trade receivables

o Deposits and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

. Amounts due from associates
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R 3R B 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

102

(b)
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Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

While cash and cash equivalents are also
subject to the impairment requirements of
HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss is
insignificant.

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk on an ongoing basis throughout each
reporting period. To assess whether there is
a significant increase in credit risk the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial asset as at the reporting
date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information, including but not limited to the
following indicators.

o internal credit rating;
. external credit rating;
o actual or expected significant adverse

changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant change to the
debtor/borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations;

o significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the
debtor/borrower, including changes
in the payment status of the debtor/
borrower in the Group and changes
in the operating results of the debtor/
borrower.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

(b)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables, except for those
individually significant trade receivables or
trade receivables at default which are tested
individually.

Measurement of expected credit loss on
individual basis

Trade receivables relating to customers with
known financial difficulties or significant
doubt on collection of receivables are assessed
individually for provision for impairment
allowance. As at 31 March 2025, the loss
allowance in respect of these receivables are
HK$4,136,000 (2024: HK$4,136,000).

Measurement of expected credit loss on
collective basis

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped based
on geographical region and shared credit
risk characteristics. The expected loss rates
are based on probabilities of default and
loss rates from external credit ratings,
industry-specific data or other internal and
external credit data sources. The historical
loss rates are further adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factors on the global
economic growth affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3

(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

104

MBEREERE (8§)
31 MBERER (&

(b)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on
collective basis (Continued)

The following table presents the balances of
gross carrying amount and the respective loss
allowance as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

(iii) 155 EAE ()

(b) HMBEEEHRE &

/\Hﬁfgfgﬁﬁfa,gﬁfﬁ
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HEEmAEERSBEER

B RiSeR -

2025 2024

k- e - “ETHE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHTT FAET

Gross carrying amount IREARE 235,229 266,108
Loss allowance BigRE (3,230) (2,568)
Lifetime expected credit loss rate ZHITEHAE EBEE 1.4% 1.0%

Trade receivables are written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Impairment losses on trade receivables
are presented as net impairment losses on
financial assets within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the same line
item. No trade receivables previously provided
for were written off as at 31 March 2025 and
2024.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

(b)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost

For other financial assets at amortised cost
including deposits and other receivables and
amounts due from associates, the Group
regularly monitors the financial positions of
these companies/counterparties to assess
their recoverability. As at 31 March 2025, loss
allowances of HK$575,000 (2024: HK$1,100,000)
and HK$6,978,000 (2024: HK$5,478,000) have
been provided for an amount due from an
associate and other receivables, respectively.

These financial assets at amortised cost,
except for amounts due from associates
and other receivables for which impairment
losses have been provided for, are considered
to be of low credit risk primarily because
historically they had no history of default and
the counterparties had strong capacity to
meet their contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term. Management does not
expect any significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition and any losses from
non-performance by these counterparties.
The Group assessed the expected credit losses
for these receivables were insignificant under
12-month expected loss method. Thus, loss
allowances recognised for these balances was
close to zero.

3
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R 3R B 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

106

(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iv) Ligquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes
maintaining sufficient cash balances and the
availability of funding through committed credit
facilities and takes into account all available
information on future business environment in the
countries in which the Group and its customers
and suppliers operate. The Group manages its
liquidity risk by controlling the level of inventories,
closely monitoring the turnover days of receivables,
monitoring its working capital requirements
and keeping credit lines available. Management
monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s bank
facilities and cash and cash equivalents on the basis
of expected cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MBAKEIRE (@)
(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 M#HEMER (&)
(iv) Liguidity risk (Continued) (iv) HEEZEE (&)

The table below analyses the Group's financial TRERAEBEZHMBEEE
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on D EREEHE SO
the remaining period at the balance sheet date to HEfer TEARIBI D & B R 2
the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed FER - RNFTIFESEAS
in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash ARIBIRE RS o
flows.

Between Between
On Less than 1and2 2and5 Over
demand 1 year years years 5 years Total
BRERK OIR-F -ERF RELF HBERF A%
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
THEr THx THx THx  THx  TExn

Asat 31 March 2025 RZE_RF=HA=+—H

Trade payables B EZER - 226,724 - - - 226,724
Other payables and ~ EMENTIEREER
accruals - 21,000 - - - 21,000
Bank borrowings RITEE - 2,225 - - = 2,225
Interest payments on  fEEF B
borrowings - 146 - - = 146
Lease liabilities HEBR - 1,968 199 465 4,411 7,043
- 252,063 199 465 4,411 257,138

Asat31 March 2024 RZE-_ME=A=+—H

Trade payables BB RERT - 188,729 = = - 188,729
Other payables and ~ EMENTIEREER
accruals - 17,650 - - - 17,650
Bank borrowings ®ITEE - 38570 2,225 - - 40,795
Interest payments on fEEF S
borrowings - 2,652 146 - - 2,798
Lease liabilities HEaE - 1,859 1,767 465 4,780 8,871
- 249,460 4,138 465 4,780 258,843
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R 3R B 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MBEAKEIRE (@)
(CONTINUED)
3.2 Capital risk management 32 BEXRAKER
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to AEBREBEAZBREARELRE
safequard the Group’s ability to continue as a going BRENFELSE NMARKRESK
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders EHREEMFOESRME UK
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an HEFRETEARGERE  LUBEEERMK
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. Ko
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, AEFNRABERNGEE  AEET
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to EREBEORRLKNTZREELE
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce BOHKROMILEEEE  LUREE
debts. e
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing AEEREEGBILEEXERE LR
ratio. This ratio is calculated as total bank borrowings R IRITTEEREREEEE
divided by total equity as shown in the consolidated BERTEEGRTE -
balance sheet.
2025 2024
—_E"RE TE P4
HK$000 HK$'000
FAT TFAT
Total bank borrowings RITE B 2,225 40,795
Total equity R 48 %R 788,005 783,036
Gearing ratio BEBBLXE 0.3% 5.2%
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 WMBEAREIE (@)

(CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation 33 AFEMKE
The table below analyses the Group’s financial assets and TRAXREARZZZAERZE
liabilities carried at fair value as at 31 March 2025 and ZHE=ZB=+—HELATFEAKR
2024 by level of the inputs to valuation techniques used 2 BEERBBERFEQATEM
to measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised into RzHmEREZBABREBRIELZ
three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows: DM ZERABR LA FEREHRE

BRORUT=ZERER :

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for . FAREENEERGET IS
identical assets or liabilities (level 1). ZIRECREAE) (F—4K) o

. Inputs other than quoted prices included within . BN ZBABE BIEE—
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, B EREER) %
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, B (BMEHEE®KREE) AE
derived from prices) (level 2). ZEEREBRE (FIHR) o

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based o WIMUFRETIHZEE BIF
on observable market data (that is, unobservable FAIEZBMAE) AREZE
inputs) (level 3). EXEE (E=ZH -
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B %5 ¥R 3R B 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MBERKEER (@)
(CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AFEEET @)
As at 31 March 2025 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RZE_RE=ZA=+—H B—k Bk E=4R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FAET FAT
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair BAFETAEMEE
value through other WAZHBEE
comprehensive income - - 5,098 5,098
Financial assets at fair value  RAFERLABGTZZ
through profit or loss MBEE 3 - - 3
3 - 5,098 5,101
As at 31 March 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
A_E_NE=HF=+—H Bk B4R E=4 wast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FAET FAET
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair BATESAEMEZE
value through other WAZBBEE
comprehensive income - - 6,651 6,651
Financial assets at fair value AT EFLARBTZ
through profit or loss MBEE 52 - - 52
52 - 6,651 6,703

There are no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during

the year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(a) Financial instruments in level 1

The fair values of financial instruments traded in
active markets are based on quoted market prices
at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded
as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for the listed equity
instruments held by the Group is the current bid
price. These instruments are included in level 1.
Instruments included in level 1 classified as trading
securities comprise primarily equity investments
listed on the National Association of Securities
Dealers Automated Quotations (the “NASDAQ").

(b) Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market are determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data
where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs
required to assess the fair value of an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in
level 2. The Group does not have level 2 financial
instruments.

B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

3 WMHERKERE (@

3.3 AFEMEE (@)

€]

(b)

EEBRERBRAT 2024/25 F3]
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B E st & o i 7] LUE 57 3t
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3
(CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

MBEREERE (8§)
3.3 AFEME (&)

(c) Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024,
the Group's financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are level 3
financial assets.

The fair values of the Group’s financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income are
determined based on the net asset value of the
funds calculated with reference to the quoted prices
in active markets of the underlying investments of
the funds.

The following table presents the changes in level
3 instruments for the years ended 31 March 2025
and 2024:

(c) F=RzHITR

fH—EBENZETEHAEL
FURRABSHHEHEERE
E-CAZTEBRE=MH-RN
“ECRFRIZEZNFE=
A=+—B x&EERATE
SEAHMEEWRASEZY
BEEBRNE=-BRUBEE-

rEBRAFELSAHEME
EWAZMBEEDZ2SE
TZHEBARENEEN S Z
BREANBEZETEERERE
= o

TRETE=ZHRIEREE
_ECAFRIZFEZNF=
B=+—HLEEZEF:

Unlisted equity funds

JELEHRAES
2025 2024
“EZhREF T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
Beginning of the year REH 6,651 5,479
Addition NE 3,900 1,546

Fair value losses recognised in Hh2EUTA RFESE 2

other comprehensive income AF{EEE (317) (374)
Disposal HE (5,136) =
End of the year REL 5,098 6,651
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

Estimated write-downs of inventories to
net realisable value
The Group writes down inventories to net realisable value

(a)

based on an assessment of the realisability of inventories.
Write-downs of inventories are recorded where events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may
not be realised. The identification of write-downs requires
the use of judgement and estimates. These estimates
are based on the market condition and the historical
experience of selling prices of similar nature. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of inventories
and write-downs of inventories in the period in which
such estimate has been changed.

A

B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

EEGSHESt R FIER

MENGEBYBREENZHHRE
AERETHRES G -EEENE
RSBt BUERR IR RITE X & e

st RAE BB EERMAEMER
AZE U REE BERARBERE
EEAENBREMFTEMS-

AEBMARRFHGES REBR FAEH
AR REB L ERRABERER
HE-BERARRTEMBRFEER
BERGERABEHFEERAE 245
RARR I T X545 ©

(a) FEMAZTLRIEZE
Bt
FEERBFEZAESRBE RAG
REEMRAERNERFE-EFF

By » B 5C &% 17 & HURL (5 o 8 Bl R
BRERAMG KRGS -&FMEETD
BiuikFETEEBZBEER
mEE - ZRPERKMEFTELHA
R 2E=RRTE8Fa2REE
WEMHZLEHPRRNZEFE
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B %5 ¥R 3R B 5

L CRITICALACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

114

(b)

(c)

(d)

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets (other
than goodwill)

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. Impairment loss on such assets is
recognised as the amount by which the carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in Note 41.4. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use, which are based on the best
information available to reflect the amount obtainable at
each reporting date, from the disposal of the asset in an
arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, willing
parties, after deducting the costs of disposal. These
require the use of estimates.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment, in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in Note 41.4. The recoverable amounts
of cash generating units have been determined based
on value-in-use calculations prepared on the basis of
management’s assumptions and estimates (Note 41.4).
These calculations require the use of estimates.

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s historical and existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
and inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.1.

L EEGEHESRAE (&)

(b)

()

(d)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

L CRITICALACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(e)

()

Income taxes

The Group is subject to various taxes in a number
of jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current income tax and
deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences are recognised when management considers
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax losses
can be utilised. Estimating the amount of deferred
tax asset arising from tax losses and other temporary
differences requires a process that involves determining
appropriate provisions for income tax expense, forecasting
future year's taxable income and assessing our ability to
utilise tax benefits through future earnings. When the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax
assets and income tax charges in the period in which such
estimate is changed.

Fair values of financial assets

The fair values of financial assets that are traded in an
active market are determined by the quoted market
prices.

For the fair values of financial assets not traded in
an active market, the Group would use the valuation
techniques with the assistance of independent
professional valuers to estimate the fair values. The
methodologies, models, assumptions and parameters
used in valuing these financial instruments require
judgement by management at each balance sheet date.
For further details refer to Note 3.3.

B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

L EEGEHLERFIE (&

(e)

(f)

EEBRERBRAT 2024/25 F3]

FRigii
AEBEEBMZER LI EEZR
ROREFMSREFRBRAFLHERX
FE-BEREZEXGRFTEZRR
MERENABEFTRTE - H&
RIMBERRBIN T LR EBAR
EERTERTEHENRRER R
TEIEPRISIR B

EEEERRRKAERRERR R
MR BRI R EENREER
BRI AERETERERZ
BIEMBEE -t MEBEGBERH
thE R ZESIMNVELEFRSNEE
THEE BENMERAXEES
EEA BRARREENERRIK
ARFEHFETRBRKREND
BREER - HBEMBERERLE
AR ERERSEEGTED
MR BIERNBE ERPIFR
F o

MBREZATFE
EERTHEEZUBEEZ AT
ERTISRERT

MUEEELZRTHEEBEZMBEE
ZRFEME  FEBEBIEZE
BMEMZH TARAGERIGGE
SARFE-REMBIARAZMGETS
EBEE-BREASHUBTECERE
REREEBFLFE E—DF

BRESRIEE3.3

115



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥R 3R B 5

4L CRITICALACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND L EEFFHEFRAE (&

JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(g) Fair values of investment properties
The Group appointed an independent professional valuer
to assess the fair values of the investment properties.
In determining the fair values, the valuer has utilised a
method of valuation which involves certain estimates.
Management has exercised their judgement and are
satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of the
current market conditions. Where the actual result is
different from the original estimate, such difference will
impact the carrying value of the investment properties
and fair value gains/losses on investment properties in
the year in which such estimate has been changed. For
further details refer to Note 8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (“CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors
collectively who make strategic decisions and review the
internal reporting of the Group in order to assess performance
and allocate resources.

There are two reportable segments for the Group:
Electronic products — Develop, manufacture and sale of
electronic products (other than pet-

related electronic products)

Pet-related products — Manufacture and distribution of pet-
related products
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of the results of reportable segments.
Finance income and costs, corporate income and expenses,
fair value gains or losses of financial assets, impairment loss
on interest in an associate, bank borrowings, share of results
of associates and income tax expenses are not included in the
results for each operating segment that are reviewed by the
CODM. Other information provided to the CODM is measured
in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated financial
statements.

Revenue from external customers is shown after elimination of
inter-segment revenue. Sales between segments, which mainly
consist of sale of electronic components and products among
subsidiaries, are carried out at mutually agreed terms. Revenue
from external parties is measured in a manner consistent with
that in the consolidated income statement.

Assets of reportable segments exclude current and deferred
income tax assets, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, interests in and amounts due from associates, and
corporate assets, all of which are managed on a central basis.
Liabilities of reportable segments exclude bank borrowings,
current and deferred income tax liabilities and corporate
liabilities. These are part of the reconciliation to total balance
sheet assets and liabilities.

5
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118

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 9HEEHGE
The segment information provided to the CODM for the MBEE_SE_AFE=HA=Z+—HILEE
reportable segments for the year ended 31 March 2025 is as AE2FDERNFESERRXAREZD
follows: FERNT
2025
ZEZEHEF
Electronic  Pet-related
products products Elimination Total
B
EFEm HHRAE & iy =
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET THET THET
Revenue Wz
Revenue from external customers ShRE R W 1,195,637 192,370 - 1,388,007
Inter-segment revenue AR W R 135,357 63,682 (199,039) -
1,330,994 256,052 (199,039) 1,388,007
Segment results DEES 40,117 11,377 51,494
A reconciliation of segment results to ) B3 48 B R E A 2
profit for the year is as follows: HERWMT -
Segment results DIEES 51,494
Unallocated expenses — net ROEHZ— 588 (19,034)
Other income Hi A 8,414
Other losses — net HEsE—#488 (3.942)
Operating profit FES=0inkl 36,932
Finance income RMEWRA 6,291
Finance costs B R AN (1,779)
Profit before income tax BRPTFIEAI R T 41,444
Income tax expense FTiEMEx (7,140)
Profit for the year FREF] 34,304
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 SEEN @

Electronic  Pet-related
products products Unallocated Total
EFEM BYVHEBESR Hi =L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET THET THET

Other segment information HittpEER
Depreciation of property, plant and ~ #% -BERREHRE

equipment 28,573 262 1,953 30,788
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 2,038 323 2,320 4,681

Additions to non-current assets (other FEIERBEE (NHHE
than interests in associates, financial AT Z#E#H HHEEE
assets and deferred tax assets) FARIERIAE EFRIN 15,678 858 19,049 35,585
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120

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 9HEEHGE
The segment information provided to the CODM for the MBEE_S_WNE=ZA=Z+—HILEE
reportable segments for the year ended 31 March 2024 is as AE2FDERNFESERRXAREZD
follows: FERNT
2024
ZEZImE
Electronic Pet-related
products products Elimination Total
EEkY)
BTEMD 1B E S i At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FETT FETT
Revenue Wz
Revenue from external customers ShIRE P U 1,160,198 240,095 = 1,400,293
Inter-segment revenue DA 166,121 53,905 (220,026) =
1,326,319 294,000 (220,026) 1,400,293
Segment results DEEE 48,389 4,921 53,310
A reconciliation of segment results to D58 RFPREF 2
profit for the year is as follows: HIERAOT -
Segment results DEER 53,310
Unallocated expenses — net IR — 3% (15,403)
Other income Han A 6,239
Other gains - net Hhzm — %8 810
Operating profit FES=pinl 44,956
Finance income RE WA 2,894
Finance costs BB A (6,384)
Profit before income tax PRPTS IR AT EF] 41,466
Income tax expense FriSinf sz (9,139)
Profit for the year FEREF] 32,327
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 SEENGE

Electronic Pet-related

products products  Unallocated Total
R

BEfEM HEEm HiE EEl

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THTT THTT THETT THET

Other segment information HthpEER
Depreciation of property, plant and ~ #% -BE KRR HITE

equipment 33,805 193 1,304 35,302
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 1,718 447 2,320 4,480

Additions to non-current assets (other HREIERBEE (RHE
than interests in associates, financial AT Z ##% HHEEE
assets and deferred tax assets) FARIERRIEE ERRIN 7,748 960 5,219 13,927
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B %5 ¥R 3R B 5

122

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 49EEN @)
The segment assets and segment liabilities as at 31 March 2025 N _E_RAF=ZRA=+—HMOEEE
and the reconciliation to the total assets and total liabilities are EoEaEUREEERERBEREE
as follows: HHEWT :
2025
Sl . 5
Electronic Pet-related
products products Total
B
BFEm MR E R =5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT FATT FHET
Segment assets DEEEE 867,459 74,416 941,875
Unallocated: FoEC :
Property, plant and equipment ME BB MRS 19,915
Right-of-use assets FTREEE 18,121
Investment properties SEYE 16,768
Deferred income tax assets EIEFTSMEE 1,327
Amount due from an associate [ U — B Bt = A B R IE 585
Income tax recoverable EEE T 66
Other investments HMwE 5,101
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 51,903
Other unallocated assets HtkDEEE 27,652
Total assets per consolidated REBEBBEXRT
balance sheet BEEEE 1,083,313
Segment liabilities DEAR 258,383 13,332 271,715
Unallocated: KoEC -
Bank borrowings RITEE 2,225
Deferred income tax liabilities FEIEFTEMAE 734
Income tax payable FETFRER 15,937
Lease liabilities HEAaE 1,660
Other unallocated liabilities HiknEEAE 3,037
Total liabilities per consolidated REBEBBERT
balance sheet BEEE 295,308
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The segment assets and segment liabilities as at 31 March 2024

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

ﬁ *E ﬁ *,:I' (H\E)

R_ZE_MNE=ZA=+—HBHNOHEEE

and the reconciliation to the total assets and total liabilities are EofaBEUKEEEHRERBELE
as follows: BHEERNT .
2024
ko 1:]- =
Electronic Pet-related
products products Total
BEY
BFEmM 18 8 E o =51
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET TFAT
Segment assets NEEE 872,090 82,576 954,666
Unallocated: ROEC -
Property, plant and equipment MEWERERE 22,108
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 20,440
Investment properties B d—CV/ES 19,462
Deferred income tax assets BIEFTISINE E 997
Amount due from an associate 34— YNSIE/ = 585
Income tax recoverable AU B TSR 1,071
Other investments Htig & 6,703
Cash and cash equivalents RERRETEEY 26,900
Other unallocated assets Bk DA EE 26,166
Total assets per consolidated REBEBBRATE
balance sheet EiBE 1,079,098
Segment liabilities nEAaR 223,673 12,577 236,250
Unallocated: ROEC -
Bank borrowings RITEE 40,795
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFFISINEE 1,269
Income tax payable FETFRER 12,251
Lease liabilities HEaR’ 3,269
Other unallocated liabilities HtknEEAE 2,228
Total liabilities per consolidated REEEaBRATNE
balance sheet B4R %E 296,062

EERREBRERART 2024/25 FiF 123



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R 3R B 5

124

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from external customers by
country of destination for the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024 is as follows:

ﬁ*ﬁﬁﬂ(mﬁ)
AEBHE_ZE_AFERZEOF=
B=+—BHBLFEZENHMBERE D2
SPREFERWEDITAOT -

2025 2024
ZEZhREF T
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
The United States of America (the “USA") EHRERE (=) 547,504 617,211
The PRC* FRE 525,804 497,281
Japan HZx 104,605 111,523
Singapore Hrhnig 75,020 19,730
France pEl 52,884 51,387
Australia TELN 38,882 39,463
United Kingdom HHE 19,500 19,604
Germany = — 5,883
Others Hth 23,808 38,211
1,388,007 1,400,293

* The PRC, including Hong Kong and Taiwan * RE BEEEREE

An analysis of the Group’s non-current assets, excluding
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, deferred income tax assets, non-current other

rERBRMRI D ZIFERBEE (T8
BRAFELSAEMEEBRAZMZSE
ENBRIEFFSMEE  IFREH B U

receivables and interests in associates, by geographical locations BEURREE AR 2 #m) 2uT !
is as follows:
2025 2024
—E_AfF ZEINE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
The PRC* TR 232,386 240,601
Vietnam HiEg 75,305 83,268
307,691 323,869
* The PRC, including Hong Kong and Taiwan L HE BIEEEREE

For the year ended 31 March 2025, external revenue of
approximately HK$298,761,000 (2024: HK$380,805,000)
was generated from two (2024: two) major customers. The
customers accounted for 10% or more (2024: 10% or more) of
the Group’s revenue.

No other customer accounted for more than 10% of the
Group's revenue for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25

BHE_Z_AFERA=ZR=+t—HL=E
E > 9NERUR 35 49298,761,0008 75 (Z=
Z Y4 : 380,805 ooo%m) V=R (_
T PO ﬁﬁ%)zx%ﬁ ZERP 1L
AEFBKZFI0%RMU F (ZE_MHE
10% 3 U L) °

BHE_Z_H1&#KR_ZT_MWME=A
=+ —HIEFEE  HEE ﬂﬂ )5152K$
E W mEBE10% -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance costs
are charged to the consolidated income statement during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their costs less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 35-48 years (over the land lease
terms)

Leasehold improvements 5-10 years

Plant and machinery 5 years

Furniture and equipment 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amounts and are recognised within
“other (losses)/gains — net” in the consolidated income
statement.

6
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R 3R B 5

6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

6 ME- -BER=E (@&

Leasehold Plant and Furniture and
Buildings  improvement machinery equipment Total
1BF MHEMEEE BB Rt 83 ENET At

HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000

FHET FHET FET FHET FET
As at 1 April 2023 RZEZ=£MAE—H
Cost A 212,423 82,068 172,496 62,814 529,801
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2RI ERAE (41,509) (64,023) (124,425) (53,380) (283,337)
Net book amount REFE 170,914 18,045 48,071 9,434 246,464
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-_E-_NE=B=+—-HLEE
Opening net book amount FREFE 170,914 18,045 48,071 9,434 246,464
Additions HE - 298 4,453 3,150 7,901
Disposals HE S S (1 8) (19
Depreciation e (5,110) (7,976) (16,957) (5,259) (35,302)
Exchange differences ERER (5,934) (555) (1,646) (350) (8,485)
Closing net book amount FHRIEMFE 159,870 9,812 33,910 6,967 210,559
As at 31 March 2024 AZE-_mMEZRA=+—H
Cost A 205,318 78,977 168,819 62,379 515,493
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  REITERAE (45,448) (69,165) (134,909) (55,412) (304,934)
Net book amount REFE 159,870 9,812 33,910 6,967 210,559
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE_Z-RE=-R=+—-HLEE
Opening net book amount F1 Bﬁﬁlﬂé 159,870 9,812 33,910 6,967 210,559
Additions HE - 299 9,934 4,363 14,596
Disposals HE - = (5) (9) (14)
Depreciation e (5,698) (4,347) (16,219) (4,524) (30,788)
Exchange differences ERER (2,139) (14) (484) (108) (2,745)
Closing net book amount FHRIREFE 152,033 5,750 27,136 6,689 191,608
As at 31 March 2025 RZE-EHE=A=+—H
Cost D% 202,997 79,258 164,417 63,927 510,599
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  RFEFERAE (50,964) (73,508) (137,281) (57,238) (318,991)
Net book amount REFE 152,033 5,750 27,136 6,689 191,608

Depreciation of HK$16,219,000 (2024: HK$16,957,000) and
HK$14,569,000 (2024: HK$18,345,000) has been charged
to cost of sales and general and administrative expenses,

respectively, in the consolidated income statement for the year

ended 31 March 2025.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had no pledge of
property, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE

LIABILITIES

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use
by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components.
The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the
lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-
alone prices.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable (if any).

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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128

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the

following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
and

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date less any lease incentives received (if any).

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s
useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of

low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
(@) Balances recognised in the consolidated

B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

7 ERREEREEHE (B
(@) REEEEARRERZE

balance sheet [
2025 2024
“E"AHEF “EUE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAEIT
Right-of-use assets EHEEE
Properties LY ES 2,177 3,812
Leasehold land FHE i 16,511 17,221
Land use rights o (s B A 56,359 59,046
75,047 80,079
Lease liabilities HEAR
Current portion mENE 1,859 1,777
Non-current portion JERENEB 1,891 3,582
3,750 5,359

Right-of-use assets by geographical locations are as

rES N2 ERAEEENT !

follows:

2025 2024
—E-RE “EINE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THT
The PRC* FRE 54,118 57,845
Vietnam 2] 20,929 22,234
75,047 80,079

e The PRC, including Hong Kong and Taiwan e FE BIEEEREE

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended
31 March 2025 were approximately HK$670,000 (2024:
HK$6,026,000), which mainly represented warehouse of
the Group.

Disposal of the right-of-use assets during the year
ended 31 March 2024 was approximately HK$392,000,
which represented the early termination of lease on the
properties in the PRC. No disposal of the right-of-use
assets was noted during the year ended 31 March 2025.

BE_ T _HE=-B=+—HI®*E

ErRBEGTEREEELNG670,0008 T
“E N4 6,026,000 7T)

HIXEBiEAEBZARE-

BHE_ T _HWHE=-B=+—HI*=E
Eﬁ%@ﬁﬁ&éémwzooo%m:
HiEREKIEHEBEURTEZY
¥ HE_T_RE=ZA=1+—H
EEE TEIEFHEEE-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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7 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated

130

(c)
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income statement

7 EREREEREE&ER (@)

(b) RFEWEHRERDZEEE

2025 2024
—E-RE —E 4
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHTT FHET

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEEINE
Properties LY ES 2,305 2,053
Leasehold land e 710 710
Land use rights ot (s B A 1,666 1,717
4,681 4,480
Interests on lease liabilities HEaBHNER 222 276
Expenses relating to short-term leases BT ERRM M 891 1,084

The total cash outflow for leases during the year ended
31 March 2025 was approximately HK$2,887,000 (2024:
HK$3,900,000).

Depreciation of HK$1,666,000 (2024: HK$1,717,000) and
HK$3,015,000 (2024: HK$2,763,000) has been charged
to cost of sales and general and administrative expenses,
respectively, in the consolidated income statement for the
year ended 31 March 2025.

The Group’s leasing activities and how
these are accounted for

The Group leases various office premises and warehouses.
Rental contracts are typically made for fixed terms of 1
to 3 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease arrangements do not impose any
covenants.

The Group also has leasehold land in Hong Kong and land
lease arrangements with the local government agencies in
the PRC and Vietnam.

(c)

HE_Z£_HAHF=ZB=+—H
EFEFE AENRESRHEED
72,887,000 T (ZZ= M4 ¢
3,900,000 7T) ©

BE_ S _RE=-BA=1+—HIL=E
FE > T E1,666,0008 T (ZE MM
£ 11,717,000 7T) %3,015,000%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation. These include properties
held for a currently undetermined use. Investment properties
are measured initially at its cost including all direct costs
attributable to the properties.

After initial recognition, the investment properties are stated
at its fair value based on valuation by an external independent
valuer. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the
investment properties are recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment properties is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the property disposed and is recognised in profit or
loss.

B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

kY E S
REMEEBRNESR R E A E
MBEZTMR/HIEF ZEREY
XOERNBFERREE IR -BE
VRS RAA (BEYEREFEER
BESEIS L

RYPHERE REVERBRINEGE
VEEMETZHEREAFEIK-
RENEZATEEHEEZRTZNE
BRELHBZBERER -

HEREYMEZRENERDHEMRR
MRFRAMEEYEZREEMEZ
AR WRBEAERD

2025 2024
- —ZTTNE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Non-current assets — at fair value ERBEE—RAFE
At beginning of year REL] 19,462 =
Addition hE - 15,759
Fair value (loss)/gain NEE (B8 WaE (2,694) 3,768
Exchange loss PE R 518 = (65)
At end of year REHL 16,768 19,462
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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8

132

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
(@) Amounts recognised in profit or loss for
investment properties

8

REME (B)
(@) MREMERIBED#EREZE
L]

2025 2024
—_ERE TE P4
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Fair value (loss)/gain recognised in other REAM (B518) W AR
(losses)/gains — net ZAF(E (BB518) s —
FEE (2,694) 3,768

(b) The fair value of the Group's investment properties at
31 March 2025 were based on valuation carried out by
Vigers Appraisal and Consulting Limited, an independent
qualified professional valuer. The fair value (loss)/gain is
included in “other (losses)/gains — net” for the year ended
31 March 2025.

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s investment properties were valued at 31 March
2025 by an independent professional qualified valuer who hold
a recognised relevant professional qualification and have recent
experience in the locations and segments of the investment
properties valued.

The Group's finance department reviews the valuations
performed by the independent valuer for financial reporting
purposes. These valuation results are then reported to the
Group's management for discussions and review in relation to
the valuation processes and the reasonableness of valuation
results.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
Valuation techniques

For investment properties of the Group, the valuation was
determined using the direct comparison approach. Sales prices
of comparable properties in close proximity are adjusted for
differences in key attributes such as property size. The most
significant inputs into this valuation approach are price per
square metre.

Information about fair value measurements
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

Fair value Valuation Significant
Description HK$'000 technique(s) inputs
AFE
fik TR fhER A BEXBAE
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
ZRIRE o143

SA=+-B | =5=t+-A

8

B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

REME (7

(& {E Rl
MAEEZRENEMNS  EED D
EELBUATEE  WER &R %
CHEBRREYERESIEEE
ERETHE BEESEZREAH
ANEBET S KER

EREXRFAANEZHAEET
AFEHEZEH (F=H)

Relationship of
Range of significant inputs significant inputs to
HKS fair value
EXBAEER EXBAEAATE
B 2Rtk
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
Sk 5 13
=RA=+-H ZA=1+-H

Investment properties 16,768 19,462 Direct Price per sg.m.
comparison
approach

RENE BELEE TRREHR

8,754.71 per sq.m 10,159.27 per sq.m  The higher the price
(probability-weighted (probability-weighted ~ per sq.m., the higher

average) average)  the fair value and
vice versa.

§T15K8,754.71 BYHRI0159.27 SFAAERAR
(Br=mETs) (BEmETH ATERR
RZ7 Ao
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R 3R B 5

9 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

9 EREE

Customer Product Patents and
relationship development  trademarks Total
ZRH% EmfE FiNREE fst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET FAT FAT
As at 1 April 2023 and RIEZ=FNA—HRK
31 March 2024 ZE-NE=R
=+—H
Cost B 5,584 4,986 600 11,170
Accumulated amortisation and REEHERRE
impairment (5,584) (4,986) (600) (11,170)
Net book amount RmEE - - - -
As at 31 March 2025 RZEZH&=B=+—H
Cost B 5,584 4,986 600 11,170
Accumulated amortisation and REEERAE
impairment (5.584) (4,986) (600) (11,170)
Net book amount RmEE - - - -

The Group's intangible assets were fully amortised or impaired

as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

AEBNEFEEENR _SE 18K

TECMEZRA=+—HEHEH IR

Be
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 GOODWILL

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents
the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date
fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash-
generating units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
a potential impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is
compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher
of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.

10

B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

-
WENBRASEEBERIEEBEN
B REERBL2EAFEFR MRS S
BRI BEWED ZERTAREZ WRE
HREATEBHAKRBZEHNEES
BzAVEZEE

MBENEAMS XBEHMESZH
BNORERBARZ DN G HMENE
ZEBEEEEU(REEELEM) K
REELBEUARN -BOEBEZRE
U EMNENEEREAMAREEEN
ERpEZRBAER - BEDOREED
BERETER-

BESFETAERS NEBAFMHH
IR 1B e o BR T BT BE W 3R RL(E B 0 fF
EEREZERS BEREERT KOS
BFLLE AW RBEEAEREERR
FERHEMNEZRBE - EMBERD
FHERD A< BEBRAEERE -

2025 2024

Sl - 3 “BIME

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHETT

Beginning and end of the year MREF RFHL 3,949 3,949

The Group's goodwill is related to the acquisitions of 50%
equity interest of Suga Technology Limited and 15% equity
interest of Suga Technology Hong Kong Limited, both of which
are wholly owned subsidiaries principally engaged in trading of
electronic products.

FEBENHEDEEBEERMARA
B0 R AR REERMTERBRA
As%RAETER MEHLSEZEN
BRR FENFEEEFEM°
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B %5 ¥R 3R B 5

10

136

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment test for goodwill

Goodwill is not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. The
Group combined the operation of the two entities as one and
therefore, management considered these two entities as one
cash generating unit ("“CGU"). The recoverable amounts of
the CGU are determined based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a five-year period

E (H‘E)

[k FeAER Uk

mEHARE  EASFETHENR
NEESHLRENB RN EETRAED
HRRER AN HETERENRER
o K%l%mﬁ;%z%%ﬁﬁ%—’
At EBEEIRZEMBER A —E
ReELtBU(REELEMN) - RE
EEBUzIWOEENREREES
BrET -FRAENNRBELCEERE#H
RAERLFHRABAZHHAREFLEZRE

which incorporate the following key assumptions. MEREAET HEETINFERSR
2025 2024

e 3 “TTOE

Compound annual growth rate for —EERENESE

the first to fifth year i%i 9.0% 10.0%
Gross margin ESTUES 3.3% 3.3%
Terminal growth rate RIHIg R 3.0% 3.0%
Discount rate ARIR = 13.6% 13.0%

Management determined budgeted revenue growth rate
based on past performance and their expectations for market
development. The discount rates used are pre-tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments. Cash
flows beyond the period covered in approved budgets are
extrapolated using a growth rate that do not exceed the long-
term average growth rate for the businesses in which the CGU
operates.

Based on the discounted cash flow forecast prepared by
management, the directors are of the view that there is no
impairment of goodwill as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

The recoverable amounts of the CGU would still exceed the
remaining carrying amounts if the assumptions were changed as

follows:

- lowering revenue growth rate by 40% of the expected
growth rate;

- lowering gross margin by 30 basis point; or

- raising discount rate by 100 basis point.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

March 2025 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and

11 MEAE

B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

ARNBR _E_HRE=ZRB=+—H2Z=E

BWEBABFENT -

Issued share
capital/paid-up

Group equity

Principal activities and

Name kind of legal entity capital interest place of operation
SRR BB R
By EERERER BRIREBHARE FEORERAES FTEEBEREEHY
2025 2024
—E-HE —TOME
Suga International Limited (i) British Virgin Islands, limited Ordinary shares US$700 100% 100%  Investment holding
liability company
HERYZHE BRAF EIBRT00ET RERR
Suga Electronics (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100%  Trading of electronic products
Limited company in Hong Kong
EEBRAH A& BRAF BEAETT RERBEETER
Suga Electronics Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of electronic products
company HK$4,000,002 in Hong Kong
EEEFERAT &8 BRAF & #/24,000,0027 7 REBEBEETER
Precise Computer Tooling Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Investment holding
Co., Limited company HK$500,000
BIEMHEERAS &8 BRAF & #A500,00057T REZR
On Million Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100% Property holding in Hong Kong
company
ShiaBRAH A& BRAF BEiATT RERFENE
Suga Technology Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100%  Trading of electronic products
company in Hong Kong
EERMERAT BB BRAT BER2ET REBEBETER
Time Lucky Enterprises Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$10 90% 90% Investment holding in Hong
company Kong
BRCZERAH A& BRAF EBRI0ET RERUEREER
Suga Global Innovation Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Design and trading of electronic
company HK$4,000,000 products in Hong Kong
EERKEIMERAT & BRAF E38R%4,000,000% 7T RERRAREEBETFER

EEBRERBRAT 2024/25 F3]
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11 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 11 ME2E (48)
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 ARARZEBE_HRFE=B=+—8B2F
March 2025 are as follows: (Continued) EMBARFBNT : (&)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and

Issued share

capital/paid-up Group equity Principal activities and

Name kind of legal entity capital interest place of operation
AR A B R
hiE ERERER BITRE/BARE FEERMGRIES TEEBREEMI
2025 2024
ZZZRE —E
Suga Technology Hong Kong Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of electronic products
Limited company HK$100,000 in Hong Kong
EERMEBERAH B BRAT £ 1EA%100,0007E 7T REBEEETER
United Fountain Investment Ltd. Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$1 100% 100%  Pet food distribution in Hong
company Kong
ERREFRRA B BRAT ERERIET REBDHENER
Suga Electronics (Dongguan) The PRC, limited liability US$10,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of electronic
Co. Limited (“SEDG") (ii), (x) company products in the PRC
EEETF (R%) BRAA e BRAS 10,000,000 7t RAENEEFER
(MEEBFRZ () K
Long Join (Hong Kong) Electronics  Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100%  Design and trading of electronic
Co., Limited company products in Hong Kong
B (B8 BFERRA B BRAT ERER2ET REBRHREEETER
Nodic-Matsumoto Tooling and The PRC, limited liability US$6,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding in the PRC
Plastic Injection (Huizhou) company
Co., Limited (“Nodic") (iii), (x)
BH-HMARELE (M) e BRAS 6,000,000% 7T RAPEREREER
BIRAE (1) (i)~ (x)
Suga Technology (Dongguan) The PRC, limited liability US$12,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of electronic
Co., Ltd. ("STDG") (iv), (x) company products in the PRC
REMREEFRAE e BRAS 12,000,000 7t RABEEEEFER
(TR 52ETRR1) (v)~ (%)
Happypaw (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd The PRC, limited liability HK$1,000,000 100% 100%  Trading of pet products in the

("HPSZ") (v), (x)
BOBRYER (R BRAR
(TBEOE CRYD 1) ()~ (x)

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 11 KMEBAE (&)
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 KABRIZE_AF=RA=+—HzZ=x
March 2025 are as follows: (Continued) ENBARFEBROT - (8
Place of
incorporation/ Issued share
establishment and capital/paid-up Group equity Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital interest place of operation
AR R B R
&8 ERERER BETRAS/BARE FEERMGRIES TEEBREEMI
2025 2024
—S-HE —TME
Espetsso Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$1 100% 100% Distribution of pet products in
company Hong Kong
B BRAT ERERIET REBDHENER
Chummily International Trading The PRC, limited liability RMB5,000,000 100% 100% Distribution of pet products in
(Guangzhou) Co., Ltd ("CTLGZ")  company the PRC
(vi), )
BNSREREZERAT e BRAS AR 5,000,0007% RAEDHENER
(TEMERD (i)~ (%)
Happypaws International Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$10 100% 100% Distribution of pet products in
company Asia
HOEERERAT B BRAT EER10ET REMNDHENER
Chongmi Investment & The PRC, limited liability RMB20,000,000 90% 90%  Consulting services in the PRC
Consultation (Shenzhen) company
Co., Ltd (The Company’s Chinese
name was formerly known as
REERAREEABRA
&) ("CMIC") (vii), (x)
RERREEABRAT e BRAS AR 20,000,0007T R ERAER RS
@ERERLBRARIEE
RARESLAERAT)
(KRB E]) (i) (0
Suga Smart Tech Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$100 51% 51% Design and trading of electronic
company products in Hong Kong
EEMBKERAT B BRAT EER100ETT REBRHREEETER
Suga Japan Co., Ltd Japan, limited liability company ~ Japanese Yen 2,000,000 100% 100% Design and trading of pet

Suga Japantk &4t

A& BRAR

2,000,000

products in Japan
REFRFAREERNER

EEBEREBRERAT 2024/25 Fi5k 139
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11 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 11 KMEBAE (8
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 ARNBIRZEZHAFE=R=+—Hzx
March 2025 are as follows: (Continued) EZRBATEBOT (8
Place of
incorporation/ Issued share
establishment and capital/paid-up Group equity Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital interest place of operation
AR A B R
hiE ERERER BETRESBARE FEERMGRIER TEEBREEMI
2025 2024
—S-RE —TME
Wepet Technology Ltd Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100%  Trading of pet products
company in Hong Kong
ERRKABRAT B BRAT EER2ET REBEERYER
Dongguan Suga Idea Electronics The PRC, limited liability US$1,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of electronic
Company Limited (“DSIE") company products in the PRC
(viii), (x)
REEESTFERAH HhE BRAS 1,000,000% 7% RABEEEEFER
(TREEEET) (i) ()
Suga International (Vietnam) Vietnam, limited liability US$15,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of electronic

140

Company Limited (“SIVC") (ix)

Notes:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25

company

e BRAR 15,000,000% 75

The shares of Suga International Limited are held directly by the Company.

The shares of the other subsidiaries are held indirectly.

SEDG is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with an
approved period of operation of 20 years until December 2033 under the
PRC law.

Nodic is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC in
September 1990.

STDG is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with an
approved period of operation of 20 years until April 2027 under the PRC

law.

HPSZ is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with an
approved period of operation of 30 years until April 2041 under the PRC

law.

Hat -

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

products in Vietnam

RURLEETER

Suga International LimitedZ AR1D R AN B H #%
B o HAM B AT 2 0 R A QB MR
=

EEEFREARETEEAREPERIZE
SNERE EREZEXRREE—_Z==F
+Z Rk BHR205 -

BEORR—NABRENBERREMIZZIHNE
o

RERAREPEZEEREM L 2INE
¥ EZAEZEXBREE T _tFMA
1k 7 HA205 -

FROE (RIID BRBEPEEREPREMIZE
SNERE EREZEXAREE_ZN—F
MA Lk > 23HA305F -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

12

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

CTLGZ is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with an
approved period of operation of 30 years until December 2045 under the
PRC law.

CMIC is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with an
approved period of operation of 20 years until December 2033 under the
PRC law.

DSIE is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with an
approved period of operation of 20 years until June 2038 under the PRC

law.

SIVC is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Vietnam in April
2020.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time during
the year ended 31 March 2025.

All subsidiaries established in the PRC have financial accounting year end
date on 31 December in accordance with the local statutory requirements,
which is not coterminous with the Group. The consolidated financial
statements of the Group being presented were prepared based on the
management accounts of these subsidiaries for the twelve months ended
31 March 2025 and 2024.

B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

11 MEAaT (48)

k=2

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

(&)

NERBREPEEEEPEMR L ZHNE
JL% EEZEEHREE_SNAE+C
Bk & HA304F -

RAREEARBREAREREMRILZEINE
¥ ERECEERREE _S==61+_
Bk &HA204F -

RREERBETARBTREAREFREMRIZE
IERE EREZEXBHREE_S=\F
RA L 7EA205F

SWVCARZZZZFNBEMmMEMILZINEE
B

RBEZZ_AF=-A=+—HLFEEHRF
B BENBARAETRNERTEERES-

RIFEMER FAERTERILIZMNBARZ
FHESFEFERBART _A=+—H &
FEEZFERTR -FETNAERGEH
?i&i%)’ﬁ%ﬁ*%ﬁﬁ%@ﬁéﬁ%: “hHERZ

“ME=A=+—HLE+ZERZEEKE
?ﬁ o

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND 12 FREE AT 2 B xS B FE Y B =
AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES ATIFRIA

2025 2024

“E"AHEF T4

HKS$'000 HK$'000

FET TABT

Unlisted investments, at cost R EHRE B AT ER - -
Amounts due from associates FE W B = N B Rk B 585 585
EERKERARAR 2024/25F5F 141
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12

142

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND
AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES
(CONTINUED)

The particulars of the Group's principal associates as at 31

March 2025 are as follows:

Particulars of

12 REFEATR Z R R EWEE
YN TAIE ( -\E)

rEEBR_FE_RF=ZRB=+—HZ=E
EHMERATZFBNOT

Country of
incorporation and

Name issued/paid-in capital type of legal entity Equity interest held
SEHR AR 3 B R B
B2y BT/ HERNHE EABRER HEER
2025 2024
ZZZhE —_E-NE
Concept Infinity Limited ("CIL") Ordinary shares Hong Kong, 24.38% 24.38%
HK$8,510,000 (2024: Same) limited liability company
Concept Infinity Limited (M27881% ) £3828,510,0007% 70 EF& ARAT
(C2ZWE:HERE)
Infinity Network Limited ("INL") Ordinary shares British Virgin Islands, 50% 50%
US$50,000 (2024: Same) limited liability company
Infinity Network Limited (TINLJ) Ei8B0%50,000% T RBREUEE BRAF
(CEZWE BR)
Dott Limited ("Dott") (Note (i) Ordinary shares Hong Kong, 33.25% 33.25%
HK$8,507,951 (2024: Same) limited liability company
Dott Limited ("Dott) (#z#()) EiE18,507,9518 7T &8 BRAR
(C2ZME )
Mobilogix, Inc. (“Mobilogix”) (Note (ii)) Ordinary shares The USA, 24.37% 24.37%
US$3,813,337 (2024: Same) limited liability company
Mobilogix, Inc. (TMobilogix1) (#a2()) — Ei#BK3,813,337%TT =@ BERAT
(C2ZWE:HERE)
Note (i):  As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the carrying amount of the interest in Wat) WRIE_AERZEZNE=ZA=+—H"
Dott of HK$2,135,000 was fully impaired. The carrying amount of the R Dottz ## 2 BRE{E2,135,00078 T &
Group's interest in Dott is compared to the recoverable amount, which HURE - AEB M Dotti#E % 2 BRI E E mT Uk
is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Bl EELE oEl&BEAFEREERAA
The provision for impairment is concluded from the assessment of the TEAEERAZREE - REREDIRE
cash flow forecast of Dott, taking into consideration of its forecasted BEELEEDONTBAEERER HH
performance and development by management. HEeERnERAETTHBRMER
Note (ij): During the year ended 31 March 2024, management performed an W) BEZEZNFE=ZA=+—BHLEFE

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25

impairment assessment for its interest in Mobilogix to assess the
remaining carrying amount of the interest in Mobilogix against its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal, and made an impairment of HK$9,748,000 on
its interest in Mobilogix. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the carrying
amount of the interest in Mobilogix was fully impaired.

E?fﬁﬁMobllogle% Lﬁﬂ{éuﬂé’
# A Mobilogix & = & T~ iR T {5 &2 FE Uk
HETHER (FhDsEAERBERAT
BREERNAMEFTHNRSE) ' HEFR
R MobilogixPfrfd 1 & 1F 1 8 59,748,000
TR B _HAERZEIMNF=A=+—
H > i MobilogixFf {d # &1 2 Bk 8 B 3 U
e
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 FeHHE

AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES
(CONTINUED)

There are no other significant contingent liabilities and capital

commitment relating to the Group’s interests in associates as at
31 March 2025 and 2024.

(a) The directors consider none of the associates were

(b)

significant to the Group during the year ended 31 March

2025. Set out below is the Group's share of results of

associates during the years ended 31 March 2025 and

B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

SAT) 2w R U E
/\_JTMIE (ﬁa)

A TECRAFRIEINE=ZA= +—
H o @EEmAEERBEE AR
HMB AN ABERERKIE-

Q) E=Aa NBE_S_H&=A
—+t—BHLEFE #BiEEE Y
KEBMSBE K LUTHIE
E_E_HER_ZEMNE=ZR

2024: —t+t—HEEEAERREMGEM
BENTZEE
2025 2024
—E_ARE —E 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Profit and total comprehensive income for ~FREHREE
the year — net YA 4B RE— 3R - =
Amounts due from associates (b) FEWEEATIFRIA
2025 2024
—E_ARE —E 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
CIL (Note (i) LHEBIE (B5%0)) 575 1,100
INL (Note (ii)) INL (5752 (ii)) 585 585
1,160 1,685
Less: Loss allowances for CIL (Note (i) B BRRE R ERE
(B13EG)) (575) (1,100)
Amounts due from associates, net FE W B = A B FR B BB 585 585

Note (i):

During the year ended 31 March 2025, CIL has repaid

HK$525,000 to the Group. Reversal of impairment loss is
disclosed as part of “net impairment losses on financial assets”,
with the remaining balance of HK$575,000 still fully impaired

as at 31 March 2025. (2024: HK$1,100,000).

Note (ii):

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, amount due from INL was

non-interest bearing, unsecured and repayable on demand.

EEBRERBRAT 2024/25 F3]

MaEG): BE_E_RE-R=-+—HILEE &
A EEHAEREEES25,0008 7T BE
BRI EA TMBEEERERIEFHE]
H—EIHE > HEREE575,0008 T =
—HEZA=+—HNBHEE(CZH
£ 11,100,000 7%) ©

RIBZAFRZFMF=A=+—8H"
FEMINLRRIE A %2 B~ R IR R B B R E
Bo

Bt i)
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13 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY

(A

13 BRENBDZMBEERAER

CATEGORY
Financial Financial
assets assets
at fair at fair value
value through Financial
through other assets at
profit or comprehensive amortised
loss income cost Total
BATE
BATE SEAHAM g
SEABEZ 2EKAZ R A5 ER
MBEE MBEE ZHMBEE =L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FET
Assets BE
As at 31 March 2025 RIEZRF
=A=+—AH
Financial assets at fair value through ~ BAFEZAEMEZEK

other comprehensive income AZHBEE (Hizt14)

(Note 14) - 5,098 - 5,098
Trade receivables FEW B 5 8RT - - 231,999 231,999
Deposits and other receivables Be R EMERGIE - - 15,107 15,107
Financial assets at fair value through B AFEZABZ 2K

profit or loss (Note 17) BE (f1z17) 3 - - 3
Amount due from an associate W —FEH & A B 7B

(Note 12) (ft3£12) - - 585 585
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 18) BRERBELEEY

(t3£18) - - 280,137 280,317
3 5,098 528,008 533,109
As at 31 March 2024 RIZZME
=B=+—H
Financial assets at fair value through ~ BAFEZAEMEER

other comprehensive income AZBBEE Mzt14)

(Note 14) - 6,651 - 6,651
Trade receivables et & 5 8RR - - 263,540 263,540
Deposits and other receivables e REMENTIE - = 36,431 36,431
Financial assets at fair value through B ATELABREZ

profit or loss (Note 17) MEEE (1:217) 52 = = 52
Amount due from an associate FE—BEE A BRIE

(Note 12) (Hizt12) - - 585 585
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 18) BRERBELZEY

(Hrzt18) - - 161,874 161,874
52 6,651 462,430 469,133
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13 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY 13 BHENBRZHMBEERGR
CATEGORY (CONTINUED) (48)
2025 2024
—_ERE —E_F
HK$000 HK$'000
FAT FHET
Liabilities 1=K
Other financial liabilities at amortised cost PR EE AL AN T BR BN
Htt%as
Trade and other payables FE B 2 R
Rl INERE! 247,724 206,379
Bank borrowings (Note 19) RITEE H1aE19) 2,225 40,795
Lease liabilities (Note 7) HEa® Wi7) 3,750 5,359
253,699 252,533

14

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

14

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

BRATECAHMZEEKRAZ
MBEE

INCOME
2025 2024
ZEZhREF M
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FETT
Unlisted equity funds FErmEAEE 5,098 6,651

Movements of the Group’s financial assets at fair value through

FR-FERBRAFTESAEMEZER

other comprehensive income during the year are as follows: AZHBEEZEBNT :
2025 2024
—E_REF ZEINE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHATT FETT
Beginning of the year 4] 6,651 5,479
Addition NE 3,900 1,546
Fair value losses recognised in REMEEB AR Z
other comprehensive income NEEREIE (317) (374)
Disposal HE (5,136) =
End of the year REHL 5,098 6,651
EEEREEERAT 2024/25 F8 145
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14

15

146

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME (CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, Group has sold an
equity fund at consideration of HK$5,136,000. The cumulative
loss of approximately HK$289,000 that was relevant to this
investment was transferred to retained earnings.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group's financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income comprised
non-voting and redeemable shares in the unlisted equity funds.
These equity funds are denominated in US$, with fair values
being determined based on the carrying value of the fund
calculated with reference to the quoted market prices of the
underlying investments.

The fair values of such financial assets are within level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy (Note 3.3).

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress
comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal operating
capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
applicable variable selling expenses.

1 BAFEKAHMEEWAZ

15

MBEE (B

BE_S_RE=-A=+t—RHLEE>
AEBELARB5,136,0008 T HE—18
BAEE HZLERBANRAEFEEY
289,000 8 T EEBEERERF

RIEZHEERZZEZNFEF=R=+—
HrA&EBEZAFERZAEMZEBKA
PHBEEQRFLTRAESERR
O ELRRM ZEREAESUETS
B HATFTENDBRESRERMBKEND
BHREFENECRBDEMET -

ZEUKEEZ AFEBRATERS
R E =4 (F5E3.3) ©

=8
FERMTETBEFERZREEA
AR AR AR HIAS B - Rl m R &
HEmZRABRERME B#5% T Hit
EERTREMEEME REBEERE
NEE)  BREEEERE - FJ#RF
EANBEEFRAEAFEERERTTE
BHEER-

2025 2024

—T-HEF —TNE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHATT TFAT

Raw materials R A7 164,175 236,985
Work-in-progress TR m 45,412 22,200
Finished goods SAY on 17,783 18,849
227,370 278,034

Less: Provision for impairment B E R (5,365) (4,295)
222,005 273,739

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included
in cost of sales amounted to HK$968,097,000 (2024:
HK$970,418,000).

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS,

DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade receivables is expected in one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables and prepayments, deposits and other receivables
are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that
is unconditional unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair value. The Group
holds the trade receivable and deposits and other receivables with
the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. See Note 3.1(iii)(b) for further information about
the Group’s accounting for trade receivables and deposits and
other receivables and a description of the Group’s impairment
policies.

The carrying values of the Group’s trade receivables and
deposits and other receivables approximate their fair values.

(@) Trade receivables

B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

16 FEURE 5 ARFR LA B T8 {9 7R TE « 2

& B H fth FE U 7R IR
REESERAEAREEBRTHE
7 B (AR TS 2 W S ARE o i 78
SR E B IRR A — E R R (— R
BELHBHN OBRE)) W A5
RBEE TR BIEERDEE

EREZERURBARE -2 KE
HERFREBEY T EEEHERESER
RoBRIEBETEIEAMELS D BlER
TEED AEEFERKEZ RN
REMHRE - kEMEBEKRZRENB
HAaWRENRETE2 AILELERUE
BAELARBHER AN E - BRALER
FEWEBEZERURBENRE - EeRH
HMEWRBEZ S sTEENE S ER
H2BEM 3G UK BEBEARER
BEB R -

FEBZRBWEZRMRUKRZEREAM
BWRBEZREERAE AT EESE-

() FEUWE SR

2025 2024

—_E_RE —ETma

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Trade receivables FEW B 5 BR =X 239,365 270,244
Less: Loss allowance o R E (7,366) (6,704)
Trade receivables, net FEUNE Z AR JF5R 231,999 263,540

EERREERERAT 2024/25 £ 147
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16 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

(@) Trade receivables (Continued) (@) FEWEZIR: (@)
AEBERBEE_T_AER_F
THHE=ZRA=+—HLEFEZHHE
EEMRZBREBEUT

16 FEUE BARTRAR FAfTTRIA - 2
&R HthEKRIE ()

The Group recognised loss allowance for financial assets
during the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 are as
follows:

2025 2024
ZEZHE —ETUE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHTT FET
Loss allowance ESEEE
— Trade receivables — U E 2 R (662) (1,198)

R_E_RE=A=+—H EK
B RANBEZHAZRE SN

As at 31 March 2025, the ageing analysis of trade
receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

148

B
2025 2024
—E_RE —Z2AF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFET
0 to 30 days 0&30H 203,778 248,290
31 to 60 days 31E260H 19,669 11,273
61 to 90 days 61%E90H 553 3,628
91 to 180 days 91&180H 8,316 805
Over 180 days 180H L £ 7,049 6,248
239,365 270,244
Less: Loss allowance B ESIE R (7,366) (6,704)
Trade receivables, net FEWE 5 8RR > R 58 231,999 263,540
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16 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS, 16 FEUE ZERFIARKRFA(TTRIE  #%

DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES ERHEMEWRIE (8)
(CONTINUED)
(@) Trade receivables (Continued) (@) FEWEZIR (@)
All trade receivables are either repayable within one year FTBERNEEREN —FRHIZER
or on demand. The Group generally grants credit terms BE-AEER—HKRBEDEERFE T30
of 30 to 60 days to its customers. The Group applies the ZOHEEH - AEEEEEEY
HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit BREENFEIFNBIEHLEFTE
losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for TEHREEBE ZH AN A R
all trade receivables. Movements of loss allowance for BRI EEEEATERABER
trade receivables are as follows: H-RWNEZRMNBEEGEEESW
B
2025 2024
—E-HE —ZTmg
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Beginning of the year REY) 6,704 5,553
Increase in loss allowance EIIEE G 0 662 1,198
Exchange differences PE R ZE%R = (47)
End of the year RER 7,366 6,704
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16 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS, 16 FEUE ZERFIABKRFA(TIRIE %

DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES SR EMEUWTIE (B)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Prepayments, deposits and other (b) FA(IRRIE &R HthFEULER
receivables =]

2025 2024
—E_RE —EOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Amount due from Guangdong Fuchuan EUNERE)IIFIE

(Note) =3 3,033 21,062
Prepayments to vendors BN &EHMIE 11,093 13,851
Prepayments for plant and equipment  FE{J B KR =18 1,354 470
Prepayments for investment properties FE{t1& BY I

(Note) (ig=3) 18,965 -
Other prepayments Hfa =18 3,240 3,445
Rental and other deposits HEREMZE 1,555 1,145
Value added tax receivables & YU B 1R 4,782 2,343
Income tax recoverable IR EIFF1ER 66 1,071
Other receivables Hh g =Is 17,497 19,702
Less: Loss allowance B EBSEEG (6,978) (5,478)

54,607 57,611

Less: Non-current prepayments and B IERBTENRIER
other receivables Hh U ska (23,019) (3,170)
Current portion mENEL 31,588 54,441
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16 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

16 FEULE BARTRLAR FA (T RRIA « 32
&R HtEKRIE (48)

(b) Prepayments, deposits and other (b) FA(IRRIE &R HthFEULER
receivables (Continued) 18 (48)

Note:

Amount due from Guangdong Fuchuan is arisen from the disposal of
interest in a joint venture, Huizhou Jiayifu Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd (“Huizhou lJiayifu”), in September 2022 at a consideration of
RMB45,900,000, payable by Guangdong Fuchuan Investment Co., Ltd
("Guangdong Fuchuan”) in instalments.

In November 2023, the Group received investment properties of
approximately HK$15,759,000 from Guangdong Fuchuan as part
of the consideration. As at 31 March 2024, taking into account the
discounting impact, the outstanding consideration receivable due from
Guangdong Fuchuan amounted to approximately RMB19,502,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$21,062,000), are expected to be
collected by instalments during the year ended 31 March 2025. Pursuant
to the termination agreement, if Guangdong Fuchuan fails to repay the

outstanding balances based on the mutually agreed schedule, the Group BREMER FEEEREREREIEA
has the right to demand Guangdong Fuchuan to settle the receivables by BHEEREME % ZBREZEERE)IZY
transferring Guangdong Fuchuan’s properties at prices equal to 80% of FEDUE RIS

their market value.

On 31 March 2025, Guangdong Fuchuan, Guangdong Fuchuan’s N ZE_HF=BA=+—H ERB/I -ER

shareholders (i.e. Mr. Xu, Mr. Zhuang, Mr. Liu) and Nodic-Matsumoto
(indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into a
debt settlement agreement for the outstanding undiscounted amount
of approximately RMB20,368,000. Pursuant to the debt settlement
agreement, Guangdong Fuchuan shall settle RMB17,560,000 by
transferring 54 residential units owned by Mr. Xu to Nodic-Matsumoto.
The consideration represents approximately 80% of the aggregate fair
market value of the residential units of RMB21,950,000 as at 31 March
2025. As at the same date, the registration of the residential units were
still under process and the transfers of ownership were not yet completed.
The relevant balance of the settlement is reclassified as a prepayment
for investment properties which is included in the non-current assets of
the Group as at 31 March 2025. On 23 May 2025, the ownership of the
residential units were all transferred to the Group.

Pursuant to the debt settlement agreement abovementioned, the
remaining undiscounted balance of approximately RMB2,808,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$3,033,000) shall be settled by 31
December 2025.

Miat -

EWEREIFENHRERSIRESRA
BEREEI)RIEZ_FARBURBARE
#%45,900,000 T HESECEBINEETER M
ERZEARAR ((BNEEE)) WERME

o WMADEA

R_B_=ZFE+—FB AEEEERE/IK
EX#915,759,000 B TNEEYHE  FRRE
W—A - R _T_ME=F=+—0 &t
REREER BRNERS/IZREMK

BL£EHNABAREK19,502,000t (HBE

NS

21,062,000 7T) > BHARREBEEZE S HF=
B=+—BIEEEUDEA N UE - RIFK IE
W& MERE)IRAERBELR R ERBRHE

E)NMIRE BIEFed  fERE Mk E) B
H—iEx (F2EEERE2ENB AT BiEK
HENRBRSIENAR20,368,0007T5] 32

BEHHEENS REEHBHEEWDS

BER=E

BRFTREEAENSABGEEMNEET -
Mz BB AR%17,560,0007T c 2 R 1ES

ZEEEBEUR T _AF=A=+—

=PUN

FTHEREAR21,950,0007T4980% © iR [E
B ZEAEBMANEINERED MHAAE
B R SERR o ZAE EN BRI SR EEE M D48
AENREYMERE S ARERR -2 -8
FE=ZB=+—HWNERBEE-R_B_AEF
EAZ+=ZH FERSATEUNERRE

BT AREME-

RIF EAM AR IR SR T RMIRERBOA
F1%2,808,0007T (1HE72493,033,000% 7T) 8

AT _RE+"A=+—HAIEER.
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16 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS, 16 FEUE ZERFIABKRFA(TIRIE %

DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

(b) Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables (Continued)
The Group’s credit risk management is disclosed in Note
3.1 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group is not aware
of any other credit risk on deposits, value added tax
receivables, income tax recoverable and other receivables
as their counterparties are either banks, government,
corporation or individual with good credit ratings.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at each reporting
date is the fair value of each class of receivables as
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral

&R HthEKRIE ()

(b) FE(IFRIE £ K HthEULER
15 (48)
AEBZEERBEENGRETHE
WMRMIFEI.IIME o

RZEBEZHEFERZZZNE=ZAR
=+ B AEBTFAANRHERE
T FEWIEER TR EFRERIE
REMERRESTAEMEER
B RBRAARZHAHEABIRIT K
RAEBRFEETFRZ AT IE
Ao

RERSEMzZEEEERARS L
MEERKRIEZ AT E-NEEH
IR EARR R R

as security.
17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 17 BMAFELRABEZHBEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2025 2024
ZEZREF “EME
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Listed equity instruments rh#EmETA 3 52
As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s listed equity instruments RIE-_RAFE=ZRA=1+—H &~EEN
represented 245 (2024: 245) common stocks of Boxlight L #@m T B#§Boxlight Corporation
Corporation, a company incorporated in the USA, whose shares (—HREBEZEARINOR E » H g 9
are listed on NASDAQ. FENASDAQ E ™) 92458 (ZZ M4 :
2458%) Ei@MR -
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the fair value of such listed ﬁ\—v THEERZE_NE=ZRA=+—
equity instrument is determined based on its current bid price. LR TRAZATFEDNRER
The fair value is within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy (Note 'E.? HEABET LXFEEBRATERE
3.3). RPN E—4k (F5E3.3) ©
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18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18 RWERRELLXEY
In the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash RizeREREX HERIBEEEY
equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call with BEFERERBTERAER AN=
banks which have a maturity of less than three months. BAAREIH-
2025 2024
S = —EFUE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cash at banks and on hand RITEGERFEERS 280,317 161,874
Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following HERIRSLEEYRUTEEE
currencies:
2025 2024
—E_RE ===
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
HK$ BT 10,073 9,872
us$ ETT 213,696 89,999
RMB (Note (a)) AR (B73t(a) 50,794 59,726
VND (Note (b)) W E (Watom)) 2,198 1,091
Others Hih 3,556 1,186
280,137 161,874
Notes Vg2
(a) The conversion of bank balances and cash of the Group denominated (a) AEBUAREHEZRTEHRARERBS
in RMB into foreign currencies and remittance of RMB funds out of the SN R A\ R S BB AP B > 7B R A BT
PRC are subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control N8 5 2 SN B 1 AR 451 Ko 7R E P PR 61

promulgated by the Mainland Chinese Government.

(b) The conversion of bank balances and cash of the Group denominated in (b) AEBMUHEESEZRTEFREIRERNS
VND into foreign currencies and remittance of VND funds out of Vietnam SN R IS B R 0 B R BT 08
are subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control ZINEEHIIRA K 3R E PR &l

promulgated by the local government in Vietnam.
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19 BANK BORROWINGS 19 SRITEE
2025 2024
ZEZhREF —Z2Tmg
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Non-current JETRED
Long-term bank borrowings RHRITEE 2,225 17,035
Less: current portion of long-term bank B REAIRITEE
borrowings B ENER (2,225) (14,810)
- 2,225
Current mED
Current portion of long-term bank EHIRITEENRENE 2
borrowings 2,225 14,810
Short-term bank borrowings AEHAIRITIEE - 23,760
2,225 38,570
2,225 40,795
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group's bank borrowings RIZEZHEERZZZNF=A=+—
repayable based on the scheduled date are as follows: B A&BEZBEETHHRETEECGE
mF
2025 2024
ZEZRHE —TTE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FET
Within one year —F R 2,225 38,570
Between one and two years —EWE - 2,225
2,225 40,795
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The exposure of the Group's bank borrowings to interest rate
changes as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 is disclosed in Note 3.

The Group has aggregate banking facilities of approximately
HK$768,300,000 (2024: HK$792,790,000) for overdrafts, loans
and trade financing.

Unused facilities at the same date amounted to approximately
HK$760,885,000 (2024: HK$735,816,000), which are secured
by corporate guarantees provided by the Company and certain
of its subsidiaries (2024: Same).

In addition to the above, the Group is required to comply with
certain restrictive financial covenants imposed by the banks.

The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were as

B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

19 RITER (B

R_E_AFR-BIMEZAZ+—
B AEERTESENAEEHA
M H B SE 3P 4 B o

AEBMBEZ BERNAESRERIRTT
5 E48%849768,300,000E T (Z& MM
1 792,790,000 ) ©

REBZABARELNR760,885,000%
7o (ZZF M4 : 735,816,000 7T) * H
ARBEREETHBABREZATE
RIEIEIM (CEZWE AR -

bR LM BN FEBBAETRITHEMZ
ATIRGI MR-

REFAZEBEMNERNT

follows:
2025 2024
—EREF 2T
Bank borrowings RITEE 5.48% 6.14%

As all the bank borrowings were at floating interest rates, the
carrying amounts of the bank borrowings approximate their fair
values and all balances are denominated in HK$.

HREMRTEERFIESE RITE
EREEEARAFERS  MESFER
BB E
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20

156

DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(@) Currentincome tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period in the countries where
the Group generates taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation
is subject to interpretation and considers whether it is
probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment. The Group measures its tax balances either
based on the most likely amount or the expected value,
depending on which method provides a better prediction
of the resolution of the uncertainty.

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.
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20 EIEFRISH
AHRFAEREX RIE RIS AR E
BRRMA RS EREERRERRE
SR IE (TR B E AR KRB ARES
AEGEERESEREM BB
B ) o

(@) EPHARRISIR

BNEAFR S B ST U A EE [ EE £ FE SR
MBAFMEBRRNKRESHARNEE
B EBRM IR ESEESE -
EEENERRNB AP EEMRR
PRBY 1B 7 E HAET i IR R A AR T >
WEBMBEBESEIERIT
BENMGEREE AEBRERA
FEN RN TAHMEESBHRNG
B BEBURN MBS AR BT R
BIRFEEMERIBRIRT

(b) EIEFRISIR
BIEFMBRUEBEEZ HEERE
BzMERAERPHFRRMEK
HEZBAzERZB2HER-R
m o fis EIEFR B A B D DR
BEL AT EFTURR - WHIEL
RS EM P ERBETRS (F
BAFRIN KRARZEE A NER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)
(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the consolidated
income statement, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

20 EEFRIFIR (48)

(b)
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BIEFRTSTR ()
ERFEARRERRSBEUBA
REBEREBRREANBERT B
BHRBIBLERBELE -

e 7 £ B P 22 1) B By &= 2R 55 B Y By
BEAMEERRAEIENRAR
RERBE A EMBINETRE
MAREEENER T K EZAREDIE

ERGANRITREARERESRIE
EEMRBRRBELEREEFRER
—RBHAAR EEREEEHR
BRATHEBE -HERERE G LY
WITRANBE R R P REE RS

HEAREREERGEEERE AR
FMEBEEERRBEERI FTHEH-

BREREMEEWRANERR Ex
FESSRVIE B ABRE SN > BN R AR SE AR
BERGEEWRERAES - RIEER
ToRETRDAREMEEIA
EEREDPRER -
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20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is
as follows:

20 EEFRIFIR (48)

BIERBEEERELERBEEEIAOT:

2025 2024
—ERE = Janl o= 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHATT FAET
Deferred income tax assets: BIEFRISTREE
— Deferred income tax assets to be —E+_ERBKEZ
recovered after more than 12 months RIEFTSMEE (1,327) (997)
Deferred income tax liabilities: EEFRERAE !
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be —Et+_ER%BREERZ
settled after more than 12 months IRIEFTIEINEE 734 1,269

Movements of the net deferred income tax (assets)/liabilities

account are as follows:

BEREIEFSIR (BE)  ARFEZE
BT

2025 2024

—E"ARE k==l A3 =

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET FET

At the beginning of the year REA]) 272 (1,019)
(Credited)/charged to consolidated income RizalzEE GtA) 0k

statement (Note 30) (Kt5#30) (865) 1,260

Exchange differences e = 2R - 31

At the end of the year FREE4K (593) 272

158 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 20 RIEFRISIR (48)
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities RIEFISMEBEERABBRERZEE K
during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting FRRE—REBEAEEIRE 2 &8R) W
of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows: T
Deferred income tax assets — RIEFTIS M B E-
Decelerated tax depreciation Tax losses Others Total
HRRENE HEFR Aty it
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

“ECRE “EZpmE  ZECRE “E-mE ZECREFE CSCpmE 0 ZECRE CECQRE
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn FiEn i FiEn TEL FiEn Tin

As at 1 April REA-A (396) (509) (134) (134) (467) (670) (997) (1313)
(Credited)/charged to consolidated income R ARER
statement ((TA) /B (13) 8) - = (317) 203 (330) 285
Exchange differences EREE - 31 - - - - - 31
As at 31 March R=B=+-H (409) (396) (134) (134) (784) (467) (1,327) (997)
Deferred income tax liabilities — EEFTISIH B E-
Temporary
Accelerated differences arising
tax depreciation from properties Total
MR EITE BYMEELEZORES Mt
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

CECHEFE “ENF ZBDRF —ToNE ZEZHE SN
HK$'000 HK$'000 ~ HK$'000 HK$'000 ~ HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET FERT FET FERT FET

As at 1 April REA—H 327 294 942 - 1,269 294
Charged/(credited) to consolidated 4 & Uiz &k~

income statement FA) 139 33 (674) 942 (535) 975
As at 31 March K=ZA=+—H 466 327 268 942 734 1,269
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20

160

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has unrecognised tax losses
of HK$86,219,000 (2024: HK$76,015,000) for Hong Kong
profits tax purposes, which have no expiry, and unrecognised
tax losses of HK$35,609,000 (2024: HK$44,283,000) for the
PRC corporate income tax purposes which will expire during
year 2025 to year 2029 (2024: year 2024 to year 2028). No
deferred tax assets have been recognised for these tax losses
as the directors consider that it is not probable that the related
temporary difference will be reversed in the foreseeable future.

According to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Rule (“EIT") law,
withholding income tax at a rate of 10% would be imposed on
dividends relating to profits earned from year 2008 onwards
to foreign investors for the companies established in the PRC.
Such dividend tax rate may be further reduced by applicable
tax treaties or arrangement. According to the Arrangement
between the PRC and the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and the
Prevention of Fisca Evasion with Respect to Taxes on Income,
the withholding tax rate on dividends paid by a PRC resident
enterprise to a Hong Kong resident enterprise is further reduced
to 5% if the Hong Kong resident enterprise holds at least 25%
equity interests in the PRC resident enterprise.

As at 31 March 2025, deferred income tax liabilities of
HK$6,290,000 (2024: HK$5,585,000) has not been recognised
for the withholding tax and other taxes that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries as the
Company controls the dividend policies of these subsidiaries
and it is not probable that these subsidiaries would distribute
earnings in the foreseeable future. Unremitted earnings
totalled HK$125,806,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$111,699,000).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that

have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from

suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as current

liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the

normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are

presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value

and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

(@) Trade and other payables

B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

21 BB BIRMEHMERIA

REaEHaR

RN ESERAEAREEEBRETHH’
REBESRNRE 2 HEE - NA
R—ERUR (N REEELBBHR
MBE)) > R E P ERR A
REGSEARDEM T BIIEFE
RBEE-

FE (3 B 59 BE 20 % L0 B 9 BRIB 4D 5 U
TERR HEF AEER R R BB
R o

(@) FEfTE 7R R E (3R

15

2025 2024
—EREF —ZTmg
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Trade payables e B 5 BR™R 226,724 188,729
Salaries and staff welfare payable etk ETRA 18,574 21,530
Accrued expenses FESTE R 8,256 5,427
Others HAth 12,744 12,223

Total trade and other payables FE B Z R R HE A
P& TRIHARER 266,298 227,909
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21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

(a)

21 BB BIRMEHMELRIA

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) REHER/ @
Trade and other payables (Continued) () EFHEZRMKRHEMBECSR
15 (48)
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice FENBZEMZEZHR KRR D
date is as follows: WmaF
2025 2024
“EREF —E:Tmag
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
0 to 30 days 0F30H 174,228 168,966
31 to 60 days 31&260H 5,459 8,622
61 to 90 days 61290H 8,251 1,071
91 to 180 days 91&180H 17,359 4,043
Over 180 days 1800 U k= 21,427 6,027
226,724 188,729

(b)

162

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

The fair values of the Group’s trade and other payables
approximate their carrying values.

Contract liabilities

The contract liabilities represent the advance payments
received from counterparties for goods that have not yet
been transferred to customers. The Group has recognised
the following liabilities related to contracts with
customers:

AEBBENE S RN KREME R

GHRR
SHaEEREAERTERNE
MERSHF IR B RE o &
EEERIUTRAERENEMZ
E1E

(b)

2025 2024

ZEZREF —ETmE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Contract liabilities — sales of goods &N EE—IHEEY 6,364 8,479
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Contract liabilities (Continued)

The following table shows the amount of revenue
recognised in the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024
relating to carried-forward contract liabilities:

B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

21 FE(IE5ARR R H [ RIE

E&HaR (8)

(b) &HIRR (@&
TERNBE_S_EER_F
TMEZAE+-BLEERES
BB TR DB W 28

2025 2024
—E_RE —EOF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Revenue recognised that was included 5t A E#] &4 E B R
in the contract liabilities balance Syl &
at the beginning of the year 8,479 18,727

The Group expects their performance obligations under
the contracts with customers to be satisfied over a period
of no more than 1 year.

22 SHARE CAPITAL
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

FERRRARENERGNETH
BHEERNABE1ENHBR
FERY ©

22 g7
BEERDBEAED FETHRABIE
ERBGEZEEM A RKRERR
oy AR AP S RIER D °

Number of Nominal
shares value
K& m{E
‘000 HK$'000
T TFET
Authorised — ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each EE-SREEIETLY
=HER 2,000,000 200,000
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22 SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 22 Rg7s (48)
Number of Nominal
shares value
RHEE HfE
‘000 HK$'000
T8 FHET
Issued and fully paid - ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each E#ETRHE-ESREE
0.18 Tz BER
As at 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 and RIZZNFE=FA=+—H"
31 March 2025 _7_@$@ﬁ Hx
“ECRF=A=+—H 284,790 28,479

23 SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “New
Share Option Scheme”) on 10 August 2022. Pursuant to an
ordinary resolution passed on 10 August 2022, the Company’s
share option scheme adopted on 6 August 2012 (the “Old
Share Option Scheme”) was terminated and ceased to have
any further effect except that the Old Share Option Scheme
will remain in force to the extent necessary to give effect to
the exercise of the options granted thereunder prior to the
termination thereof. Pursuant to the New Share Option Scheme,
the Company may grant share options to certain grantees
(including directors and employees) of the Group to subscribe
for shares of the Company. The maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under this Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes adopted by the
Group shall not exceed 30 per cent of the share capital of the
Company in issue from time to time. The subscription price will
be determined by the directors, and will not be less than the
highest of the nominal value of the shares, the closing price of
the shares quoted on the Stock Exchange on the trading day of
granting the options and the average of the closing prices of
the shares quoted on the Stock Exchange for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of granting the options.
No share option was granted under the New Share Option
Scheme and the Old Share Option Scheme during the current
year.
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23 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED) 23 HERgtE (48)
Movements in the number of share options outstanding under FREBRESIETHRITERERE
the Old Share Option Scheme during the year are as follows: FEZEEHWT
2025 2024
—TCEF —EBCmE
Average Average
exercise price exercise price
in HK$ Number of in HK$ Number of
per share options per share options
sRZz¥H ST P AT
BITITEE BRkEHE BITITEE BREHE
‘000 ‘000
T )
Beginning of the year R 1.81 1,000 2.035 5,100
Expired S 1.81 (1,000) 2.09 (4,100)
End of the year RER - 1,000
As at 31 March 2024, all of the outstanding options were fully RIBZNME=ZRA=+—H fA#HX
vested and exercisable. THEZEBREERMBE KA T
No share options were exercised during the year ended 31 BE_ZE_AFERZENEZ=ZA
March 2025 and 2024. —+—HLEFE BEBRECSETE-
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23 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED) 23 gl (&)
Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the REKKRTEBREZINAERITEE
following expiry dates and exercise prices: wr
Number of options Vested percentages
fEREHE FEBAL
Exercise
Expiry date price 2025 2024 2025 2024
HEE fiEfE  ZTZRE _—TmE  ZEZRE  _TOME
HK$ ‘000 ‘000
BT T T
Employees =]
9 July 2024 “ZTmMEEAAR 1.81 - 1,000 N/A 100%
- 1,000
No share options were granted during the years ended 31 RBEE_ZT_AFA_Z_MNF=AH
March 2025 and 2024. =ST—HUEFETEREDERE
24 RESERVES PLRE -
Financial
assets at
fair value
through other
Share-based Property  comprehensive
Share Capital  compensation revaluation income fair Exchange Other Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve value reserve reserve reserve eamings Total
BATE
TARM
2ERAZ
BRiAfs BEE
RiFEE EXGE BHGE MEEGEE  ATEHRS ERGHRE R REEF &3t
(Note)
(&)

HK§'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HK§000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
TERL TEL TR TETL TEL TEL TR TEL TEL

Asat 1 April 2023 RIBEZ=EMF—H 90,714 10,591 840 6,790 52 (16,881) (3,499 685,531 774,138
Exchange differences arising on translation S BN ERFELE L

of foreign operations ERZH - - - - - (21,990) - - (21,990)
Fair value losses on equity investments BRATEZALM2ERA

at fair value through other ZREREZATEER

comprehensive income - - - - (374) - - - (374)
Transfer of reserve upon expiry of options ~ BERIESIR B & - - (743) - - - - 743 =
Profit for the year ERiEH - - - - - - - 32,059 32,059
Dividends paid BRRE - - - - - - - (31,327) (31,327)
As at 31 March 2024 RZE-mE=A=+-H 90,714 10,591 97 6,790 (322) (38,871) (3,499) 687,006 752,506
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RESERVES (CONTINUED) 2L {Ffl (48
Financial
assets at
fair value
through other
Share-based Property comprehensive
Share Capital compensation  revaluation  income fair Exchange Other Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve  value reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
AT
EAEMRE
WAZEH
A BEATH
i & BnlifE e NRERES e ERkE Eftitite REER @zt
(Note)
Wz
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TER TR Tin TER ThR T Tin TER ThR
Asat 1 April 2024 RZBZMENE-H 90,714 10,591 9 6,790 (322) (38.871) (3.499) 687,006 752,506
Exchange differences arising on translation i EEHERFMELZ
of foreign operations EREE - - - - - (6,234) - - (6,234)
Fair value losses on equity investments BATEZARM2ERAZ
at fair value through other REREZATEER
comprehensive income - - - - (317) - - - (317)

Transfer of loss on disposal of equity BATREBEMRENGHERRE
investments at fair value through other ~ RENBREZTFRERA

comprehensive income to retained earnings - - - - 289 - - (289) -
Transfer of reserve upon expiry of options ~ BREIEREEREE - - (97) - - - - 97 -
Profit for the year Rk - - - - - - - 34,397 34,397
Dividends paid BRkRE - - - - - - - (22,784) (22,784)
A 31 March 2025 #oBTEEZRZ+-8 07 10598 - 6790 (S0 @109 (%) 6am 7SS
Note: byat
The capital reserve of the Group includes the difference between the nominal value FEFEARBORENR ST _FNLAREBLAEERSE
of the ordinary shares issued by the Company and the aggregate amount of the AEBRODTIM|MAABIFETEEREE RN
share capital and share premium of subsidiaries acquired through an exchange of BRABZRAKREN R ERER -

shares pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation in September 2002.
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168

REVENUE

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the sales of goods and services in the ordinary
course of the Group's activities. Revenue is shown net of value-
added tax, returns and discounts and after eliminating sales
within the Group.

The Group manufactures and sells a range of electronic
products, pet food and other pet-related products in the
wholesale market. Sales are recognised when control of the
products have transferred, being when the goods are delivered
to the customers, the customers have full discretion over the
goods and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customers’ acceptance of the goods. Delivery occurs when the
products have been shipped to the specific location, the risks of
obsolescence and loss have been transferred to customers, and
either customers have accepted the products in accordance with
the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or
the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance
have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of the estimated volume discounts
(if any). Accumulated experience is used to estimate and
provide for the discounts, using the expected value method,
and revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly
probable that a significant reversal will not occur. A refund
liability is recognised for expected volume discounts payable
to customers in relation to sales made until the end of the
reporting period. No element of financing is deemed present
as the sales are made with credit terms that are consistent with
market practice. The Group's obligation to provide a refund for
faulty products under the standard warranty terms is recognised
as a provision.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as
this is the point in time that the consideration is unconditional
because only the passage of time is required before the
payment is due.

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25

25 Urzs

WEAEEBAEEBPHEGY AR
HEKRIBUAREBZAFE Wzl
PRIGER - BRERITINIIR LEEHEE
EERABRBRS -

FEENERERETHHERRES

Em BYRBRHEMWEYEEER B
EmpVEfESEEE (MERERNTTE
P ERHERABHNERE BMER
FEEREMERNKRBITEER) -8
BREE - BEEMBRIEEMAERTR
HEHETH EXFRBHEHESHER
Em WEMERCKY REEBER
BEBEERMAEMRENLN T EME
EnREBRRERZRARERZF K
i o

ZEHENKRTHERGORENE
o R MESTEIIN (WA) BER &
ARNBRBENERRBESGEEMG
StREMITN BREEREARERE G
RAETEEEREID -BEERSTHFR
ERAOEREMNEREEENTNE
BREREBEE ARNEEZEFEENTE
THEA BEAFERERR -EAEH
RERBASBREEREHBRRNEE
WHESD SR -

EERERFRMN BRAEBASERMSE
o [EWGRIE S AT S HEED ) RER AL
—REERBEMREL G-



25 REVENUE (CONTINUED)

The Group is principally engaged in the research and
development, manufacture and sales of electronic products,
pet food and other pet-related products. Revenue from sales of

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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25 Wrwm (48)
AEBFENREEFER BYUBRMK
HtBEYEFERMA KRS RNEA
HEXB FARIEMHERZ KA

goods recognised during the year are as follows: wr
2025 2024
—EHRE el 5= 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THT
Sales of goods EYtHERR 1,388,007 1,400,293

Sales of goods are recognised at a point in time.

26 EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses included in cost of sales, distribution and selling
expenses and general and administrative expenses are analysed

EYIHETH N IEE R B R RS

26 BETANNZHZ
BT NS AR A ) 8 R B A L —
BRAHEREMZEEZAFMT :

as follows:
2025 2024
—EHE “BTQF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Cost of inventories (Note 15) FEaE HaE15) 968,097 970,418
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - -BEMREITE
equipment (Note 6) (Htzt6) 30,788 35,302
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 7) {EFREBEEITE (W:27) 4,681 4,480
Operating lease rental for short-term leases fZHATA S 2 &&EHENES
(Note 7) (Hizt7) 891 1,084
Employee benefit expense (including ETHEMBEX (BEEFM)
directors’ emoluments) (Note 33) (H15£33) 242,415 242,502
Auditor’s remuneration Z BB &=
— Audit services — 2 BUARTS 3,340 3,340
— Non-audit services —IERZEAR TS 1,262 1,182
Commission A& 2,277 3,728
Donations B 268 266
Legal and professional fee FEEREEEHER 3,687 2,905
Advertising BE5 6,140 5,217
Repairs and maintenance HERFEE 3,681 4,463
Transportation il 11,169 12,497
Utilities expense NARERE 12,273 12,458
Entertainment FE B 3,362 5,592
Insurance (A 1,391 1,332
Other expenses Hhpsz 58,188 54,571
Total cost of sales, distribution and selling  $8E A DY RIHEE R UK
expenses and general and administrative ~ —fRRITHREIEE H4AL5E
expenses 1,353,910 1,361,337
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27 OTHER INCOME 27 Hfthg A
2025 2024
—E_RE —EOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Government grants (Note) BT # By (1132) 4,245 2,691
Scrap sales BE R 3H & 239 269
Imputed interest income from amount REEWERSIFEZ
due from Guangdong Fuchuan HEEH E WA 979 2,715
Others Hih 2,951 564
8,414 6,239
Note: Dedicated Fund on Branding, Upgrading and Domestic Sales (“BUD Fund") M BEZBR_AF=RB=+—HLFE BUDE
of HK$3,854,000 (2024: Nil) are included in the “government grants” HEE (TBUDEE ) #93,854,0008 T (Z&F
during the year ended 31 March 2025 which do not include unfulfilled ZMF |®) Bt ATBUR#ER > BERAEIER
conditions or other forms of contingency. EREGRAMEANNBEEE
- = A : ]
28 OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS - NET 28 Hfth (§518) Wz — B &R
2025 2024
e 3 —2TAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET
Net foreign currency exchange loss S B B 7 &5 18 (4,454) (3,138)
Net fair value (losses)/gains on financial BANTFELABRZMBEEE
assets at fair value through profit or loss ~ ATA{E (E38) /UKiE 258 (49) 22
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment KREWMEZ ATFE BB Wam
properties (Note 8) (H1&E8) (2,694) 3,768
Gain on lease termination HE& W - 26
Gain on disposals of property, plant and HEYE - BERKXEZWE
equipment (Note 35(b)) (B15£35(b)) 3,255 132
(3,942) 810

170 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

29 FINANCE INCOME/(COSTS) - NET 29 MEUWA (BZA) —F%8

2025 2024
—E_RE —EOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Interest income from: KETHEZEZHEWA !
— bank deposits —iR1TER 6,064 1,688

— overdue interests received —BE R B AT B

from customers 227 596
— others —Efth - 610
Finance income BMEUWA 6,291 2,894

Interest expense on: KETINREZFEHE !
— bank borrowings —iR1TEE (1,557) (6,108)
— lease liabilities —HHEaE (222) (276)
Finance costs B A (1,779) (6,384)
Finance income/(costs) — net REWA S (B —F38 4,512 (3,490)
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30 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

172

(@)

(b)

(c)

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25

Bermuda and British Virgin Islands income
tax

The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until
2035. The Company’s subsidiaries in the British Virgin
Islands are incorporated under the International Business
Acts of the British Virgin Islands and, accordingly, are
exempted from the British Virgin Islands income taxes

Hong Kong profits tax

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group
is eligible to nominate one Hong Kong incorporated
entity in the Group to be chargeable at the two-tiered
profits tax rates, whereby profits tax will be chargeable
on the first HK$2 million of assessable profits at 8.25%
and assessable profits above this threshold will be subject
to a rate of 16.5%. Hong Kong profits tax for other
Hong Kong incorporated entities in the Group has been
provided for at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits.

PRC corporate income tax

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to
corporate income tax at 25% (2024: 25%) effective
from 1 January 2008. According to a policy promulgated
by the State Tax Bureau of the PRC and effective from
2008 onwards, enterprises engaged in research and
development activities are entitled to claim ranging
from 150% to 175% of the research and development
expenses so incurred in a period as tax deductible
expenses in determining its tax assessable profits for that
period (“Super Deduction”). Certain PRC subsidiaries have
applied such Super Deduction during the year.

30 FRiSHB

(a)

(b)

()
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30 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 30 FriSIRRASZ (4B8)
(d) Vietnam taxation (d) HrEiRE
The subsidiaries established and operated in Vietnam REmRIIREEZWEB A RR
were subject to corporate income tax at a rate of 20% 20% (Z2ZHAF 1 20%) B
(2024: 20%). The Group's subsidiaries incorporated in EEMR AEBRN ML
Vietnam are entitled to tax holiday under which its profits ZHBAEBEREZERME > FIL
would be fully exempted from Vietnam enterprise income A HRMBTRE F—FER
tax ("EIT") for two years starting from its first year of BEEEEERERMNEERIIEME
profitable operations after offsetting prior year tax losses, NEEEREHMNHEELEMRER
followed by 50% reduction in EIT in next four years. (TEEMFHRL)  ERHEBONEF

KR R50%EEFTER

(e) The amount of income tax charged to the (e) BiEZBWmKRINIBRZFREMR
consolidated income statement represents: EERIS :
2025 2024
—ERE —ZTmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET
Current income tax: ZHFREH -
- Hong Kong profits tax —&BFER 4,609 2,423
— Income tax outside Hong Kong —BABLUINTEIR 3,294 1,313
— Over-provision in prior years — BT FEBEEE 102 4,143
Deferred income tax (credit)/charge EIEFTIRM (&%) /X
(Note 20) (#izt20) (865) 1,260
Total income tax expense FriSMi B2 4R %8 7,140 9,139
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30 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 30 FriFHiBISZ (1)

(e) The amount of income tax charged to the
consolidated income statement represents:
(Continued)

The income tax on the Group’s profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the taxation rate in Hong Kong as follows:

(e) BRSWmRINIRZFAER

s (@)

AEERFAERANEN ZSREA
UEBREXABZERETBAMS
B sFBWT -

2025 2024
- “EFEME
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT TFAET
Profit before income tax FRPTSIR AT T 41,444 41,466
Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% 3%216.5% (ZZ "M% : 16.5%)
(2024: 16.5%) MEEE 6,838 6,842
Effect of different income tax rates on BHEBINFEEWARKERE
income arising outside Hong Kong FIEMEz & 32 322
Tax losses not recognised REESIMRIER 18 4,244 4,238
Expenses not deductible for NEJHOF ISR 2 B sz
income tax purpose 1,549 1,716
Income not subject to income tax BABMPTER Z A (2,122) (2,341)
Tax concession and incentives MIBEE R HE (2,957) (4,838)
Over-provision in prior years BEFEEBIERS 102 4,137
Utilisation of previously unrecognised — BB RHERIRIER 18
tax losses (546) (937)
Income tax expense FrEM= 7,140 9,139

There is no tax charge relating to components of other
comprehensive income.
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31 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to owners of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

31 SR

(a)

B
SRERBEA AT ED AR
iR B DL P9 B BT R BRR 2 1
BT RYGE -

2025 2024
e —ZTNE
Profit attributable to owners of the KREVHEE AFELEF
Company (HK$'000) (F#&7m) 34,397 32,059
Weighted average number of ordinary B 2175 @R MNEFHRE
shares in issue ('000) (F52) 284,790 284,790
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) FREKRZBF GB1) 12.08 11.26

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding assuming conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares. The Company has one category of
dilutive potential ordinary shares which is the share
options granted to directors and employees. For the
share options, a calculation is done to determine the
number of shares that could have been acquired at fair
value (determined as the average market price of the
Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to outstanding share options.
The number of shares calculated as above is compared
with the number of shares that would have been issued
assuming the exercise of the share options.

(b)

EEBRERERERAT 2024/25 F3R

g
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BTN S BIRMEF IR BE
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31 EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)
(b) Diluted (Continued)

31 sikEH (B
(b) &7 (8

2025 2024
—EhHE —TTOE
Profit attributable to owners of RABHEE AEEER]
the Company (HK$'000) (FEm) 34,397 32,059
Weighted average number of BETEBARMETDRE
ordinary shares in issue ('000) (F i) 284,790 284,790
Weighted average number of SREERM 2 HiEkmE
ordinary shares for diluted earnings FHERE (TR
per share ('000) 284,790 284,790
Diluted earnings per share (HK cents) ~ SREERF GB1L) 12.08 11.26

32 DIVIDENDS

An interim dividend of HK$11,392,000 (HK4.0 cents per
share) for the period ended 30 September 2024 and a final
dividend of HK$11,392,000 (HK4.0 cents per share) for the
year ended 31 March 2024 were paid during the current year.
A final dividend of HK4.0 cents per share for the year ended 31
March 2025, totalling approximately HK$11,392,000, is to be
proposed at the annual general meeting on 8 August 2025. The
financial statements do not reflect such dividend payable.

32 RE
BHE_Z-_HWENB=+HLHENT
HABE 211,392,000 7T (E#R4.0% 1)
ERBEE_ZS_NE=Z/A=Z+—HILEE
IR EAAR B11,392,000% 7T (B RR4.0%8
i) ERAEERZ-BR S ZHEN
BNANHNKREBFAGE FE2ZEREE
R RFEZR=-t+—HLEEENKH
BESRK4 BN &FH411,392,000%
T ZEMHFRRITERMZENSRE -

2025 2024
—E-RE —E 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interim dividend, paid, of HK4.0 cents BRI ESREERS 0B
(2024: HK4.0 cents) per ordinary share (ZETIMF © 4.0810) 11,392 11,392
Final dividend, paid, of HK4.0 cents BRI S SR EER4.05 1L
(2024: HK4.0 cents) per ordinary share (CE T4 4.0581) 11,392 11,392
22,784 22,784
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33 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTYS)

B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

33 EIRIAS (BREFME)

2025 2024

ZTTHE —TTOE

HK$'000 HK$'000

TFHT TFET

Wages and salaries TEK#HE 208,982 203,990
Bonus fE4T 10,843 15,254
Staff welfare ETEH 6,820 6,794
Reversal of provision for long service payment £ H3AR75 <2 #5580 (500) (430)
Pension costs — defined contribution plans BARERE — TEREREE 16,270 16,894
242,415 242,502

(@) Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year included two (2024: two)
directors whose emoluments are reflected in Note 34. The
emoluments payable to the remaining three (2024: three)
individuals during the year are as follows:

(@) HEBARSHMAL
RAEFE FEETRREHFHA
TOERSG (CEINE W) E
o REZHMS ORI EIARM .
ENENHB=R (CRME !
=8) ATZMemT

2025 2024

—E_RE —ZETmF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FBIT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ ~ ;2B & EYEF 8,150 7,733
Retirement benefits scheme BIREF) ST EIHRR

contributions 116 101

8,266 7,834
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33 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE 33 EIEFMAE (BIEEEME)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (48)
(CONTINUED)
(@) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) Q) EEERSHMAL (&)
The emoluments fell within the following bands: MENFUTEHE

Number of individuals

A
2025 2024
ZEZRE ZETNE
Emolument bands i E
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7c%2,500,0008 7T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,00178 7t 23,000,000 75 1 2
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 75 23,500,000 75 1 -
3 3
(b) Senior management’s emoluments by band (b) HEEBNDPHSREEAS
B &
The senior management's emoluments (excluding the five NEUTHENSHEEAE OF
highest paid individuals) fell within the following bands: BEIELREHIMNAL Z#E
Number of individuals
A
2025 2024
—_BRE —TNE
Emolument bands = E
HK$0 — HK$1,000,000 07752 1,000,0005 70 1 -
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001t %E1,500,00078 7T 1 1
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34 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTOR 34 ERFERiER
(@) Directors and chief executive’s emoluments Q) EFRIFETHASHSE
The emoluments of every director and the chief executive EEERTETHRABZMEEHT]

is set out below: W
Employer's
contribution
to retirement
Salariesand  Share-based Discretionary benefit
Fees allowance compensation bonuses scheme Total
RINER
g HEREE  ROGHEM METL  HEREHR gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER FET FET FHT FAT
For the year ended HE-Z-1E
31 March 2025: =ZA=1+—HLEE:
Executive directors: HniTES:
Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman) (note 1) REZET (&) (Hiz1) - 4,000 - 500 400 4,900
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk, Alfred SRESBT ((THEH)
(Chief Executive Officer) (note 2)  (If522) - 2,730 - 500 137 3,367
Non-executive directors: FufTES!
Mr. Ma Fung On (note 3) EEREYE (H53) 480 = = = = 480
Mr. Lee Kam Hung FRERE 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Luk Wing Ching EXBRE 200 - - - - 200
Independent non-executive B FRTES:
directors:
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven REHEE 210 - - - - 210
Mr. Chan Kit Wang BARELE 240 - - - - 240
Dr. Law Sui Chun (note 5) BIRERL (Ii9) 240 = = - - 240
For the year ended BE-Z-ME
31 March 2024: ZA=t+-HLEE:
Executive directors: HESE:
Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman) (note 1) REZBT (ZE) (1) = 4,385 = 1,200 439 6,024
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk, Alfred RREBT (THAEZ)
(Chief Executive Officer) (note 2) — (Hi#22) - 2,563 - 1,200 128 3,891
Non-executive directors: FHTES !
Mr. Ma Fung On (note 3) BRRAE (153) 1,139 = = 300 39 1478
Mr. Lee Kam Hung FTRELE 200 - - - = 200
Mr. Luk Wing Ching BEXBRE 200 - - - - 200
Independent non-executive BUFQTES:
directors:
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFHERE 270 = = = S 270
Mr. Chan Kit Wang BARLE 240 - - - = 240
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan (note 4) ROWEL (W) 129 - - - - 129
Dr. Law Sui Chun (note 5) BREMST (35) 120 - - - - 120
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥R 3R B 5

34

180

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTOR

(CONTINUED)

(@) Directors and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Note 1:  Relinquish as Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") on 1 July 2023
Note 2:  Appointed as CEO on 1 July 2023.

Note 3:  Redesignated from executive director to non-executive director
on 1 July 2023.

Note 4:  Resigned on 15 October 2023.

Note 5: Appointed on 1 October 2023.

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits
None of the retirement benefits was paid or receivable
by directors during the year (2024: Nil). None of the
termination benefits was paid by or receivable from the
Company, the subsidiary undertaking nor the controlling
shareholders to the directors during the year (2024: Nil).

(c) Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company
does not pay consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services (2024: Nil).

(d) Information about loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors
As at 31 March 2025, there are no loans, quasi-loans
and other dealing arrangements in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and controlled entities
with such directors (2024: Nil).

(e) Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts
No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year
(2024 Nil).
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35 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 35 FaRERERMEE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
(@) Reconciliation of profit for the year to cash
generated from operations as follows:

(@) FRHEMNALEXBREE
REHRMT :

2025 2024
—EhHE —TTOE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Profit for the year FREA 34,304 32,327
Adjustments for: HEE
- Income tax expense —FiEHREX 7,140 9,139
— Finance income —RRE WA (6,291) (2,894)
— Finance cost —RRE R AN 1,779 6,327
— Depreciation of property, —ME- -BERRBEITE
plant and equipment 30,788 35,302
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets —FRAEEERE 4,681 4,480
— Gain on disposals of property, —HEME-BRERRBZ
plant and equipment & (3,255) (132)
— Fair value loss/(gain) on investment —KREYEZNTFE
properties B8 () 2,694 (3,768)
— Gains on lease termination —HEKIEZ WE - (26)
— Net fair value losses/(gains) on — AT EILZABGRZHE
financial assets at fair value BEATERE W)
through profit or loss e 49 (22)
— Net impairment losses on — B ERNERETFER
financial assets 1,637 1,049
— Imputed interest income from —RBEBERERE)IREZ
amount due from Guangdong FEEREWA
Fuchuan (979) (2,715)
72,547 79,067
Changes in working capital: EEESEE .
— Inventories —=F8 52,768 141,998
— Trade receivables, prepayments, — U E SR TR RIE
deposits and other receivables & K H AR IE 32,428 (10,223)
— Trade and other payables and — B B SRR A
contract liabilities RERGHNER 36,123 (31,573)
Cash generated from operations KREXBELEZRE 193,866 179,269
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35 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Proceeds from disposals of property, plant
and equipment comprise:

5 RAaRERERME (B)

(b) HEME -BEKRREZHRE
FIBEIE :

2025 2024
—E-hE —EZN4E
HK$000 HK$'000
FAT FHET
Net book value of property, ME - -BEMREBRETFE
plant and equipment (Note 6) (Ht&te6) 14 18
Gain on disposals of property, HEWZE BB KK
plant and equipment & 3,255 132
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME - BRERKBEZ
plant and equipment P18 3,269 150

(c) Net cash reconciliation for the consolidated
cashflow statement
This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the
movements in net debt for each of the years presented.

() RERERERZFREY
iR
78 805 7S % T 4F 6 T 9
HRPEBEE -

2025 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 280,317 161,874
Bank borrowings RITEE (2,225) (40,795)
Lease liabilities HEERE (3,750) (5,359)
Net cash FIRE 274,342 115,720
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 280,317 161,874
Gross debt — variable interest rates WEF—ZHAEX (2,225) (40,795)
Gross debt — fixed interest rates BEHB-EBEEH=H (3,750) (5,359)
Net cash FIRSE 274,342 115,720
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35 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 35

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(CONTINUED)
(c) Net cash reconciliation for the consolidated

SFeERERERMTE @)

() REREHRERZEFREY

cashflow statement (Continued) iR (48)
Other
assets Liabilities from financing activities
Hitng & REEHNEE
Cash
and Cash Bank Lease
equivalents  Dividends borrowings liabilities Total
ReRHAE
E3kty) (3! RITEE HERE ax
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTET TET TET TET
Net debt as at 1 April 2024 RIBE-MEMB—AKEEYE 161,874 - (40,795) (5359) 115,720
Non cash - dividend declared FRE-BERRE = (22,784) - - (22,784)
Cash flows RERE 123,012 22,784 38,570 1,774 186,140
Acquisition - leases WE-HE - - - (670) (670)
Foreign exchange adjustments SMERE (4,569) - - 505 (4,064)
Net cash as at 31 March 2025 RZEZRE=A=1+—AHK
FRE 280,317 - (2,225) (3,750) 274,342
Net debt as at 1 April 2023 RIS-ZEMA-ANEEE 138225 - (137,260) (1,827) (863)
Non cash - dividend declared FRE-BERKE = (31,327) - - 31,327
Cash flows Reng 25,710 31,327 96,466 2,540 93,389
Acquisition - leases WHE-HE - - - (6,026) (6,026)
Derecognition - leases RIFEI-HE - - - 417 417
Foreign exchange adjustments SMEZRE (2,061) - - (463) (2,524)
Net cash as at 31 March 2024 RIE-ME=B=1+—HNF
B& 161,874 - (40,795) (5,359) 115,720
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36

37

184

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had the following
capital commitments:

36 BERKIE

N _E _AER_S_NMEF=ZA=+—
H>AxEBRE NI ERKIE

2025 2024
—E-RE —EFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FET
Contracted but not provided for: EHESEES -
— Property, plant and equipment —E-HERKE 234 3,754
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 37 EEEKER

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”).
The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution scheme managed by
an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the
Group and its employees makes monthly contributions to the
scheme at 5% to 10% of the employees’ earnings as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. The Group has
no further payment obligations once the contributions have
been paid.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group
contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for its
employees in the PRC. The Group contributes approximately
7% to 12% of the basic salaries of its employees, and has
no further obligations for the actual payment of pensions or
post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions. The
state-sponsored retirement plans are responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to retired employees.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS
(CONTINUED)

For employees in Vietnam, the Group contributes to state-
sponsored employees’ social insurance scheme at 18% of the
basic salaries of the subsidiary’s employees, subject to a cap.
The state-sponsored social insurance scheme is responsible for
the pension obligations payable to retired employees.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the aggregate amount of the
Group's contributions to the aforementioned pension schemes
were approximately HK$16,270,000 (2024: HK$16,894,000).
No forfeited contributions (by employers on behalf of employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in such contribution)
under the MPF scheme is available to reduce the contribution
payable in current year and future years.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 March 2025, 38.62% (2024: 38.62%) of the total
issued shares of the Company is owned by Superior View Inc., a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, and 18.82%
(2024: 18.82%) of the total issued shares of the Company is
owned by Billion Linkage Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands. The ultimate controlling parties of the
Group are Dr. Ng Chi Ho, a director of the Company, and Ms
Lee Wai Fun, wife of Dr. Ng Chi Ho, respectively.

37

38

B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

S RBAEF (&)

MEENEEMS  AEERHEENE
NEEEEAHFEZ18%RAHBERE D)
NEEHLERERETEI MR X LR
RE-BREPNEERRFEEEN
TRHREEZEES-

BHE_ZT_AE-"B=+—HLEE>
NEEE EMBRAE T EEL Z HE4R
RE#9#16,270,0008 0 (ZE Q4
16,894,000/ 7w) - HiMABBEETHIET
BERAWED (HEEAZEEHTTEHUS
BRIREE ZEREEL) ATRAERL A
FERARFEENEMLHER

BEREALRS

A TE_RHE=ZR=Z+—H '&AQTBE
BITIRD4EEEZ38.62% (ZE M4
38.62%) hHERBREZHEEFMM L
Z ‘AT)Superior View Inc.EER > AR
BIESITRINMEEZEZ18.82% (&2 -
F:18.82%) THERBERESF
BBk iL 2 A FBillion Linkage Limited#E
B AEBRKERALTDRAEXAT
BEXLERBTRFTES T (ZEBEE
TZ2ET) e
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38 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38 BREALRS (B
(CONTINUED)
(@) Key management compensation (@) XEEEERM
The aggregate remuneration of key personnel management, TEEEBABZHFNEBEEIES
including amounts paid to the Company's directors and NAERBEERETEREHEEZ
certain of the highest paid employees, as disclosed in Notes IE (R sE33 K344 ) » &5 W
33 and 34, is as follows: S5
2025 2024
el - 3 —ZTTNE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Salaries and other short-term e cEMEBRESET
employee benefits 18,183 19,807
Post-employment benefits B BEN 757 766
18,940 20,573
(b) Year-end balances with related parties (b) BBERAEANLZELLER
2025 2024
—EZhE —EZ4E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Amounts due from associates g NEIE L 585 585
The terms of balances with related parties are disclosed in PIRAE N T AR E RN 5E 1298
Note 12. B
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39 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE 39 AAFIZEEARRRIBES

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY )]
Balance sheet of the Company ERFIZEEEFAR
31 March 31 March
Note 2025 2024
—E-HE “EUE
#zz  =ZB=+—H =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RB AT Z = 68,166 68,166
Deferred tax assets IR IEE E - 16
68,166 68,182
Current assets RENEE
Other receivables H g =IE 161 452
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUL T B A B =18 124,848 145,830
Cash and cash equivalents RERIBEEEY 724 493
125,733 146,775
Total assets BEEH#E 193,899 214,957
Current liabilities mENBaE
Trade and other payables FE(T B 5 IR A R A FE S 7B 2,661 1,826
Total liabilities BBEE 2,661 1,826
Equity Hm
Equity attributable to owners TATEE NEGER
of the Company
Share capital N 28,479 28,479
Other reserves H s (a) 155,586 155,683
Retained earnings RERT (a) 7,173 28,969
Total equity e AR 2E 191,238 213,131
Total equity and liabilities R kEELE%E 193,899 214,957

FARREERBRREN T -0 FXA
“+RBEEFEHE - THTIES

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board
of Directors on 26 June 2025 and was signed on its behalf.

RERZ-
Dr. Ng Chi Ho Dr. Ng Man Cheuk, Alfred
REREL RREEL
Director Director
EF EF
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39 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

Note (a) reserve movement of the Company

39 FATRZEEABRRKHAEE
= (&)

i 5 () s 2 5] fiti ffa 2 Bh

Share-based

Share  Contributed compensation Retained
premium surplus reserve earnings Total
RIA TR
RN E BARER e REBER At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
THT FHET THT THET FHT
As at 1 April 2023 RZZEZ=FNE—H 90,714 64,872 840 6,327 162,753
Profit for the year FEREFH - - - 53,226 53,226
Lapsed share option BAMZ ERE - - (743) 743 -
Dividends paid BAKRE - - - (31,327) (31,327)
As at 31 March 2024 RZE-_ME=RA=+—-H 90,714 64,872 97 28,969 184,652
As at 1 April 2024 RZE2ZMENA—H 90,714 64,872 97 28,969 184,652
Profit for the year FREF - - - 891 891
Lapsed share option BAMZ ERE - - (97) 97 -
Dividends paid BNRS - - - (22,784) (22,784)
As at 31 March 2025 RZE_RE=A=+-H 90,714 64,872 - 7,173 162,759
Note: of=

BABBRISF AR ETIRMG < EE LR
NEEMFEERBEEZZ8-

Contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal amount of
shares issued and the book value of the underlying net assets of subsidiaries

acquired in return.

BREABRE-NAN—FR28% BABRFIDIKT R
R AU TRAFTR > BN A5 B AT 1
NkEELAEEEIRERE; HHEEZTERE
BREEE HEETRARRMDEE B AIE
RETRFEFABRFEIRIKTRIESXFLE DK

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the contributed surplus is
distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition that the Company cannot
declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it
is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due,
or (ii) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of
its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium.

188 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4O EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE
BALANCE SHEET DATE

(a)

In end of March 2025, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to
conditionally acquire all the shares of TxWireless Limited,
an lIreland-incorporated company, for a completion
consideration of approximately €302,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$2,465,000), and an earn-out
consideration representing 3% of the eligible sales over
the next three years following the completion of the
acquisition. The Group fulfilled all the conditions in the
agreement in April 2025 and completed the acquisition.

The Group is in the progress of assessing the financial
impact to the Group’s financial statements as a result of
this acquisition and the above transaction had no financial
impact to the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2025 since the completion of the
transaction was subsequent to the year end.

In 2025, the U.S. government has announced certain
tariffs and relevant new policies affecting various
countries or regions as well as industries, thereby
creating uncertainties to the economic development of
various countries and global trade. Specifically, the U.S.
announced new reciprocal tariffs on all imports into the
United States and made several subsequent modifications
in April 2025. The aforementioned tariff policies have
been rapidly evolving and currently the Group cannot
accurately assess the potential impact of such policies on
the Group’s business.

B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

LO EERAERAMRHEZFR

N _E_RFE=-ZRFR  AEEHEFL
FEZAHNUEBEHE UBKGEWE
TxWireless Limited (—EIRE @M
MIMARE) NEBRMH ERREY
#302,0008k 7T (FHE X 42,465,000%
7o) MU ERBIAEEERRETRER
R=ZFNEERHEEEI% - AERRCZ
E_hAFMABERBERTPNFABEEG
Al 52 A% U o

75 65 B IF 12 5T 1 5% 18 U ¥ AR B B B 75
BERNHBEEE BEHRRZNEXRE
B EARSEBESAE=
B=+—BHBLEFENGEMBERIL &
MG &

by RIZEZHF FEHNEMHET
FEZEHIMEUARESITENRER
FABRAR R EME R AL E
ERAREKEZHRIEEL B
M XER-_Z-_AFMNAE
¥ FT A & O =B RY 7 a BT Y
EEMKR LERFHZEENR
FHRARBRERDE BRIAE
EE L ERTEZEFHREEER
EBNEBEETE-
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41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

190

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

411 Principles of consolidation and equity

accounting

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account
for business combinations. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Acquisition related costs are
expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date.

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25

41 HtBEEEAGHEREE
L1144 E Rt & FA

(a) HMEBLE

MEBAREA~EBERZEF
BERE(BEEBTER) -
EAEREARNE=EASHAE
RRFTRZ A ZO®R HASE

FHRHENBREZEBNEERX
FhIHRE RIAEEESZE
Ro-MBAREEREERE
AEBZAGHAR - WBQ
B EEGELILE BEMFLE
B ARRe

FEBERARBEERESS
T ABR o U8 B /BB 2 B) P8R B
ZHREDDFEREE H®
WELRBEBAMELEER
REEEFRETREZAT
B-FrESREzNEBEEANA
REZHFABZEMEE
BRZAFE - BREHERZ
PR EERH EH G H
By o) BBl 2 PR BB B & R PRY
REERERIAREBII &
WEEAHZAFESE-



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

L1l SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY L1 BHthBESEAGTBEREE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48)
(CONTINUED)
411 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

Ll R e R En A RR (48)

(a) MEBZE ()

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement
are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair
value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in
accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
("HKFRS 9") in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

192

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

411 Principles of consolidation and equity

accounting (Continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net asset acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised
and previously held interest measured is less than
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the consolidated
income statement.

Inter-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted
to conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
income statement, statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and balance
sheet respectively.

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25

41 HiEEEXRGERBE

=)

Ll R REn AR (49)

(a) MEBZE ()

FR@EAE RWEREET
WERIFIEFRIME T S AR
E S A IS B 5 B R A
BomlWEBHNAFERS
B PR UK B8 T 3B Bl B E R E BY
ARFER HERUBED
Re-PREBEMS  NHEE
RE CHERIFERIERRE K
o Rl B m B R AP
WENRBLASDEEFENLQ
TE HEREREGRGWa
RAPFES o

EERRZ EREAFRBER
BZEHRRABREDEY
Mo BRIFR Z IR B IR R BAFR
HENEELRBE RER
BERTEHH ROER I
BRABFE2RZZWMEEMF
HEE U arER &5
BUER

MEBABRNEEREDTH
FERED DRGSR m
" EERAR BEmEHE
REEARERTERIIT



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

41l SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY Ll HMEBEESAEHHRME
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48
(CONTINUED)
411 Principles of consolidation and equity

accounting (Continued)
(b) Associates (b)) BERE

Ll R e R En A RR (48)

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting (see (d) below),
after initially being recognised at cost.

(c) Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost, and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognise the investor's share of the profit or loss
of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group's investments in associates include goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of
the ownership interests in associates, any difference
between the cost of the associates and the Group's
share of the net fair value of associates’ identifiable
assets and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interests in associates are reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.
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41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

194

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

411 Principles of consolidation and equity

accounting (Continued)
(c) Equity method (Continued)

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss
is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
and its share of post-acquisition movements in
other comprehensive income is recognised in
other comprehensive income with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment.
When the Group’s share of losses in associates equal
or exceed its interest in associates, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of associates.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investments in
associates are impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of associates and
its carrying value and recognises the amount in the
consolidated income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group
and its associates are recognised in the Group's
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated
investor's interests in associates. Unrealised losses
are eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

41l SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY Ll HMEBEESAEHHRME
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48
(CONTINUED)
411 Principles of consolidation and equity

Ll R e R En A RR (48)

accounting (Continued)

(c) Equity method (Continued)
Gains and losses on dilution of equity interests
in associates are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 41.4.

412 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

413 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK$, which is the Company's
functional and the Group’s presentation currency.
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B %5 ¥R 3R B 5

L1 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
L1.3Foreign currency translation

(b) Transactions and balances

196

(c)

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement and statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

L1l SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY Ll HthWBEEEXRGHABEHE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48
(CONTINUED)
41.3Foreign currency translation (Continued) L1 35 BE (8
(c) Group companies (Continued) (c) EEETAE (4B)
(i) all resulting currency translation differences (i) FREEEZEKIKEE
are recognised in other comprehensive BRPEMEE R AR
income. o
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the WEBIBRELEZEHER
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets RTEERE HIERIERZ
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated BEERBEER WRESEH
at the closing rate. Currency translation differences ZERMB - RELNEGEE
arising are recognised in other comprehensive REENREME2E WA RNE
income. 5o
414 Impairment of non-financial assets LILIEM B EENRE
Non-financial assets other than goodwill are tested for fMEE LR a e Z B REEZ
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances FREHHELEL AgHEE
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. MohZ e BB EET R E AR o
An impairment loss is recognised immediately as an HEERTEBHEE TWEEEE
expense for the amount by which the asset's carrying BB SR EEIEAMASZ Ik
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable Cl&EABEAFEABHER AR
amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of ZEEEHAEGREBEZRSE B
disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing R E BEEZENAT#IRE
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels MAZRBKEDE (HARLE
for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows TNREMEERNEEMAN CREE
which are largely independent of the cash inflows from HEM ZRERE) cHIRAEZ
other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). BEMNIZIERBEEEN SRS
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered HARBR B LIRE 2T -

an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting period.
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41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

415 Financial assets

198

€))

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income or through profit or loss); and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investment in equity
instruments that is not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income. The Group
reclassifies debt instruments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets
changes.

(b) Recognition and derecognition

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the investments have
expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.
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41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY Ll HithBEEXRGAHEHNE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48)

(CONTINUED)

415 Financial assets (Continued) LISEIEEE (8)
(c) Measurement (c) #HE

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed
in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There are three measurement categories into
which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

° Financial assets at amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly
in profit or loss and presented in “other (losses)/
gains — net” together with foreign exchange
gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented
as separate line item in the consolidated income
statement.
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L1 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
415 Financial assets (Continued)
(c) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

200

Financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income

Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the financial assets,
where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured
at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through other comprehensive income,
except for the recognition of impairment gains
or losses, interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in profit
or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and recognised in
“other (losses)/gains — net”. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in “other (losses)/gains — net” and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in
profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25

loss

Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at fair
value through profit or loss. A gain or loss
on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at fair value through profit or loss
is recognised in profit or loss and presented
net within “other (losses)/gains — net” in the
period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY Ll HithBEEXRGAHEHNE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48)

(CONTINUED)

415 Financial assets (Continued) LISEIEEE (8)
(c) Measurement (Continued) (c) 52 ()

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
transfer of fair value gains and losses to profit or
loss following the derecognition of the investment.
Dividends from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income when
the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in “other
(losses)/gains — net” in the consolidated income
statement as applicable. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are not reported separately from other
changes in fair value.

(d) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables. See Note
3.1(iii)(c) and Note 16 for further details.
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41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

202

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
415 Financial assets (Continued)

(e) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the consolidated balance
sheet where the Group has a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
legally enforceable right must not be contingent
on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or
the counterparty.

41.6 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet
date.

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024/25

41 HiEEEXRGERBE

=)

41.5

41.6

MBRE (8

(e) HHEEZHIR
EAEEA AT TRITHER
PR ERBRE TERR
FEEEFAHAANERHA
EREEaER MHEEN
SETEEES YEESHE
EEBRRELFE EET
PITHRATBURKRENS
ot BB AR ER£HB
RARATDAHFH BN E
BB ENER T RIT

58
EEVNTURFERBFIEERS
PR A HESD o 18 B H 18 UH 3 A A< 7
iR RS MR RS ER
CEEREE HUBKRMEKER
BEBEEGRE W RER -

ERMERAEER DX AR
BRT URILUERHMENTHNE
BhERBEMR B A - EILE
MT ZEBERRELEERIEME
ER -EULEFRBTEZRERE
AIAESDXEHEBMBBERT &
ERBRREAFARDEEZRBHN
TR IR > 35 H AR B R B R
T LU o

BRIEZ S B A AR R RS
FEEEEERES R+ 2@
A SBESEARBER-
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4l SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY L1 HithBEEAEHBRME
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)
417 Borrowing costs

L1768 RZ

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

41.8 Employee benefits

(a) Pension obligations

The Group participates in various defined contribution
pension schemes. A defined contribution plan is a
retirement benefit scheme under which the Group
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to
pay further contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits
relating to employee service in the current and prior
periods.

The schemes are generally funded through
payments to state/trustee-administered funds. The
Group pays contributions to publicly or privately
administered funds on a mandatory, contractual
or voluntary basis. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions have
been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expense when they are due.
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.
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41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
41.8 Employee benefits (Continued)

(a) Pension obligations (Continued)

204

There were no forfeited contributions (by employers
on behalf of employees who leave the scheme
prior to vesting fully in such contributions) to
offset existing contributions under the defined
contribution pension schemes.

(b) Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based
compensation plan, under which the entity receives
services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of
the employee services received in exchange for the
grant of the options is recognised as an expense.
The total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted:

(i)  including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price);

(i) excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets
and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period); and

(iii) including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥R 3R Bd 5

L1l SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY L1 BHthBESEAGTBEREE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48)
(CONTINUED)
41.8 Employee benefits (Continued)
(b) Share-based compensation

L1.8{# S &EF (&)
(b) R {176 (4B)

(Continued)

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number of
options that are expected to vest. The total expense
is recognised over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. In addition, in some
circumstances employees may provide services in
advance of the grant date and therefore the grant
date fair value is estimated for the purposes of
recognising the expense during the period between
service commencement period and grant date.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-market
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision to original estimates, if
any, in the income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited to
share capital (nominal value) and share premium.

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting period
as an increase to investments in subsidiaries
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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L1 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.8 Employee benefits (Continued)

206
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(c) Employee leave entitlements
Employees’ entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
balance sheet date.

Employees’ entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(d) Other benefits

Other directors’ and employees’ obligations are
recorded as a liability and charged to the consolidated
income statement when the Group is contractually
obliged or when there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations is small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4l SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

4110 Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).

4111 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Company's shareholders in case of final dividend and
special dividend, and the Company's directors in case of
interim dividend.

4112 Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received, and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated income statement over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that they
are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are deferred and credited to the profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the
related assets.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFEMBHBE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #F _— L _AF=H=+—HILFEZ

A summary of the consolidated results and of the consolidated assets AHNEBEBETREMBEEZHFEEEURE
and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out A&ZELRBEHEHIINOT :
below:
For the year ended 31 March
BE=BA=1+—HLEE
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
- IEIZfF IZI=f IZINMFE ZEIRF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FAT FAT FET FHET
Consolidated results RE%E
Revenue & 2,101,573 1,855,875 1,443,482 1,400,293 1,388,007
Operating profit R R 102,083 75,933 84,291 44,956 36,932
Profit before income tax BT SR EER 92,004 63,231 70,872 41,466 41,444
Income tax expense PSS (12,388) (6,442) (10,797) (9,139) (7,140)
Profit attributable to the owners of AARER NEG T
the Company 79,274 56,465 59,810 32,059 34,397
As at 31 March
R=B=+—8H
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
“®BC-f BT EBCZHF “EONF PEROREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TAET FAET TET FAET
Consolidated assets and liabilties GABEREE
Property, plant and equipment MERE KRR E 300,910 297,115 246,464 210,559 191,608
Right-of-use assets FREEE 95,941 87,393 80,544 80,079 75,047
Investment properties KEME - - = 19,462 16,768
Intangible assets EBREE - - - - -
Goodwill GRS 3,949 3,949 3,949 3,949 3,949
Interests in associates N A=UN=IPA o 26,338 16,128 = = =
Interest in a joint venture R—EeEtEsER 7,862 7,547 = = =
Deferred income tax assets REFRSREE 1,950 1,066 1,313 997 1,327
Financial assets at fair value through ~ BAFEEZAEMEZE
other comprehensive income WAZHBEE 6,004 5,888 5,479 6,651 5,098
Non-current prepayments, deposit and  JERBBATIE KSR
other receivables HitE IR 8,505 14,959 23,082 3,170 23,019
Current assets MEEE 875,157 899,211 870,399 754,231 766,497
Current liabilities mBEE (519,735)  (500,798)  (408,166)  (288,986)  (292,683)
Net current assets MBEEFE 355,422 398,413 462,233 465,245 473,814
Total assets less current liabilities BEERERRDER 806,881 832,458 823,064 790,112 790,630
Long term borrowings REPBE = (21,250) (17,035) (2,225) =
Lease liabilities - long term HEEE-RH (4,430) (1,161) (1,335) (3,582) (1,891)
Deferred income tax liabilities RILFIERas (283) (88) (294) (1,269) (734)
Total equity R 802,168 809,959 804,400 783,036 788,005
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